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>>Committee commenced at 8:58

Chairman (Mr. Main): I’ll now call the
meeting to order. (interpretation) Good
morning. Mr. Quassa, can you say the
opening prayer, please.

>>Prayer

Chairman (interpretation): Mr. Quassa,
thank you. Good morning, my colleagues and
guests. Welcome to the Chamber.

(interpretation ends) Before we begin, on
behalf of the Members of the Legislative
Assembly, I would like to extend our deepest
condolences to the family, friends, and
constituents of our late Speaker, the Hon. Joe
Enook, who represented the constituency of
Tununiq which included the community of
Pond Inlet. (interpretation) We have you in
our thoughts.

(interpretation ends) I would like to welcome
everyone present to this meeting of the
Legislative Assembly’s Standing Committee
on Government Operations and Public
Accounts.

I would first like to introduce my standing
committee colleagues:
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e Simeon Mikkungwak, Member for Baker
Lake;

¢ Allan Rumbolt, Member for Hudson Bay;

e Tony Akoak, (interpretation) Member for
Gjoa Haven;

e Pat Angnakak, Member for Iqaluit-
Niaqunnguu;

e Joelie Kaernerk, Member for Amittuq;

e Pauloosie Keyootak, Member for
Uqqummiut;

e Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member for
Iqaluit-Manirajak;

e Paul Quassa, Member for Aggu;

e (Cathy Towtongie, (interpretation ends)
Member for Rankin Inlet North-
Chesterfield Inlet;

¢ Emiliano Qirngnuq, Member for Netsilik;
and

e Margaret Nakashuk, Member for
Pangnirtung.

The terms of reference for this Standing
Committee include the mandate to review the
reports of the independent officers of the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut, including
those of the Representative for Children and
Youth.

The responsibilities of the Representative for
Children and Youth are prescribed by
territorial legislation, the Representative for
Children and Youth Act, which was passed
on September 17, 2013 by the Third
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut.

Ms. Sherry McNeil-Mulak was appointed as
Nunavut’s Representative for Children and
Youth on June 2, 2014 and she assumed her
duties on June 16, 2014. Her office officially
opened on September 30, 2015. Ms. McNeil-
Mulak’s term expires in June of this year.

Today we are meeting on the occasion of our
Standing Committee’s televised hearing on
the annual reports of Nunavut’s
Representative for Children and Youth for
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the fiscal years 2015-16, 2016-17, and 2017-
18.

The Office of the Representative for Children
and Youth has a number of statutorily
prescribed areas of responsibility relating to
the rights and interests of children and youth,
including advocacy, advice, and assistance
regarding government services for children
and youth, providing advice and
recommendations to government
departments and designated authorities, as
well as the administration of the office.

The representative’s annual reports have
identified a number of key government
departments with which her office works on
a regular basis. We are therefore very pleased
to also welcome witnesses from the
Government of Nunavut departments of
Family Services, Health, Education, and
Justice.

Following these hearings and in keeping with
parliamentary practice, the Standing
Committee anticipates reporting its findings
and recommendations to the Legislative
Assembly during the upcoming spring
sitting.

I would also like to take this opportunity to
note that while subsection 40(1) of the
Representative for Children and Youth Act
does provide that the Legislative Assembly
or one of its committees shall review the
provisions of the Act and its operations, that
is not our objective today. That review will
be conducted in the future as determined by
the Legislative Assembly as a whole. The
Office of the Representative for Children and
Youth will be involved in that process at the
appropriate time.

I would like to conclude by addressing some
housekeeping matters.
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This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on local community cable stations
and direct-to-home satellite service.
Transcripts of the hearing will be posted on
the Legislative Assembly’s website.

For the benefit of our recording system, I ask
witnesses to always go through the Chair
when responding to Members’ questions and
interventions and to wait until [ invite you to
speak before activating your microphone.
You will want to watch for the little red light
before you begin speaking. I like to remind
myself of that.

Members of the Standing Committee have
been provided with a number of documents
for their ease of reference during this
hearing. For the benefit of our witnesses and
interpreters, I ask Members to be precise
when quoting from or making reference to
these documents.

As a reminder, I ask that all Members,
witnesses, and visitors place their cellphones
and other electronic devices on silent mode.

With that, [ will again welcome today’s
witnesses to this hearing and would ask the
Representative for Children and Youth to
introduce her staff and then proceed with her
opening comments to be followed by the
opening comments from departmental
witnesses. (interpretation) Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Please proceed.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and good morning. Joining me
today are Lynn Matte, Director of Child and
Youth Advocacy Services, and David
Korgak, one of our office’s child and youth
advocacy specialists and a recent graduate of
the Government of Nunavut’s Sivuliqtiksat
Internship Program.

I would also like to acknowledge the officials
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from the four main child and youth serving
departments that our office works with on a
regular basis: the Department of Family
Services, the Department of Health, the
Department of Education, and the
Department of Justice. I was pleased to
recently learn that the Standing Committee
requested your presence and participation in
today’s proceedings. Welcome.

As you are aware, | was last called to appear
before Standing Committee in September
2016. Since then our office has continued to
expand the supports that we provide to young
Nunavummiut and their families. [ am
pleased to be here today to discuss our
office’s 2015-16, 2016-17, and 2017-18
annual reports.

As my term draws to an end in June 2019,
preparing for today’s appearance has
afforded me an opportunity to pause and
reflect on the last five years. During that time
I have had the privilege of being part of the
office’s creation and evolution; leading the
transformation of an empty office space into
a welcoming and inclusive space where a
fully staffed and highly trained team of
advocacy professionals provide young
Nunavummiut and their families with rights-
based advocacy support when government
systems fail to meet their needs. Our work is
never to replace that of the Government of
Nunavut but rather to ensure that GN’s
services, programs, policies and legislation
affecting children and youth are working to
support the rights and best interests of young
Nunavummiut.

Over these years we have seen the percentage
of Inuit working in our organization
gradually increase from 38 percent to 50
percent. Our organization’s goal is to reach
63 percent Inuit employment in the
upcoming years and to ultimately create a
workforce that is representative of the
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population we serve. As an organization, we
have also made a significant investment in
building the language capacity of our staff by
encouraging and supporting nine Inuktut
language training requests for both Inuit and
non-Inuit staff. We look forward to
continuing to support our staff as they
advance their language skills over the
upcoming years.

From the beginning, our office has been
guided in its work by the Representative for
Children and Youth Act, an Act that has been
praised by UNICEF Canada as a model piece
of legislation for jurisdictions in Canada and
worldwide, namely, for its incorporation of
Inuit societal values and because of the
breadth of its scope and mandate. We have
also been guided daily in our work by the
voice of young people, Inuit societal values,
the Convention on the Rights of the Child,
national advocacy standards, and our office’s
elder advisors: Meeka Arnakaq from
Pangnirtung, Lucy Makkigak from Rankin
Inlet, Regilee Ootook from Pond Inlet, Helen
Iguptak from Rankin Inlet, and the late
Bessie Sitatak from Kugluktuk.

From the onset, our office adopted a very
deliberate phased-in approach to realizing
our full mandate. In keeping with that
approach, to date we have launched the
individual advocacy program, the systemic
advocacy program, and the communications
and public awareness component of our
office. The final piece for the office to bring
into force is reviews of critical injuries and
deaths.

Individual advocacy is when our office
works one on one or on behalf of a child or
youth when they encounter difficulties with
Government of Nunavut programs and
services.
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Our individual advocacy work is led by an
all-Inuit team of advocacy professionals:
three child and youth advocacy specialists
and an intake specialist. Over the course of
the past several years we have seen this team
of advocacy professionals make a significant
investment in this program area and as a
result, many young Nunavummiut have
received the supports they need and have a
right to. Today I would like to share some
examples of our team’s work with you:

e Ensuring a child received the behavioural
supports they needed so that they could
succeed at home, at school, and in their
community;

e Connecting a young parent to legal aid
services and accompanying them to
meetings to ensure they understood
options available to them when seeking

child support payments for their own
child;

e Ensuring a child received an appropriate
foster care placement, one that was not
only safe but would allow them to thrive;

e (Coaching a young person to self-
advocate and assisting the young person
to speak up about an issue of importance
in their own community;

e Ensuring that a young person, who was
experiencing suicidal ideation, was
connected to appropriate mental health
supports and that the family had relevant
information and supports as well;

e Identifying a lost dental referral and
ensuring the referral was reactivated and
the young person received the dental care
they required;

e Ensuring proper interpretation of a
probation order, which resulted in a
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youth being able to regain meaningful
employment in their community.

Mr. Chairman, by the end of the 2017-18
fiscal year our team had opened a total of 200
individual advocacy cases, 50 information
files, and determined that an additional 10
issues brought to the attention of our office
were out of scope. Of the 200 individual
advocacy cases opened, 151 were closed by
the end of 2017-18. From these cases, several
themes have emerged. First, as noted in our
last three annual reports, year after year the
largest number of issues brought to our
attention pertains to the Department of
Family Services, specifically child
protection. A significant number of issues
raised in this area are connected to
recommendations that were provided to this
government by the Auditor General of
Canada in his office’s 2011 and 2014 reports
on child and family services.

Through our work on these cases, we have
grown extremely concerned about the
weakness of the current system to support
vulnerable children and families in need of
protection and care. There is a notable lack of
investment in the area of family supports and
prevention-based initiatives. From where we
sit, the resources allocated to this division of
this department only allow for fires to be
managed rather than prevented. Operating in
this manner significantly diminishes a
family’s chance for healthy and safe family
reunification. In a territory that places such
high value on family and relationships, this is
a very sad reality.

The second theme I would like to highlight is
the significant lack of coordination among
GN service providers that exists. This often
translates into a sense of professional
isolation and frustration for government
employees, and a lack of high-quality holistic
care for young people. Our office has raised
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this concern to the attention of the GN since
opening, yet we have seen little to no
progress made in this area despite repeatedly
walking GN departments through disturbing,
real case examples where a lack of service
coordination has led to very negative
outcomes for the young person involved.

Third, through our individual advocacy
work, it has been hard not to take notice of
the impact that high staff turnover and an
overreliance on a transient workforce is
having on young Nunavummiut and their
families. It is negatively impacting trust,
hope, and the consistency and quality of care
they receive.

Lastly, throughout the course of our work, all
too often we witness the views of young
people not being sought or considered. I want
to use this opportunity today to once again
remind government that as per Article 12 of
the United Nations Convention on the Rights
of the Child, young people have the right to
have their views not only heard but also
considered in all matters that affect their
lives. I also want to clearly state that there is
no magic age when this must occur, which is
also a misconception we often hear. When
delivering services and conducting business
that will impact young people, government
must seek out their views, regardless of their
age, and grant due consideration to those

views based on the evolving capacity of the
child.

Another area of our work that I would like to
highlight is systemic advocacy. Systemic
issues are issues that affect many children or
youth and often happen when government
policies or services aren’t working as
intended, have a good chance of reoccurring
if not addressed, and may require
government to change its policies, practices,
or laws.
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Our office currently has two staff responsible
for systemic advocacy and as of the end of
March 2017-18 this team recorded 162
systemic issues in the systemic database. In
addition to conducting investigations, this
team also monitors media and Legislative
Assembly proceedings, reviews and monitors
relevant public reports, such as the Auditor
General of Canada’s reports to the GN on
child and family services and safety in
schools, and develops submissions on behalf
of our office, such as the office’s
submissions to the Department of Education
with respect to the proposed amendments to
the 2008 Education Act.

Based on our phased-in approach, in the fall
of 2017 we successfully launched our
systemic advocacy program and announced
our first formal systemic investigation into
mental health services for children and youth
in Nunavut. We are pleased to inform the
Committee that the report will be tabled and
publicly released in the spring of 2019.

The third area of our work pertains to raising
Nunavummiut’s awareness of child rights
and our office’s mandate. Over the last
several years our office has been a leader in
starting conversations with Nunavummiut
about child rights and working with young
people to increase their confidence in
exercising their own advocacy skills. Child
rights education is perhaps one of the most
important aspects of our work because an
educated youth who understands their rights
and feels confident to advocate for
themselves and others has the potential to be
a very powerful change agent both for
themselves and their community.

Our public awareness work takes many
forms. It includes presentations and outreach
activities with children, youth, youth-serving
organizations, and government service
providers in communities across Nunavut.
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By May 2017 our office had visited all 25
communities in the territory, visited every
school in these communities, and
immediately started our second round of
community visits. This area of our work also
includes the development of resources, such
as our youth self-advocacy workshop, which
had been delivered to 503 youth in seven
communities across the territory by the end
of 2017-18, as well as the development of a
child rights book, Mosesie Speaks Up, and
educator extension activities, which are now
in every school across the territory. Our
public awareness works also includes our
annual “Your Story, Your Voice” contest
which aims to promote child rights and the
role of our office.

Lastly, our office also has the ability to
investigate when a child or youth receiving
government services experiences a serious
injury or dies through our reviews of critical
injuries and deaths program. Such reviews
will provide opportunities to understand what
went wrong and to initiate changes to prevent
similar events in the future.

Over the last two years significant
development work has occurred in this
program area. However, much work still
remains. Our ability to meet our goal to start
this important work in 2020-21 is contingent
upon additional resources being dedicated to
our office. To date our office has put forward
two requests for additional resources to
support this and other areas of our work, and
we still await the decision on these requests.

Mr. Chairman, our work and
accomplishments over the past several years
have been built on a foundation which has
allowed us to evolve as planned and to focus
our time and energy on the needs of young
Nunavummiut in this territory. Over the past
several years we have had the honour of
working with hundreds of young people and
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their families from across the territory. It is
important for us today to acknowledge them
and recognize the courage they have
demonstrated to us by reaching out to us,
seeking support, and trusting us with their
intimate life stories. We look forward to
continuing to empower young people and
their families and providing them with the
best advocacy supports possible in the years
to come.

Mr. Chairman and Committee Members,
although we are a relatively new, small team,
we arrive here today with much to discuss
and report. We welcome the Committee’s
questions and we also look forward to the
Committee’s feedback following today’s
appearance. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. As
she has made her opening comments, we will
proceed to the departments. (interpretation
ends) For each of the departments, if you can
just please introduce yourself and then
proceed to your opening comments. We will
begin with the Department of Family
Services.

Ms. Niego: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I'm
Yvonne Niego, Deputy Minister for Family
Services, and with me here today is Joanne
Henderson.

(interpretation) I would like to begin by
thanking the Members of the Standing
Committee on Oversight of Government
Operations and Public Accounts for inviting
the Department of Family Services to appear
before you today. I am pleased to provide
information on the department’s involvement
with the Representative for Children and
Youth’s Office and our ongoing activities
related to supporting children and families.

(interpretation ends) Appearing with me
today is Joanne Henderson-White, Director
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of Children and Family Services.

Since its opening in September 2015, the
Department of Family Services and the
Representative of Children and Youth’s
Office have worked closely together on many
individual cases involving children and
youth. As noted in the annual reports of the
representative’s office, Family Services is
one of the departments that have the highest
involvement in the representative’s office’s
individual advocacy cases and systemic
cases. This involvement is not surprising
given the mandate of Family Services, which
is to support children, youth, and families.

Given the department’s significant
interaction with the representative’s office,
the department and the representative have
worked diligently to streamline
communications between frontline workers
to facilitate effective advocacy on behalf of
children and youth in Nunavut.

Indeed at times the department has faced
challenges interacting with the
representative’s office in terms of
information sharing, misunderstanding
respective role and mandates, and interaction
between frontline departmental and
representative staff. However, the department
has made concerted efforts to address these
challenges.

In June 2017 the department finalized
guidelines intended to streamline processes
around information requests from the
representative’s office and to outline the
steps departmental staff must take when they
receive a request from the representative’s
office. The department saw an improvement
in its ability to respond more expediently to
the representative’s office requests as a
result.

Part of these guidelines includes a courtesy
notification system; a simple but effective
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way to facilitate information sharing between
departmental and representative’s staff. This
system also allows for a central monitoring
function, allowing the department to have a
better understanding of what types of files
the representative is involved in, the
advocacy challenges, and the systemic issues
that children, youth, and families face in the
territory.

Additionally, in March 2018 the Department
of Family Services and the representative’s
office signed a protocol to promote and
support meaningful and effective advocacy
on behalf of children and youth in Nunavut.
The purpose of the protocol is to ensure a
clear and mutual understanding of the
respective roles and mandate of Family
Services and the representative’s office to
help both organizations achieve the best
possible results for Nunavut’s children and
youth.

Since its opening, the department has met
with the representative on many occasions to
share information and updates concerning the
safety, well-being and best interests of
children, youth, and families. These meetings
also serve as opportunities for dialogue about
program, policy and service delivery issues.
The department will continue to share
information during these meetings and work
actively to address challenges or issues raised
by the representative. In addition to these
meetings, the representative’s office has
provided information to the department’s
frontline staff during presentations, training,
and workshops to strengthen working
relationships and clarify the pieces of
legislation that mandate both the work of the
representative’s office and the department.

Family Services’ involvement with the
representative’s office is primarily through
the Child and Family Services Act, which
governs the department’s roles and
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responsibilities in ensuring the protection of
children and youth. As noted in the
representative’s annual reports, the majority
of cases involving the Department of Family
Services are related to child protection
matters.

Under the Act, there are two main types of
child protection services: service agreements
and court orders. The majority of service
agreements are utilized when there are no
significant protection concerns, but youth or
family would benefit from receiving
additional supports. These agreements
provide opportunities for families to work
collaboratively with the department before
court involvement is warranted.

One type of agreement is a plan of care
agreement. A plan of care is a written
agreement between the parent(s) and the
department that outlines a case plan for the
child and family to ensure the child’s
protection and well-being. A plan of care
agreement can be used when there are
immediate child protection concerns in the
home. However, it is an alternative to court,
which means the child or youth can often
remain within the family while the family
works to resolve the concerns.

Court orders are utilized when a child is
deemed to require protection. They are put in
place when serious child protection concerns
exist and involve conditions the family and
the department must follow to ensure the
child is safe.

Where possible, the department will utilize
service agreements and plan of care
agreements with families first before moving
towards more intrusive measures, such as
court orders.

Through the provision of these child
protection services, the department works to
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uphold the child or youth’s best interests.
Part of this includes ensuring a child or youth
can remain within his or her family, extended
family, and community. The department
looks forward to ongoing engagement with
the representative’s office in the delivery of
child protection services to ensure the
interests and voices of children and youth are
considered and respected.

Since its opening, the department has shared
information with the representative’s office
concerning its progress on addressing the
Office of the Auditor General’s
recommendations from its 2014 Follow-up
Report on Child and Family Services in
Nunavut. The department tabled its final
update of the Quality Protects Action Plan in
August 2017. The Quality Protects Action
Plan was developed to respond to the six
recommendations made by the Auditor
General related to staff recruitment and
retention, training, case management and
information management, and community
engagement.

Although the final update was tabled in
August 2017, the Auditor General’s
recommendations have shaped and will
continue to inform the long-term priorities of
the department. For example, the department
is working to strengthen its recruitment and
retention efforts for community social
services workers to ensure all communities in
Nunavut have adequate and consistent
service provision. Part of this includes
exploring strategies to recruit more Inuit
community social services workers to ensure
we can deliver services that are reflective of
the Inuit language, history, and culture.

In addition to this, I am pleased to update the
Standing Committee on the department’s
progress towards implementing its electronic
case management system for the Children
and Family Services Division. The system
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will enable secure documentation of client
information, which will be accessible
throughout Nunavut. The system will
increase oversight in the delivery of child
protection services and support our frontline
staff. I am pleased to report that on April 2
the department initiated the global testing
phase of the system. This phase is meant to
help staff become familiar with the system
while noting any issues or improvements that
need to be made before the final product is
produced.

I am confident that the system will further
facilitate information sharing between the
department and the representative’s office
and strengthen the department’s ability to
deliver consistent and adequate services
across the territory.

The department is working to address other
challenges raised by the representative’s
office, including ensuring consistent service
delivery in every region, increasing
prevention-based supports for families and
foster families, and strengthening service
coordination across Government of Nunavut
departments. I am pleased to report on
initiatives the department has and will
continue to undertake to address some of
these challenges.

To recruit and retain more community social
services workers, the department created an
open job advertisement, which will allow the
department to accept and screen candidates
for employment continually. I am confident
that this process will address vacancy
challenges in the territory and support
communities with higher caseloads to ensure
families receive adequate and consistent
support.

Mr. Chairman, as noted in the “Advocate’s
Applause” section of the 2016-17 annual
report of the representative’s office, the
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department funded the delivery of four
sessions of the Inunnguiniq Parenting
Facilitator Training program. This was the
first time the program was offered in all
Nunavut regions, providing training to more
than 50 Nunavummiut. The department
continues to fund Inunnguiniq/parenting
initiatives in Nunavut and work with
community-based organizations and Inuit
organizations to deliver this programming.

Furthermore, in the 2018-19 fiscal year the
department was successful in obtaining
$415,000 to strengthen the foster care
program, to establish three foster program
coordinators and strengthen training and
resources for foster families. I am confident
this funding will recruit and retain more
foster families across the territory, which will
assist departmental efforts to keep children
and youth within their communities when
possible.

In addition to this, my department was
successful in obtaining funding to support an
initiative to address family violence that
facilitates service coordination across
Government of Nunavut departments and
other service providers. My department is
initiating work on this and will be consulting
with relevant stakeholders over the 2019-
2020 fiscal year to explore this initiative
further and develop a plan to implement.
This initiative will work to support high-risk
families, those most vulnerable to family
violence.

Mr. Chairman, the representative’s office is
well suited as a child advocacy office to
support the Government of Nunavut’s efforts
to raise awareness around the systemic
challenges facing children, youth, and
families in Nunavut. The social inequity in
the territory, including poverty, food
insecurity, and overcrowding, continue to be
main factors driving children into care. In
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addition to this, a lack of social infrastructure
such as residential care means children and
youth with high needs are sent out of
territory to ensure they have access to the
services and care they require. Raising
awareness around these systemic challenges
takes a concerted effort from all of us to
enact meaningful and long-lasting change.

We will continue to work closely with the
representative’s office on individual
advocacy cases and engage with them on the
broader systemic challenges facing children,
youth, and families in Nunavut.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
comments. [ would be pleased to answer
questions that Members may have.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
We’re still on the opening comments. Before
the Department of Health makes their
presentation, I welcome you to Nunavut and
to the Chamber. It’s our first time seeing the
representative from the Department of
Health. (interpretation ends) Please proceed,
introduce yourself and proceed to your
opening comments. (interpretation) Thank
you.

Ms. Brown: Thank you. Good morning, Mr.
Chairman and Members. I am Ruby Brown,
the Deputy Minister for Health.

I am pleased to be here today before the
Standing Committee on Oversight of
Government Operations and Public
Accounts. I would like to thank you for the
opportunity to respond to the observations
contained in the Representative for Children
and Youth Office’s annual reports and to
provide information on the Department of
Health’s work and involvement with the
office.
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With me today from the Department of
Health are Kim Masson, Associate Deputy
Minister, Quality of Life, and Charleen
Austin, Assistant Deputy Minister for
Operations.

I also want to take this opportunity to thank
the Representative for Children and Youth
Office for sharing their findings and
recommendations and for the work they
undertake to ensure that the rights of young
Nunavummiut are protected and respected.
We take their work, recommendations, and
concerns seriously, and we recognize the
efforts that have to be made by all
stakeholders, including the Department of
Health, to address the issues identified in the
reports.

The Department of Health values the
relationship it has with the representative’s
office since its creation in 2015 and we
appreciate the ongoing dialogue. We work
closely with the office and we meet regularly
to discuss the ongoing issues and systemic
issues of concern, as well as individual cases.
This ongoing dialogue is important for real
improvement in the provision of adequate
services and programs that meet the needs of
the young people in Nunavut. It is also in line
with the protocol that was signed between
the representative’s office and Health in
2018. In addition to providing a framework
for collaboration, cooperation, and
communication, the purpose of this protocol
is to ensure that both organizations achieve
the best possible results for Nunavut’s
children and youth and that the services they
deliver incorporate their rights, voice, and
interests in the decision-making processes.

Additionally, a guideline was developed to
provide health staff and service providers
with a process of due diligence to address
requests received by the Representative for
Children and Youth Office. Since December

CRFDNNYS G*o<bsa >N nrbd o P
LK, Cbdd TovCP>< D*L*LC Ab<seN*L
ADSPNRY S L5 K N Mo <
D*L*LC AbsseN™L <I>c <N .oC.

Lo AdSbSoeo SdYNELNeoHd Coa PLL®DAN
ARP5.0C Lbd*D 0. Cbd<d Sb>psbeCse/Lyar
ArsebP*a GrPe <Dcsdy*Ne <t
AcnN<®ZLo*L CLedd A<*a>N*NC

0Q DD [6dDC N>LL>Sde5Ne

AFLPY NS0 .

Cedd Acnd*NC IDcsdy*M=5 AFLOPY e
APAPSLLAPLENJS <> AcSn/LeHdo Cbdd
A SbCPIcLe Doy ne A
deodbSa NI nAPd® ¢ CLbd<

QO AYPCHILIC AXLPYDRC Dabb Mo,

4o <5bS@ MO APdE AcnSbNSbSaa®
PLLSIAN>S NNGSA Lo N®ePC>c >N 5
2015-T <tLo> SdYMRDC CLa b/*a Dl
D>bSbNMbCCSa2C. A SbNPCN<SheCH<LDC
NNSSA*L <L SbdNede bNsbNN<RL 5J 5
D>b>YSbNN5d CLbdd AFLOPYD>NC L
A0IY0¢ AcnsbN*Ne. C*a. PSbsbNNegse
ALLADYMLE ADYREcSd Hd DA PNC>T™L
ANMNGSTE Acn<d5 Cbd<d LbdbDo¢
002D ot ID®CHNIP*a Sd HNC Lo
acdN/LAMLE. CA%a <D< P>eDse
ANcDC>Ho Cod<d PLLIANM>< NNGSA™L
Jeo b M nredS AN BeCHL
2018-TSbbbeo<U=y bopb Aoy g*la®
AcnSbNP*adS Ab<dsbNgbdC
DNDLSbNM*aed 5 Coa ARNMLLY

Jsopo AL ed< Cod<] CLST® NIT>C
ALALP*Q Sd DN ADa<L KePCNY>q Sd= 5T
0a. 2 AP/S0C LbdPD 05 Ly ANSo™L
NePL®NCP> o AccDaPLo<C

A DN o oA ot CRa
JPoIRE<a5IC¢ IDeC>RbCCS HT.

<LLobbo, I AAR LYo NP N PS>
oo b =MD nrede AStba AYeNMNC
ARCNS®N*M>5 CL*a AcA®ar*aSd ofc
Codd De/SDYSDILNC NUYDILNC PLLPIANT
APPS 0 Ld*D 0% 5 NNGSA*LECE, NI<R

21




2017 the Department of Health’s Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy Office
is the initial contact for the Representative
for Children and Youth Office to send their
information requests. The information and
protection of privacy coordinator in Health is
in charge of connecting the children and
youth office with the health staff who are
best suited to provide the requested
information. This central monitoring function
helps information sharing between health
staff and the office and helps to keep track of
the information exchanges between the two
organizations. This process also includes an
update notification system that informs
Health of the status of the requests from the
children and youth office. It also sends case
closure letters notifying Health of the
completion of advocacy issue reviews that
involved the department. It should be noted
that all cases referenced in the three annual
reports before the Committee have been
addressed and that there are no outstanding
cases.

Despite our efforts, some barriers remain for
youth and children and their families in
accessing health services. In that regard, we
want to acknowledge the need and
importance of ongoing, better coordination
between government departments. It is
essential to work together to reduce the
duplication of efforts by multiple service
providers with shared clients, to offer more
timely access to services as well as better
support for the best interests of children and
youth. Health recognizes the importance of
working together toward the common goal
that is respecting and advancing the rights of
children and youth.

In its 2017-18 report the representative for
the office also identifies the lack of child and
youth-centric services as one of consistent
and concerning themes. Mr. Chairman, we
want to reassure the office and the
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Committee that Health strives to provide
services and programming that are tailored to
child and youth-specific needs. By way of
examples, children and youth can access
psychiatric assessments through the
department’s contract with the SickKids
hospital. The department offers youth-
specific programs and services, such as the
elders and teens sewing group in Rankin
Inlet, the youth empowerment afterschool
program in Cambridge Bay, youth
empowerment camps in Iqaluit, Arviat, and
Naujaat, and the youth celebration camp in
Coral Harbour, just to name a few.

As of April 1, 2017, all 25 Nunavut
communities have a community wellness
plan that has been developed by each
community based on identified health
priorities. Communities are encouraged to
work with a number of different community
stakeholders and partners in the development
and renewal of their plans, including having
representation from youth. Some
communities consulted with youth at school
and during the evening programs. Others had
a representative from the youth committee as
part of the consultation and development
process. Each community wellness plan has
at least one program dedicated to youth or a
program where youth are integrated.
Examples of youth programs include Arctic
Bay’s Girls’ and Boys’ Cultural Program,
Kimmirut’s elders and youth programs, and
Whale Cove’s Leadership on the Land
Program. Furthermore, school food
programs, which work to address food
security in Nunavut, are identified as a
priority program by communities and are
included in each community wellness plan.

Mr. Chairman and Members, thank you for
this opportunity to highlight the relationship
between the Government of Nunavut and the
office and the work that the Department of
Health is doing to better meet the needs of
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youth and children. Health is committed to
ensuring that young Nunavummiut have age-
appropriate services that meet their needs.
We look forward to continuing to build a
good and lasting relationship with the
Representative for Children and Youth
Office to support children and youth and
their families.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
comments. | welcome questions and
comments from Members. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Again, welcome to
Nunavut and to the Assembly. I anticipate
you will be spending some amount of time in
this Chamber.

(interpretation) We will proceed to the next
department. Department of Education, Ms.
Flaherty, you can now begin.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Good
morning. Mr. Chairman, before I begin with
the Department of Education’s opening
statement, I would like to introduce Assistant
Deputy Minister Tracey MacMillan, who is
to my left, who is accompanying me today. I
would also like to thank the Standing
Committee for its invitation to speak today.
Thank you.

Every child, from the first day they enter
daycare to the day they graduate from high
school as young adults, is directly impacted
by the programs, resources, and services the
Department of Education provides.
Following the principle of Pijitsirnig, my
department’s primary mandate is offering
quality education to the Nunavut children
and youth.

Mr. Chairman, as part of this mandate, we
not only teach youth foundational skills in
subjects such as literacy, mathematics, and
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science, but also give a wide range of
programs and services that encourages and
supports the principle of Inuuqatigiitsiarniq,
such as developing healthy relationships,
self-reliance, and respect for themselves and
others. These programs and services
empower young people, leading them
towards the ability to make productive
decisions for themselves and their
communities.

Offering Nunavut’s children and youth
programs and services that develop resiliency
and well-being, as well as providing them
with the necessary skills needed for a
fulfilling future is also reflected in the
Inuusivut and the Sivummuagpalliajjutivut
priorities stated in the Government of
Nunavut’s mandate, Turaagtavut.

The Representative for Children and Youth
Office also works to provide youth with
similar tools of empowerment. As an
independent office devoted to ensuring the
rights of young Nunavummiut are respected,
they have a mandate to advocate for young
people’s rights but also to inform children,
youth, and those who work with them about
these rights. The Representative for Children
and Youth Office lets our children know
their rights and encourages self-expression
on choices and decisions affecting them. As
you can see, our mandates greatly overlap.

Mr. Chairman, because of our shared
responsibility to children and youth, we have
worked closely with the Representative for
Children and Youth Office on many
programs and services that promote their
communications and awareness campaigns,
in addition to their advocacy work, both at
the individual and system-wide levels.

From my department’s perspective, our
intersecting and shared mandates have
developed into an open and collaborative
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relationship. Reading the three years of
annual reports by the Representative for
Children and Youth Office has illuminated
for us the areas of this relationship that are
working well and has also helped us
understand which areas need improvement.

One of the ways my department has worked
to strengthen our relationship with the
Representative for Children and Youth
Office was developing and signing a formal
protocol to handle the Representative for
Children and Youth Office’s information
requests and ensure that representatives from
my department and the office meet twice a
year. This protocol was finalized in April
2018, providing a framework for
collaboration, cooperation, and
communication in the implementation of the
Representative for Children and Youth Act. It
makes sure the Representative for Children
and Youth Office is able to operate
effectively in areas that overlap with my
department so the best possible results for
Nunavut’s children and youth are achieved.

Another way my department collaborates
with the Representative for Children and
Youth Office is ensuring students and
educators are made aware of child and youth
rights. Whenever representatives of the
Representative for Children and Youth
Office are in a community, school visits are
scheduled. The Representative for Children
and Youth Office has conducted its “Raise
Your Voice: Self-Advocacy” workshop for
students in grades 7 to 12, educating them
about their rights and instilling confidence
with self-advocacy skills.

Another Representative for Children and
Youth Office campaign is the “Your Story,
Your Voice” contest, intended to create
awareness of child rights. The Representative
for Children and Youth Office has also been
invited to facilitate sessions on child
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advocacy and rights at the North and Central
Qikigtani Regional Teachers’ Conference
and the Nunavut Principals’ Conference.

The Representative for Children and Youth
Office’s report praised several of my
department’s initiatives. For instance, one of
them was for our continuing efforts to
develop the Uqalimaariugsaniq reading
series, a comprehensive Inuktut guided
reading program that was developed in
Nunavut. At present this series has over 500
Inuktitut books and over 250 in Inuinnaqtun.
These books have helped instil a sense of
pride and self-awareness in students about
their culture and language.

In addition, during 2016-17 the department
approached the Representative for Children
and Youth Office and asked if they would
like to create a book for the
Ugalimaariugsaniq series at no cost to them.
What came from this invitation to collaborate
was the book titled Mosesie Speaks Up. It is
intended for grade 3 students and aims to
increase the reader’s self-awareness,
encourage healthy coping strategies, promote
positive relationships, and demonstrate the
importance of effective communication.
Mosesie Speaks Up was available in all
Nunavut schools in Inuktitut and English as
of March 2019.

Mr. Chairman, making children and youth
aware of their rights is so important. Child
rights are the essential things all children are
entitled to because they can help children live
a thriving life with dignity. That being said,
my department understands it is not always
easy for a young person or a concerned
parent or guardian to express his or her views
to government service providers.

The history of residential school,
intergenerational trauma, and distrust of
government can make it difficult for families
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to engage with not only our department but
also other government departments. The lack
of coordination of services between
government departments, as noted in the
2017-18 Representative for Children and
Youth Office’s report, does not help this. For
this reason, it is important that my
department continues working to improve
interdepartmental and interagency
communications and long-term planning, but
also work hard at reducing any barriers, real
and perceived, to needed services and
programs.

One of the ways my department is acting on
improving these areas are by participating in
several interdepartmental and interagency
working groups, committees and programs
that support children and youth. Currently
education staff participate on the working
group for the creation of the Umingmak
Centre, a child advocacy centre; the Pediatric
Complex and Chronic Care Committee,
alongside the Department of Health; the
Child Abuse Response Protocol Roundtable
with the Department of Family Services; the
annual youth conferences co-developed with
the Red Cross in which the Representative
for Children and Youth Office has facilitated
self-advocacy workshops; and finally, with
the Quality of Life Secretariat to support
schools and communities following a critical
incident.

Mr. Chairman, self-advocacy is also where
the Representative for Children and Youth
Office’s role is so important. Representative
for Children and Youth Office staff can
coach an individual in self-advocacy so that
he or she feels more empowered to express
his or her views. There is nothing more
powerful than when a young person
understands their rights and harnesses that
knowledge to advocate for themselves.

With our ongoing proactive meetings and
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collaborations, I am happy to say my
department is continuing to build and
maintain the positive working relationship
we have with the Representative for Children
and Youth Office. I look forward to both of
us achieving the best possible services and
programming for Nunavut’s children and
youth so that they feel safe, heard, and
empowered. (interpretation ends)
Qujannamiik, koana, thank you, ammalu
nakurmiik.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. The
last presenter is the Department of Justice.
Ms. Strickland, you may now begin.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) First of
all, I would like to extend my condolences to
the Members on the recent passing of your
colleague and friend, and also I would like to
extend my condolences to the families and
friends and the community of Pond Inlet.

(interpretation) Mr. Chairman, I appear
before the Committee and my name is Riita
Strickland, Deputy Minister, and I’'m also
here with Glen House, Manager of the
Isumagsunngittukkuvik Youth Facility.

Mr. Chairman, I appear before the
Committee on Oversight of Government
Operations and Public Accounts to discuss
the Department of Justice’s interactions with
the Office of the Representative for Children
and Youth which are outlined in the
representative’s annual reports.

Since the Representative for Children and
Youth Office started operations on
September 2015, the Department of Justice
has been dedicated to ensuring that it can
give as much support and information to the
office as possible in order for the
representative to fulfil her mandate.
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The Deputy Minister and senior officials
meet quarterly with the representative and
her staff to discuss systemic issues of
concern as well as individual cases. These
meetings have proven to be instrumental in
ensuring that there is regular and clear
communication between our offices.
Additionally, the representative sends
quarterly reports to the Deputy Minister
outlining the advocacy issues that have arisen
during the prescribed period.

Outside of these high-level meetings, the
department and the representative have
worked on specific cases involving children
and youth in which Justice has been
implicated. The vast majority of the cases
that have come to the representative’s office
and that have involved Justice have been
resolved.

Justice has also worked with the
representative on specific issues of concern.
As an example, the department has
undertaken to ensure that all government
officials are aware of the age of consent for
sexual relationships in Nunavut by regularly
distributing a memo that is reviewed by the
representative.

Justice is currently working with the
representative on its systemic review into
mental health services for youth. This report
was commenced in October of 2017 and will
be completed in the coming months.

Justice’s contact with children and youth is
mainly through the Youth Criminal Justice
Act, which governs criminal charges against
children and youth. Section 19 of this
legislation establishes youth justice
committees that assist in the administering of
the Act. The committees facilitate interaction
between the victim and offender, and
recommend appropriate programs/services to
repair harm and to ensure the offender is held
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accountable. Justice often will be involved
with the representative in assisting youth in
preparing for conferences under section 19 of
the Youth Criminal Justice Act.

For those youth sentenced to custody, the
Isumaqsunngittukkuvik Youth Facility in
Iqaluit accepts open custody, secure custody,
and remanded youth. Male and female
offenders from all over Nunavut are
accepted. Any youth with a valid court order
between the ages of 12 and 18 years old will
be accepted into custody. If a person
committed an offence prior to their 18th
birthday, the facility can keep them until the
age of 20, depending on behaviour.

The goal of this facility is the successful
rehabilitation and reintegration of each youth
that enters our facility. This begins from the
first day they are admitted and continues
until their sentence is complete. The
representative is also involved in advocating
for youth in this facility.

Justice also oversees many youth on
community supervision. These youth are not
in custody, but the department is responsible
for ensuring that they comply with conditions
imposed under the Youth Criminal Justice
Act. Recently the department extended
programming available to youth in custody
such as tutoring and counselling to youth
under community sentences. This program
was noted in the “Advocate’s Applause”
section of the 2017-18 Annual Report of the
Office of the Representative for Children and
Youth.

We will continue to work closely with the
representative to ensure that youth in the
criminal justice system and all other children
and youth have access to the supports they
need.

That concludes my opening statement. I
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welcome any questions from the Committee.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Before we proceed, I’ll inform you as
to the procedures.

(interpretation ends) There are a large
number of issues just based on the opening
comments from the departments and
representatives that bring questions to my
mind and I’m sure my colleagues share this
feeling.

That being said, we are here to review the
annual reports of the representative and as
such, we’re planning to structure our
discussions today roughly based on the
format of your annual report. We just have
three, kind of, thematic areas. The first one
will be in terms of general questions about
the office and background type of questions,
and then the second theme where I would
expect the majority of the discussion will
take place will be regarding advocacy
activities and the relationship with
government departments, and then the third
theme to wrap up the day will be in terms of
looking ahead, the future of the office and
lessons learned to date and that type of thing.

We will get a few questions in on the first
theme, but before I do that, I would just like
to remind everybody present that we do have
a limited time. Unfortunately we were
supposed to have a day and a half to do this
work. That has been shortened; we only have
a day. I’'ll ask all members to limit your
preambles and keep your questions short, as
well as witnesses, please keep your answers
as short and to the point as possible.
(interpretation) I hope that makes sense.

The committee can now ask questions. Ms.
Towtongie.
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Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. How different is your office
from the other offices across Canada? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. There are many advocacy offices
very similar in nature to ours across the
country. All jurisdictions have them with the
exception, of course, of Ontario with the
recent change that occurred there and the
Northwest Territories. There are only two
jurisdictions in Canada that do not have
independent advocacy offices. Overall their
mandates are quite similar. They’re
independent in nature and they’re there to
represent and uphold the rights of young
people in their jurisdictions.

The scope of the mandate can differ slightly
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. There is a
little bit of variance, but the overarching
purpose and the independence of the office is
the same across the board. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
One of the questions that I have in my mind;
we come from an ancient culture, and the
prevailing authorities that exist in the Inuit
mind differs from the institutionalized
authorities that are existing or coming into
existence within Nunavut with regard to
child advocacy. The concern that I keep
hearing is children’s rights and the Inuit
society is now turning into a legalistic
society.

My question; a number of other agencies
such as the Arctic Children and Youth
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Foundation also provide advocacy services to
children and youth in Nunavut. [ am
wondering: how does your office’s mandate
compare to the mandate of other non-
government agencies offering services,
especially for Nunavut’s children and youth?

With that in mind, has there been any
consideration with speaking to grandparents’
rights? Inuit culture places a lot of emphasis
on elders and the elders’ traditional
knowledge. That is my final question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I am hearing two questions there.
I am going to start with the first. First of all,
there can never be enough organizations,
whether organizations like ours that report to
the Legislative Assembly or not-for-profit
organizations within this territory advocating
for the rights and interests of young people. |
am a big proponent of “the more the better”
because we have a lot of work to do in that
respect.

If we use the example of the Arctic Children
and Youth Foundation, different mandates
altogether, although based on the premise of
advocating for young people and grounded in
child rights, but they have a very specific
function in terms of the coordination of
services. If we look at the Umingmak Centre,
that project specifically, coordination of
services for young people who have
experienced abuse, so a little bit of a different
mandate and role, but we are all on the same
page with those organizations in terms of
advocating for young people in this territory.

The second part of the question that I would
like address is, and it is a question and a
conversation that we have quite frequently
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with people, so thank you for raising it, with
respect to the concept of child rights in
Nunavut. I would like to share a couple of
things. the concept of child rights is a fairly
new concept, period. The UNCRC came into
existence in 1989, wo we are not dating back
a long time, and Canada signed that in 1991,
a few years later. It is a fairly new concept in
Canada, in Nunavut, around the world, and it
does shift the way we look at young people
and their role in society more as active
participants in their life rather than passive
objects. That is a very positive thing.

When we meet with community members,
with young people, we have very important
conversations around what rights are and
what they are not because there is some fear
that rights mean the child can tell the parent
what to do and kind of take over and those
types of things, those types of concerns.
Rights aren’t about that and so we’re very
clear in our conversations with people that
the rights under the UNCRC are those things
that young people need to meet their basic
needs in life and how government provides
for those. It doesn’t really get involved in the
UNCRC or this concept of rights of a parent
versus a child. It’s not about that. The
UNCRC is actually very supportive of a
family’s role in a child’s life and promotes
that.

Also, when we meet with young people and
we teach them in schools and when we are in
communities about child rights, we also have
that same conversation with them; what
rights are, what it means to have a right, and
what it doesn’t mean. We also have good
conversations about the responsibility that
young people carry when they have rights.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before we go on, I’ll
just remind everyone to please spell out your
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acronyms for the benefit of the interpreters.
It’s something we try to do here in the
House, but it catches all of us sooner or later,
for going forward.

The next name on my list, Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good morning to everyone. This is indeed an
interesting topic to be talking about.

Just to follow up on my colleague’s question,
you were talking about and it was interesting
to hear your definition of what you mean by
child rights when it comes to the UN
convention. In your opening comments you
talk about the rights of the child and that they
have the right to have their views not only
heard but also considered in all matters that
affect their lives. You also said that
government must seek out their views.

Can you give us a good picture of what that
might look like? How should government
reach out to youth and in what way? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for that question. I’'m
happy to have the opportunity to describe
what that looks like.

Right now, if we take a look at the Education
Act, for instance, and the consultations that
took place over the past year with respect to
those, from a child rights perspective and
seeking out the opinions of children and
youth, what we would want to see are
dedicated consultations that are youth
specific in seeking out the viewpoints of
young people involved in the education
system with respect to the proposed
amendments.
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That’s one example on a broader scale with a
big project that’s quite timely and relevant
here in Nunavut. We actually made that
recommendation to the department as soon as
we heard consultations were underway, that
we would like to see youth-specific
consultations occur, which was also a
recommendation in the past by the Standing
Committee to the Department of Education.

With respect to maybe an individual
advocacy case, if a child is taken into care
and there’s going to be a foster placement,
we would like there to be good conversations
between the social worker and the young
person about that placement to explore any
kinship placements that would be maybe
feasible and to explore any concerns maybe
the young person had with respect to maybe
a proposed placement.

Having the opportunity to have
conversations, whether it be really on a
personal level with an individual advocacy
matter or a personal matter or broader scale
projects that are going on in the territory, if it
involves young people, the subject matter,
then it should involve them in the
conversation and that should be considered.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for your response. You gave an
example of a child and where they’re placed
within foster care. Do you feel or does your
office feel that this is not taking place, that
that conversation between the social worker
and the child is not taking place when it
comes to their well-being? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.
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Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I don’t think it would be fair to
say it’s not taking place at all. It’s not taking
place as consistently as it should be and I
think that’s fair to say. I think it’s also fair to
say that there’s confusion not just in the child
protection sector but across the board with
respect to the right that young people have
and what it means and government service
providers’ obligation to uphold that right
through the conduct of their work. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. This is
interesting to me too because I wonder, when
you talk about the rights of children and how
sometimes the departments may not
recognize that in the same way that your
department does. Do you think that if such a
child was going through what you gave as an
example and if it was ever challenged in
court that their rights were not taken into
consideration, what’s the possibility of that
happening, just in your opinion? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I will note that that’s
kind of a hypothetical question, so if we can
ground our questions in material that’s in the
annual report as much as possible, I would
appreciate it. Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you. Itis a
hypothetical and because I don’t have any
individual matters that I can concretely speak
to, to address that, I can’t answer that
question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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In the work that you have done over the three
years, have you had to go to the court to
support a child? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. At times we are involved in court
proceedings. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to ask the different representatives
here today a question. If your department
received advice and recommendations from
the Office of the Representative for Children
and Youth on how to make programs and
services, laws, and policies better for
children and youth in Nunavut, could you
briefly describe what actions were taken to
address advice and the recommendations?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Angnakak, I’1l just
ask you to clarify your question. Are you
asking this of every department here or are
you asking it of a specific department? Please
clarify that, Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. Is it possible to
ask each department to answer that question
or no? I can ask the question individually if
you want. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Okay, if the question is for all
four departments present, I guess we will just
go through them in order. Family Services.

Ms. Niego: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will
defer this to my colleague, Joanne
Henderson.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Henderson.

Ms. Henderson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Any recommendations for improvement and
augmentation in programming that we
receive is considered highly and accepted as
a means of improving and streamlining our
programs and services in the best interest of
children and families within the territory. It is
the same if we receive a recommendation or
feedback from the office of the child and
youth representative. We would do the same.
We would consider them and utilize those
recommendations as a tool to improve our
services for children and families within the
territory, which is under our mandate. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I will move on to the
Department of Health and I’ll just rephrase or
reiterate the question. The question posed
was: has your department received advice or
recommendations from the representative’s
office on how to make programs, services,
laws, and policies better for the children and
youth of Nunavut and, if so, can you briefly
describe what actions were taken to address
the advice or recommendations received?
Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
advice that comes from the representative’s
office is taken very seriously and that is why
there has been a process that has been set up
to make sure that when they bring forward
information for our consideration or for the
involvement, we provide them with the
information that they need to dig deeper and
looking into the matter further.

We have regular meetings with them. They
give us some insights about what they are
seeing and we talk about particular cases that
are being dealt with, and then we take the
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recommendations and develop what we need
to do in order to make improvements. Then
when we meet with the office again, we share
those actions that have been taken.

As I mentioned in my opening remarks, there
are no outstanding cases and for the ones that
have been brought to our attention, we have
acted to address the issues that were brought
forward. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will move on to the
next department. The same question, Ms.
Flaherty.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. My assistant will respond to
the question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) The
Department of Education is committed to
working with the representative’s office. We
collaborate and attend meetings, and specific
examples of a positive outcome as a result of
that has been the creation of the Interagency
Information Sharing Protocol, which goes
directly to support concerns of coordination
of services among our partner departments as
well.

One new program within student
achievement that came into being during the
2017-18 year was the education support
services and that is within the division of
Student Achievement. That area helps to
improve the supports to students to improve
their education experience in our schools and
their specific needs. (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
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well. The last department to respond to the
same question is the Department of Justice.
Ms. Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I also
thank the Member for the question. We
appreciate the recommendations that are
brought forward by the representative’s
office. To speak to a specific
recommendation, to provide an example for
the Member, the representative’s office
recommended for us to make public to all
departments regarding the age of consent for
sexual relationships in Nunavut. In 2018 we
distributed this memo twice and we plan to
distribute the memo twice yearly moving
forward. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): I also thank you.
Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for your responses. I asked that
because in your opening comments of what
you read, you state in here and it really stood
out for me that you have grown extremely
concerned about the weakness of the current
system to support children.

I was trying to get a picture of the working
relationship between your office and the
different offices of the government. When
you provide advice on what should be done
to change policies or programs to make it
better for children, do you feel that you’re
listened to? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I think there exists a healthy
tension between our office and the
government departments. [ think it’s clear
from the opening comments from the
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departments and we would echo that there is
a sound relationship between us in place.
That is because we are led by Inuit societal
values of working together for a common
cause and creating a respectful working
relationship. We know that that needs to be
in place in order for us to advance the issues
that need to be put forward for young people
in this territory. It is a good working
relationship and that’s not by chance; that’s
by design of this office with the investment
that has been made into the protocols that
have been mentioned, I think, by all
departments as well as other work that has
been done.

To answer your question, do we feel like our
advice and recommendations are taken
seriously, absolutely. I can give you some
examples that I would like to share to your
previous question about what
recommendations have been put forward and
kind of the status on those to give a clearer
picture.

For instance, in my opening comments, I said
we opened, up to 2017-18, a running total of
200 individual advocacy cases. By the end of
2017-18, we had closed 151 of those. Of that
151, 122 of those were resolved successfully.
We have different categories when we close
a case. 122 were resolved successfully. What
that means, in order to achieve that, that the
recommendation, at least a minimum of one
per case, was adopted by the department and
satisfied us in order for us to close that case.
That’s one example from the individual
advocacy side.

Although we haven’t issued our 15 formal
recommendations that will be made public
related to mental health services, I indicated
in the opening comments that they will be
released publicly in the spring of 2019. The
departments have been, throughout the
course of that review, that investigation,
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good to deal with in terms of their openness
when we do interviews, in terms of their
openness in producing documents and
information that we have requested, and have
all had an opportunity to review those draft
recommendations and provide their feedback
to us.

The other thing that I think I would like to
highlight is that in my opening comments, |
mentioned that we made two submissions
regarding the Education Act. The first
submission contained four recommendations.
The four recommendations we learned before
the bill was dropped initially, three of the
four were going to be adopted by the
Department of Education. We have since, on
the second consultation, put forward another
eight and we wait to hear, of course, the
status of those.

There are a few examples of kind of advice
and recommendations from individual
advocacy, from systemic that have gone back
and forth and the status of them, but overall
there is a favourable working relationship,
which we work hard of keeping intact given
sometimes there is that healthy tension that
exists between us, and an overall openness
and receptivity to the advice and
recommendations that we put forward to the
departments.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Thank you for your response and for
clarifying that. I know that my colleagues
would really like to start asking questions,
but we will now take a 10-minute break.
Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 10:38 and
resumed at 10:54

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you for
coming back. We’re still on the first thematic
area. (interpretation ends) We’re currently on
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the first kind of thematic area, which is
background or general questions regarding
the office of the representative. The next
name on my list, Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to begin by thanking Ms. McNeil-
Mulak, Ms. Matte, and Mr. Korgak for being
here today. I would like to thank you all for
your hard work and your dedication in
ensuring the rights of young Nunavummiut
are respected. I understand that creating an
office from scratch is no easy task, and I just
wanted to point out that it is evident in the
information in your annual reports that you
have done an exceptional job, and for that I
thank you once again.

As you mentioned in your opening remarks,
your term is coming to an end in June 2019
and you’ve had an opportunity to reflect on
the last five years, so I would like to begin by
asking a few questions on that. My first
questions will be: what did you enjoy most
about your role and what accomplishments
were you most proud of over the last five
years? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. What I have enjoyed the most
over the past five years is meeting young
Nunavummiut, having an opportunity to
create an office, having a hand in that that is
dedicated just for them. It’s a rare
opportunity to get to do this type of work and
to be able to focus on such a subset of our
population.

It’s an important office for Nunavut and to
have that opportunity to get out there, along
with our staff, meet young Nunavummiut,
start the education process around child
rights, the role of our office, start to see those
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calls and contacts from young people coming
into our office as a result, and start to change
the conversations that we have with young
people about rights and start to see them be
more active with respect to using their own
voice, especially through the delivery of our
self-advocacy workshops. That has been a
highlight for me.

We have a long way to go with respect to
that education piece as a territory, but to start
those conversations and be part of that has
been very exciting. Probably one of the most
enjoyable pieces is when our staff gets to
engage with young people of this territory.

The second part of your question, I think,
pertains to accomplishments. I thank you for
the acknowledgement that we developed this
office from scratch. When I walked into the
office on that first day, it was an empty office
suite. I had one piece of paper only in my
hand and it was an important piece of paper.
It was the Representative for Children and
Youth Act, but just to open the office, to take
16 months and to have the opportunity to
hire, to train, to develop policies and
procedures, all of that work, I think that’s
what our whole team is most proud of, that
we had the opportunity to be trailblazers with
respect to rights-based education and having
a rights-based office specifically for young
Nunavummiut.

I think that initial development work and
getting to that day of three and a half years
ago after 16 months of development work,
that we could confidently open this office
and immediately start to work and help
support young Nunavummiut and their
families that were having difficulty is
perhaps the biggest accomplishment, just
getting those doors open in a relatively short
amount of time, despite some big challenges
that we faced in arriving at that day. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for ending off in the challenges.
That leads me into my next question. I would
like to see the folks on the other side of
things, and specifically what were the most
difficult aspects of your role and what sort of
challenges and obstacles did you face in the
last five years. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I think one of the biggest
challenges is just the newness of the office
itself and the newness of introducing that
concept of child rights and some of the
misconceptions that are around it. We had
our work cut out for us with respect to that.
The newness of the office, explaining its role
as an independent office, and oftentimes
people mistake us for one of the departments,
so having to have those conversations about
our role and what we can do, I think that has
definitely been one of the challenges, the
concept of child rights and the role of the
office.

We’re making headway. We have made
significant headway because of the
investment over the past three and a half
years with respect to our public awareness
work and communications work, but we still
have a long way to go. This office is still
very much at its toddler stage and we are
based here in Iqaluit, which is another
challenge, yet we serve this entire territory.
We invest heavily at our office in community
visits. We have a community visit planned
annually where we visit 12 communities and
the other 12 the next year, and then when we
are done, we start over.
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That’s also a challenge for our office is that
we represent all of Nunavut, yet our entire
office is based here in Iqaluit. Now, we
definitely have certain measures in place to
try to work with that challenge such as a
community visit schedule, a 1-800 number,
staff using flexible hours if they need to work
with a young person or family in another
time zone, so we do our best to work around
that, but that certainly is another challenge.

I think another challenge that I would like to
talk about also in terms of our work in the
administration of the office is that we are a
team of eight and there is a big and
increasing demand on our services. We
definitely see that the longer we are open and
the more that the word gets out about what
we do and what type of supports we can
provide, we’re starting to see an imbalance in
terms of the resources that we have available
to ourselves and the workload that’s
mounting.

We have seen a steady number of individual
advocacy cases. We have seen their
complexity, though, increase. We have
definitely seen an increase in systemic issues
over the years that have come into our office.
We have a staff of two and it takes both of
those resources, those two PY's, to put on one
investigation in order to conduct a major
investigation, such as the one we have done
for the past year and half into mental health
services. Also, we see an increase in demand
for our staff to provide presentations and
training for other staff. We have seen that
grow over the years. Certainly a big
challenge for our office is the growth and
demand that we are seeing for our supports
and services and having a team of eight.

In terms of the conduct of our office when
we’re challenged that I’ll highlight that we
face, it’s difficult for us to do our job with
the amount of turnover that we see in GN
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staff. We know that that pales in comparison
to the impact that that’s having on young
people and their families who are seeking
services, but it does impact the conduct of
our business as well when we’re trying to
connect with people and there’s changeover
in vacancy and a new person in position who
may not be aware of our office. Sometimes
we really have to backtrack and start again.
That can prolong the length of time that it
takes us to close a file. I’ll end there. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Lightstone, I’ll give
you one more question and then I’ll move on
to the next person. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ve got a few more questions, so I’'m just
going to sort of bunch them all in together.

Your term ends June of this year, which is
just right around the corner. My question is if
you intend on seeking another five-year term
and, if so, why or why not, and what advice
you may have for the next incumbent. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Lightstone, the first
part of your questions is beyond the scope of
what we are here to do today. We are here to
review the annual reports of the
representative.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak, in terms of the second
part of the question, if you would care to
respond.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Can I ask the Member to repeat
the second part of the question, please?

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.
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Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Given that the term is about to expire, what
advice would you have for the next
incumbent? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. One piece of advice that I would
give the next representative is to continue the
investment of the team back at the office. By
investment I am speaking of training. We
have invested very heavily into the training
of our team over the past five years, and not
just training but into the investment of the
well-being of all team members at the office.
That is a big piece of advice. It is a solid
group of staff over there and my hope would
be that the next representative would pay
particular attention to the well-being of that
staff given the nature of the work that they do
and their training needs.

Another piece of advice that I would offer is
that the voice of young people continues to
be at the centre of the work of that office and
that does not get lost. There are many articles
under the United Nations Convention on the
Rights of the Child. Listening to the voice
young people is one and it is so important.
My hope going forward is that the next
representative focuses as much as we did
over the past five years going forward on the
importance of the voice of the young people
and challenges the Government of Nunavut
to make that voice stand at the centre of
issues that are impacting young people.

I would also advise the next representative to
advocate on behalf of the office for
additional resources so that the office can
continue to evolve and grow and not be
limited in the type of work that it can do.
There is very important work that the office
is conducting, and in terms of recourse
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capacity, space capacity, it is kind of at a
standstill.

I think they would be the three big pieces of
advice that I would have to offer. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I am sure that the next
person to fill your role will take those into
account. (interpretation) Following my list of
names, Mr. Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Welcome, everyone.

The first comment I would like to make is on
your opening comments about the
responsibilities. You are not trying to take
over the work of the Government of
Nunavut, but just ensuring that the
government’s services, programs, and
policies are there for children and youth. I
was proud of that statement.

The main question that I would like to ask is,
as you said, you have eight staff members
and you went from 38 percent to close to 50
percent Inuit employment in the office,
although there are only eight employees. She
also indicated that their goal is to reach 63
percent Inuit employment. It seems like it’s
the first time [’m seeing that, so I am proud
of that. The question I have is: how many
Inuit do you have working in your office?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I have a team of eight staff.
Originally when we started out, it was at 38
percent; we’re now at 50 percent Inuit
employment. There are four non-Inuit staff
and there are four Inuit staff, with plans to
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move into 68 percent in the upcoming years.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’'m proud of that. Our Nunavut
government has been around for 20 years and
we finally reached 50 percent in that. Your
office has been around for only a few years
and you have eight workers, but I’'m proud
that you have that many Inuit workers.

The next question is about the Inuktitut
language. We consider the Inuktitut language
very important in Nunavut and I was proud
to hear the Deputy Ministers and Assistant
Deputy Minister speaking Inuktitut. How do
you apply the Inuktitut language in your
office? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for that question.
Currently we have one staff who is fluent in
Inuktitut and that staff is our intake
specialist. That’s the person who is the voice
and face to our office. We have other staff
with different levels of proficiency in
Inuktitut. As I mentioned in our opening
comments, we have invested heavily in terms
of helping them increase their skill set in the
language when they’re ready and
comfortable to do so. To date we have
supported nine Inuktut training sessions for
staff ranging from level 1 to 3 advanced
terminology sessions.

In terms of the provision of our service,
when we have a request for someone to have
a service in another language other than
English, we accommodate that through the
use of our intake specialist. It is reflected in
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that individual’s job description that that is a
support that they provide our office on our
individual advocacy cases and other work.
We also have French language speakers
within our office that provide that support
when required.

Because we are relying on one individual
who speaks Inuktitut fluently, if that person
is unavailable to us, then we rely on the use
of interpreters to provide the service in the
language the person is requesting. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank you for helping me
understand that. Yes, the Inuktitut language
has to be used because we live in Nunavut
and the majority of people speak Inuktitut.
The majority of our constituents and people
we serve are Inuit.

Are the documents translated into Inuktitut?
We like hearing about the office in the
communities. When we’re in the
communities, we hardly ever hear about the
office and people realize that the office
exists, but not many people are aware of it
yet. Your work is very important. With
respect to communications and promoting
yourselves to Nunavut, what do you do to
promote your office to make sure people
know about you? Through the news or
media? What communication modes do you
use? Communities use the local radio stations
a lot. Do you use those too? That’s my final
question, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. With respect to all
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communications coming out of our office,
everything is in four languages at all times.
We follow the provisions within the Official
Languages Act.

In terms of how do we promote our office
across the territory, as I acknowledged
before, one of the challenges is that we’re
Iqaluit based and we have a big territory to
cover. We recognize that’s a challenge. We
know that we have isolated communities; we
have different time zones, different
languages, and different literacy levels across
the territory, so our communications
approach takes all that into consideration and
it’s kind of multi-pronged.

One of the big things that we do in terms of
communication is community visits. As
mentioned earlier, our community visit plan
is 12 communities per year. We wish we
could do more and get out there more
frequently, but with a staff of eight people
who have other duties as well, other than just
the travel component, it works well with
keeping our staff balanced in terms of their
work-life balance and whatnot. Twelve
communities are visited per year, then the
other 12 communities the other year, and
then we start again. Community visits is not
something that we check off and finish after
round 1. We’re close to finishing round 2 of
community visits and when we’re done our
round 2, we start again to round 3. A big part
of our communications approach is those
visits. They’re very important to us.

When we’re in communities too, a lot of
things need to happen. Before going into
communities, our staff have a checklist and
meetings they need to set up. One of the big
stakeholders when we’re in communities is
we’re in the schools and we’re working
directly with young people. We’re also
spending time in the community setting up
information tables at the Northern Store,
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looking for opportunities, if there’s
something going on in the community, if
there’s a feast, if there’s a youth event and
taking part in that.

We also meet with Government of Nunavut
stakeholders. All the frontline service
providers that we often deal with here out of
Igaluit in managing a lot of those cases and
files, we connect with all them to build the
relationship, ensure clarity of our role, and
ensure they’re adhering to the provisions
under the Act that they need to be. That’s
definitely one thing that we do.

We also have, of course, more traditional
materials, such as pamphlets, rack cards,
brochures, and that type of more traditional
communications material that we develop.
Some of our communications material is
actually going to be reviewed this fiscal year
because we want to see how we’re
communicating and how people perceive the
words we chose on our pamphlets and
whatnot. That will be under review and
evaluation this year to see if we need to make
any changes to do a bit of a better job with
respect to our more traditional
communications material.

We also conduct an annual contest for young
people, and schools are heavily involved in
that, the “’Your Story, Your Voice,” which
gives us an opportunity to talk about our
office, talk about children’s rights. We’re
excited with some of the upcoming plans that
we have too because we’re always pushing
ourselves to do better in terms of our
communication. On the horizon for us, this
year we will be launching social media so we
can connect better with young people across
the territory.

Very soon we will also be enabling our text
support for young people so they can get
individual advocacy support through texting
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with our child and youth advocacy
specialists. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you
(interpretation ends) I’ll just remind
witnesses, for the benefit of the interpreters,
if you could speak at a somewhat slower
pace. It makes things better for the
interpreters. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chairman. Please feel
welcome, witnesses.

The first question I would like to ask is
related to question my colleague asked
earlier and I would like to add to it. Looking
at all of the communities in Nunavut, when
you go to the communities, some are small
and some are bigger than others. How much
time do you spend in each of the
communities? Children and youth are not all
in school. That’s my first question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Depending on community size,
smaller communities, maybe we’re in there
for three or four days; a larger community,
we will be there the whole work week. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chairman. [ would like
to move on to another subject. In the Fifth
Assembly and also in the Fourth Assembly
we have been pushing for Inuit societal
values and the usage of our Inuktitut
language. It’s something that we’re pushing
hard on.
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What seems to be the most important
challenges you see for the future to make
things better for your office? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Can I please ask the Member to
repeat the question?

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chairman. I mentioned
that as MLAs, we place great importance on
Inuit cultural and societal values. With your
office, what major challenges have you faced
in incorporating Inuit cultural and societal
values in your office? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Mikkungwak,
specifically in the most recent report on
pages 13, 14, and 15 there is information that
he is requesting or asking for further
clarification on. Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the clarification. I
appreciate it.

At our office we’re continuously challenging
ourselves to increase the language capacity
of our team, to continuously challenge
ourselves with respect to how we embed
Inuit societal values in our own work. We do

a couple of things...well, more than a couple.

We invest quite heavily in this area because
we know those values guide our work and
those values are the values of 85 percent of
the population that our office serves. They’re
not something that is added onto our work.
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They need to be embedded in the way that
we conduct our work and the business of our
office on a daily basis.

Some of the things that we do to help guide
us in that area, first of all, is we work with
our elder advisors to seek their good
guidance and support. We work together well
as a team. Like [ mentioned, it’s 50 percent
Inuit and 50 percent non-Inuit. We have full-
team staff meetings on a monthly basis. Inuit
societal values is a standing agenda item and
it’s the first item we talk about, both Inuit
and non-Inuit staff to talk about how we do a
better job in challenging ourselves on a
regular basis to make sure these values are
embedded in our organization. That
conversation can look like all sorts of things.
It’s a very open conversation.

We also invest in training of our team in
terms of these values. We have worked with
the QIA in the past for training on Inuit
societal values. We make sure that all of our
staff... . It was required that they take the
training on indigenous cultural competency.
We also work with Inuit organizations on a
regular basis to seek their input and good
guidance. Most recently just last week we
met with Tuttarviit to talk about Inuit societal
values and our interpretation of how they
apply to our office.

It’s an area that our office is strongly
committed to because of where we are and
the population that we serve. We’re
continuously challenging ourselves on a
regular basis to explore new ways of
learning, new ways of incorporating or
embedding those values into the work that
we do. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak.

CALA%c*LoC D**LAM D> n.M<b®D¢
AD*a0 A%ba AL SHeC®CEN>g NNGSA™T.

ALACDSBEC®DIS; A®ba AL SbNNSbeCseCDC
CAb< A AS AbYSNNSHEC®CDC AL
Abse A% 5NbdC, ASba ALSbNMSbC®IJC,
D>sbeb>LL 50 >N AAS, 50->a.C SbeHact.
Lo A%ba AY®NC bNLDSHEC®IE,
ASRNPEONE ADAS DYARLNC, L5
A®ba AY®NC b A <AL ADACS.
D>Sb>/NSHECHCDC Sb_obbege
Acn<easL*LeC, CLedd
AcD>b®/LN<Ab>a5d=HNC. LIDA*LEN® 5C
D>Sbc_SbNNSbCC®IJC,

<L ACHLPNASHECTRUC ASba AP NN o,
ARNPEONC CLbdd ADAS DPANLNC, A5 S
SPP®eCa AAC bI*asbNM*Mgbdd

A®ba AZDNNRECDC A oAC DPANYAC
ARNPEONE, AL Ac®o<dn<sbS*LC CLbdd
APba AFPNDC Ac®od®NCP>NDBECTE2C
AoA® NI dN*M*g® Adc ACIPdC
bNLSbNABECTIJC. AaAIRY>c >®IIN, A oAC
PPANL o bNL*<Nbc P>*IJC b o>
AcD>beC>Ya So<dL L NNGSANa.

NNGSASCCD>® >/ LN @ g D¢
ASRNPESONE QL5 ANCN®CDC CAPI ADAS,
CAL*LcLse <bAPNPeq sheCseCoe,

S0 IPNNRL 5Ned> CLbdd oCc
AcD>OH®C>E I NNGSACN®oC

ASba ALCN 0. Sd*al®, AbYRPCSe,

AbYR|DCSL: sdheql™, C [Py,

58




Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chairman. Again, using
Inuit cultural and societal values, your office
makes sure that there is information for
children and youth about their rights. Outside
of the written word about Inuitl cultural and
societal values, parents provide other
information verbally to their children.

Sometimes there are families who
occasionally have disagreements in Nunavut.
What does your office do when families run
into hardship with children and youth? What
kinds of problems have you come across in
those dealings in terms of cultural and
societal values, or what does your office,
using your approaches, do to resolve those
family issues? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. With respect to our work and the
conduct of our work out of our office, we
absolutely include families in our work when
we can. If it is safe and in the best interest of
the child that we’re advocating for, for
families to be involved, then they’re right
there with us. They need to be because the
family is the key component to which the
child belongs, so we’re very much in support
of that in the conduct of our own work.

With respect to the Department of Family
Services and families being disrupted and not
being together and what they do, I think
they’re in a better position as the department
responsible for that program area to answer
that question. What I can say is when we see
in some of our individual advocacy cases
families not together for different reasons,
our advocacy work could entail holding the
department accountable to making sure the
conditions that will support the reunification
of the family are in place to help the family
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come back together. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) As you mentioned in
your response, the Department of Family
Services might have something to add on
this, so Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego: Thank you, Iksivautaag. I think
something in what the representative just said
about reunification of family, that is very
important, that is the philosophy of the
department, to keep families together.
However, we all know that families do
struggle and need time to adjust before that
reunification. We sometimes do get pressure
from the representative in listening to the
youth. Here is where our department may not
always agree based on other information that
we would have that the representative is not
privy to, such as immediate family or
extended family situations. There is other
private information.

Although we value and accept the
recommendations and advice of the
representative’s office, they are very youth
focused. We are family focused and also
through our investigative authority, we have
access to a little bit more information in
certain cases. We still do value the
representative’s office. They speak a lot to
the issues that matter the most to our
department as well. I hope that helps. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Your
response is understandable. Mr.
Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation): Thank
you very much. This is my final question on
this subject. Again, using Inuit societal
values, there was a recent international
meeting that your office attended. On page 7
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of the 2017-18 annual report, you indicated
that you were involved in the meeting.

My question is in regard to incorporating
Inuit cultural and societal values on the
international state in policy and legislative
terms. What I’'m trying to ask... . For
example, Inuit Tapiriit Kanatmi works very
hard to promote on this issue. Are you
working with Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami on
issues such as that within Nunavut? What is
your working relationship with Inuit Tapiriit
Kanatami? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. We’re just trying to find what
page and what report, if we could have some
clarification on that, please.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I believe that Mr.
Mikkungwak was referring to page 7 of the
2017-18 report. Specifically he’s talking
about the Canadian Council of Child and
Youth Advocates and national advocacy
standards. Is that sufficient to clarify the
question? Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you very much.
With respect to that page, as I mentioned
earlier on in my opening comments, there are
several things that guide the conduct of our
work. One of those things is the national
advocacy standards that have been developed
by the Canadian Council of Child and Youth
Advocates. On that page it gives an example
of how we do that, how we bring that to life.

The example that we highlighted on that
particular page is the standard around a
young person’s empowerment. The council
set a standard that for these independent
offices, part of their work needs to be
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empower young people to know their own
rights and to be able to speak on their own
behalf. One of the ways we honour that
standard is through the delivery of our self-
advocacy workshops. That workshop
specifically was developed by our office in
response to a need that we wanted to see
more young people be able to speak up on
their own behalf.

We deliver that workshop to help increase
that skill set in young people. It’s keeping
with the Inuit societal value of teaching.
Through practise and mentorship, we put our
staff on the ground with young people in the
delivery of that workshop and we teach
skills, we practise skills through the
workshop, all to help increase the confidence
that young people have in their own ability to
speak up on their behalf and to essentially
empower them. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following my list of names, Mr. Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Welcome, Representative for
Children and Youth, your officials, and
witnesses. I say “good morning” to my
fellow residents of Kugaaruk and to the
Members.

In terms of your opening comments, I heard
the rights of young people. In English it was
(interpretation ends) “child rights.”
(interpretation) That is a powerful statement.
My colleague from Baker Lake mentioned
this as well.

I would like to ask your office: how do you
communicate with the smaller communities?
That is the question I would like to ask, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman: (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.
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Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. One of the big ways, like I
mentioned, that we communicate with
smaller communities is that we send staff to
the smaller communities. We put our feet on
the ground in every community across this
territory regardless of size. When we’re in
communities, like I said, we spend time in
the schools meeting with service providers,
but we also spend time within the
community. We make sure to set up
information booths in those places where we
know community members frequent.

Our staff are trained and able, and do get on
community radio to get word out. That’s one
of our biggest ways to engage with
communities, big or small, and then also
some of those more traditional
communication methods that I previously
discussed, just making sure we distribute
really good information in all languages,
making sure when we’re in communities, our
staff do informal audits to make sure that
service providers have our materials up as
they are required to under the Act, and those
sorts of things. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I also thank you for the
response. We know as parents, young people
have difficult situations in upbringing. |
wonder whether you will have an actual
office in the communities. Are you currently
planning for a new office like that? Will you
be taking this approach to the communities?
I’m asking that question for clarification, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. McNeil-Mulak, did
you get that question? I think there was an
issue with the translation channels. Did you
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get that question? Please respond.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. This question comes up quite
frequently, and oftentimes when we are in
communities, one of the number one

questions we get is “When are you coming
back?”

Right now, given the newness of the office,
the first five years have been spent on
establishing the office in one location and
establishing a solid foundation. I can’t see
into the future of course, but I would hope
that that foundation in the future will allow
for growth here based out of the Iqaluit
office, but also that there will be some
consideration going forward by the
Legislative Assembly on perhaps a satellite
office somewhere else throughout the
territory.

Right now in the first five years it hasn’t
been a part of the plan, but when we look
forward, it’s definitely something I think that
deserves sound consideration by the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut. Thank you
very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) That is an interesting
point and Mr. Mikkungwak touched on that,
that communities are not all one size and if
we look at the population of youth across
Nunavut, there is a huge population of young
people outside of Iqaluit.

That being said, we are on the first thematic
area and one of the things you touched on in
your opening comments was the ability of
your office to review any matter related to
death or critical injury of any child or youth.
That is not in force yet.

At the same time, through the media, we
know that the Department of Justice or the
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chief coroner’s office has established a
Pediatric Death Review Committee. That’s a
newly established committee.

From your perspective, how would those two
functions work together? Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you for that
question, Mr. Chairman. You are correct.
That section of the Act that allows us to
conduct reviews of critical injuries and
deaths is not in force yet. That program area
is currently under development by our office
and has been for the last couple of years. We
have had to press the pause button on that
development piece slightly in order to shift
both systemic resources on the investigation
into mental health services for children and
youth.

Part of the development work entails
working with key partners that are doing this
type of work. That includes the newly
formed Pediatric Death Review Committee.
It also includes the coroner’s office. There
has been some preliminary work done with
the previous coroner. We need to pick up that
work and complete development, so it will
entail working with the new coroner and it
will also entail working with the Pediatric
Death Review Committee.

What that looks like in terms of overlap in
mandates and whatnot, we don’t know yet.
This Pediatric Death Committee is fairly
new. We have reached out to them as a part
of our development work and we have a
meeting scheduled for them later in the
month. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) In terms of the
Department of Justice, I would be interested
to hear your perspective in terms of how well
that new Pediatric Death Review Committee
worked with the office of the representative
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in terms of reviewing child deaths and in
terms of reports and recommendations. How
is that envisioned to work? Ms. Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) As the
representative mentioned, the work for
setting up the Pediatric Death Review
Committee is still fairly new. We still need to
work out how the committee will work with
various departments, with the chief coroner’s
office, and also with the representative’s
office. I don’t know if that helps to answer
your question. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Somewhat, but it’s still
not clear in my mind in terms of how these
two overlapping responsibilities are supposed
to fit together.

I’1l turn it back to you, Ms. McNeil-Mulak.
You mentioned in your opening comment, on
the last page, in terms of this responsibility
that it’s contingent upon additional resources.
You mentioned in here that you have put
forward two requests for additional
resources. Specifically how much money are
we talking about or how much additional
resource is needed to bring this function into
action under your office? Ms. McNeil-
Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, it is true, we have submitted
to date two requests for additional resources
for our office. One was denied and the other
is pending, I guess. We are still waiting to
hear the outcome from the Management and
Services Board.

The resource that we are specifically
requesting with respect to this program area,
critical injury and death, is one PY to start to
enable us to launch the program according to
our business plan priority in the next fiscal
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year. We are looking at approximately maybe
$150,000 for that PY plus any benefits and
money associated with that. It’s one PY we
are looking for specifically with respect to
that program area and launching it. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for the
specific information. Before we move on
from our first thematic area, Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good morning, representative.

Are we on the first thematic question? Okay.
I think my question is on the second thematic
part. Okay. Page 40 of the representative’s
2017-18 annual report describes your office’s
work toward building relationships with the
Government of Nunavut, and it notes that
there is a “healthy tension” between the
office and the government. In your report
you have on page 40, “Due to the nature of
our work, we acknowledge the healthy
tension that exists between our office and the
GN. However, we also recognize the
importance of working together...”

My question, I note that Family Services says
on occasion that they disagree on the
representative’s perspective. I would like to
ask the other departments: when they don’t
agree with the representative, how do they
deal with the problem? Do they talk amongst
the two departments and the representative?
How would you handle it or how did you
handle it? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I will direct that
question first to the Department of Health.
Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In
responding to that question, I think
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ultimately the end goal is the same for the
representative’s office and the Department of
Health in what we want to achieve for the
children and youth. Sometimes there may be
a difference in the process that is used to get
there.

We have considerations in the Department of
Health related to some of the protocols or
policies or expectations or legislation that are
in Health and they might differ in terms of
what the representative is bringing forward to
the table. It requires a lot of discussion and
trying to figure out a way to get to the end
goal together. As has been the case in the
circumstances that have been raised with
Health through the representative, we have
been able to come to a good outcome based
on that.

We have learned along the way as we have
gone along. For example, on the issue around
the advocate office outlining the deficiencies
in the training of mental health staff, we took
their information and we worked with them
and now they’re a part of the two-week
course that is taught to all new and returning
nurses on training. That’s just one example.
In most of the cases there is a way for us to
come to some agreement and a solution in
the best interest of the children and youth and
families. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) For the next department,
Department of Education, in terms of
responding to the same question, Ms.
Flaherty.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you. To
date we haven’t heard whether there have
been problems in that area. When they
inform the Department of Education through
the (interpretation ends) Partner Relations
Division, (interpretation) we work with that
division concerning the schools and the other
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divisions of the Department of Education that
are responsible for that. It’s set up properly
right now, but at the beginning there were
some organizational problems.

Perhaps since the Office of the
Representative for Children and Youth is not
so new anymore and we have worked well
together with them, the process is set up
properly. We would like to see requests
through that office only because it’s set up
properly. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Department of Justice, Ms. Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I also thank you for that
question. Concerning the Department of
Justice, there haven’t been too many people
who needed services. When the
representative’s office informs us of who
needs services, we follow their direction and
we work well with them. It’s through
understanding each other and cooperating
with them, and that’s what we follow. Thank
you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak, are you done? Ms. Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Welcome, witnesses.

The first question I would like to ask is...and
I would like to recognize those who spoke in
Inuktitut. I can’t speak eloquently, but I
would like to ask first of all in regard to the
opening remarks of the child and youth
representative’s office. I don’t have the
Inuktitut version. When you’re going to be
publishing them, some people want to see
them in Inuktitut. This is something that I
would like to see as there is a demand for it.

(interpretation ends) In you opening
comments you had stated as well that
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UNICEF has recognized the importance of
the representatives... . Let me state this right.
The office has been guided in its work by the
Representative of Children and Youth Act, an
Act that has been praised by UNICEF
Canada as a model piece of legislation for
other jurisdictions in Canada and worldwide,
namely, for its incorporation of Inuit societal
values.

When we’re talking about ISV, I’'m just
curious and looking at the reports that your
office brought forward, I’'m curious to know
how often the elder advisors meet.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. There should be copies of opening
comments available to all Members in
Inuktitut. I just want to clarify that. We meet
with our elder advisors and work with them
on an as-needed basis. There is no set
schedule, but I can give you some examples
of how we work together.

For instance, initially when elder advisors
were selected, they came into Iqaluit and
took training with our team over a two-day
period, training and orientation to our work,
to our staff that they would be working with.
Elder advisors also came into Iqaluit in May
2018, almost a year ago. When we held our
staff retreat, they were a part of that. At the
staff retreat they discussed the various
aspects of the business of our office with us
over the entire retreat.

Our staff also work with elder advisors to
assist our child and youth advocacy
specialists with managing their cases if the
specialist deems that support from an elder
advisor would help support the advancement
of that particular file.
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Elder advisors also worked with our office
on the conduct of the systemic investigation
into mental health services for children and
youth.

They also helped our office with respect to
the storyline and development of Mosesie
Speaks Up, the book that is now in schools
across the territory.

We don’t have a strict way of working with
elder advisors or a strict schedule. It’s very
fluid and we involve our elder advisors in
every aspect of our work across the board.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you
for clarifying that. In the 2017-18 annual
report it outlines how elders have assisted
children and youth clients dealing with the
Department of Justice or going through the
courts. That’s why I asked what your
foundation has been as the children and
youth representative’s office. Elders have
very strong words. How are you going to
base your work? I would like more
information on that.

As she stated, we are lacking mental health
workers within Nunavut. We still don’t have
child mental health services in Nunavut.
What are your recommendations to the
government on what more they can do or
what additional assistance they can provide
for children? (interpretation ends) If we
know we’re facing issues in terms of not
meeting the mental health of the youth,
(interpretation) what other work do you do in
that area? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.
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Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. As indicated in our 2017-18
annual report and as indicated in my opening
comments, our office has initiated an
investigation into mental health services for
children and youth in Nunavut. That report
will be tabled and publicly released in the
spring of 2019. Until that happens, I’'m
unable to comment on the nature of those
recommendations.

What I can say is that there will be 15
recommendations issued to the Government
of Nunavut and some of those
recommendations will contain themes or
elements of themes that have been
highlighted in the past annual reports issued
by our office. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Recognizing the clock, we will break for
lunch. (interpretation ends) We will be back
here at 1:30. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 12:00 and
resumed at 13:28

Chairman (interpretation): Welcome back,
my colleagues and guests, to the meeting on
the Representative for Children and Youth in
Nunavut. Before lunch break, we still had
questions on the first thematic area.
(interpretation ends) When we ended off just
before lunch, we were focusing on the first
thematic area, which were background and
general questions about the representative’s
office. Ms. Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I have only one question and
I’ll have other questions afterwards.

I wanted to touch upon an issue that was
brought up earlier by one of my colleagues
about the representative almost reaching the
end of her term, and also the vision and
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objectives that she would like to see in the
future. Can you elaborate further about what
you would like to see the office doing?
That’s my only question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I believe that question was asked
this morning.

In response to moving forward, the vision
that our office and hopes that we have for the
work down the road with respect to this
office, I would like to highlight a few areas.
One is the continuation of youth voice being
at the centre of the work of the Government
of Nunavut; and two, continued investment
into the team of the RCYO, both in terms of
the training supports and well-being supports
provided to that office given the nature of the
work that they do. Also, I would like to see
the continued advocacy for additional
resources dedicated to that office, so continue
to phase in the final piece of its mandate and
continue to evolve and grow as service
demands increase as they have over the
recent years.

I believe that touches on all the areas that we
highlighted this morning. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I believe Ms.
Nakashuk’s question was specifically
focused on additional positions. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, that is the question I am trying to find
out. With your budget and the PY's of eight
people that you have in your office right
now, [’m just curious how many additional
positions are you thinking of, or is there
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something that you feel should be added? If
we are talking about the vast territory and all
the communities not being met, with eight
staff, I’'m sure is not enough. That is why I’'m
wondering: would you foresee additional
positions to meet the communities?
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you for the
clarification and my apology; I
misinterpreted the question that was asked.

In terms of staff specifically and growth, I
would like to share with the Committee that
the most recent request for additional
resources, we requested two additional PY's
to our office. That is the minimum that we
require immediately in my opinion in order
to realize the full potential of our mandate.
Those positions, as previously mentioned,
one is a critical injury and death investigator
so that we can bring that final component of
our office on board.

The other position that we asked for, which
we didn’t talk about this morning, is a
manager of individual advocacy services
because of not only the number of files but
the complexity of files. The director provides
a lot of joint advocacy support to our staff on
the management of those files, which has
meant that the systemic advocacy program
that is also supposed to report to the director
has not been able to do so since we opened
our office. We thought there might be a
decrease in demand on the director’s time,
but that hasn’t been the case; there has only
been an increase. As a result, the systemic
advocacy program has reported directly to
me since we opened.

We requested a manager position for
individual advocacy support to allow the
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manager to shift to the full responsibilities
within her job description, which she is not
able to do, and for the representative position
to be able to shift more to their job
responsibilities as well. We have made some
decisions based on our current staffing
capacity as a temporary basis and it’s just
not, I don’t think, in the best interest of the
organization going forward for the systemic
advocacy program to report to the
representative of the office and for the
director not to able to take on that
responsibility.

We have requested, most recently in August
2018, those two additional positions at
minimum. Although we didn’t put a request
in, there is also a significant demand and
increase on the number of systemic issues
that have been put forward to our office. As |
mentioned earlier, when we are conducting a
formal investigation such as the recent one
that we are wrapping up now into mental
health services for children and youth, it
takes two staff to work one of those
investigations because of the scope of work
that needs to take place. That is best practice
and that best practice was informed on our
work and meetings with the Auditor General
of Canada in understanding how they
conduct investigations, as well as other
independent advocacy offices across the
country in developing our program.

Also in my opinion, if we want to tackle as
an office more than one of those systemic
issues at one time, there absolutely needs to
be greater investment in the systemic
advocacy area of our office as well. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Are
you done? Okay. The next name on my list,
Ms. Towtongie.
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Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. What we are discussing, as an
Inuk, it is something that is foreign to me.
The way we were brought up, we don’t argue
with our parents even when we become
adults. I do like what you do, but there are a
lot of regular Nunavummiut, elders included,
who have nobody to turn to, including
children.

(interpretation ends) Just an observation, Mr.
Chairman, before I get to my question, the
role of advocacy for children is a very
foreign concept. In my lifetime we grew up
and we followed the Inuit customs without
having to talk back to our parents throughout
our lifetime, and we are dependent, even
when we get children, on our parents
throughout our lifetime without an age limit.
In fact, with the education system, they put a
limit, grades 1, 2, 3, up to 12, but it doesn’t
define the maturity of the child in question.
It’s just the system and an artificial system at
that and we adopted it.

I get concerned when we talk about mental
health, clinical health, without reference to
Inuit mental health concept; the holistic
approach. In saying that, I believe the
Auditor General did describe the best
practices, but still it is a very foreign concept
to a large majority of Inuit of Nunavut.
Therefore my question to Justice, Health, and
Family Services is: a large number of the
public, children, youth, families, and parents
are often at a loss when seeking information
on government programs or services for
children and youth. What kind of information
referral procedures do these departments
have when contacted for assistance in
seeking services for children and youth, and
that includes linguistic and cultural
availability? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Towtongie. (interpretation ends) That is
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directed to Family Services? Maybe you
could just clarify who you are asking the
question to. (interpretation) Thank you.

Ms. Towtongie: I would like each of the
departments to address it. We’re talking
about systematic advocacy, but I don’t see
any of these systems dealing with our ancient
culture. I would like to see what kind of
information referral procedure exists within
each department. I am confident there are
individuals out in Nunavut who feel they
have no place to turn to. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Towtongie. (interpretation ends) I'm
struggling with this a bit because we’re here
to focus not just generally on the
departments. It is their interactions with the
representative’s office that we’re most
interested in. I’1l start with Family Services,
Ms. Niego, in terms of Ms. Towtongie’s
question and how it applies within your
department. Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego: Thank you, Iksivautaq. If I can
refer this to Ms. White.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
White.

Ms. Henderson-White: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. This is a very important question.
In the work that we do, we ensure that the
cultural aspects of our practice are sound and
we ensure that when we make referrals,
we’re taking into consideration the cultural
needs, as you mentioned.

We are limited in the fact that we still lack
psychological resources. We have new child
psychologists attached to our department or
to the Government of Nunavut. That’s one of
the things that we are concerned about.
There’s a lack of child psychiatric services as
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well. We try to work as much as possible
with elders, families, and extended families.

When we’re placing children, the first line of
consideration that we make is to extended
family and within the community. As |
indicated before, there’s a clear lack of
psychiatric, psychological and other
professional services attached to those
specific needs.

We try to work very closely with the children
and youth advocate office because we have
the same interest, which is the best interest of
children and families and so forth to the
community, but there is clearly a lack of
these resources within the territory. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) The same question
posed to this time the Department of Health,
Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are quite a few services and programs
that are available and we can compile the
information, if you like, about the mental
health services. I sense that there is confusion
out there about what these services are and
how to access them, but there are multiple
access points depending on what it is that is
required.

As a foundational base, there are the
community wellness committees in each of
the communities. Part of their role is to
determine what the needs of the community
are and to share those with the help of staff
and also at the same time to develop the
capacity and ability to culturally provide the
programs and services and organize them.
They are sort of our source of information,
but that’s one aspect of it.

There are also lots of programs that are
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culture based and targeted at youth and
children that are delivered through the
Quality of Life Secretariat and my colleague,
Kim Masson, is the associate deputy for that
secretariat. There are quite a few programs
and we’re constantly developing more and
more after we get feedback from youth and
families saying that this is lacking or that that
is needed.

With your permission, Mr. Chairman, [
would like Kim Masson to just shed some
light on the types of services that might be
available. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Masson.

Ms. Masson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, there are a number of very specific
programs that we’re working on developing
and really trying to make far more robust.
We’re particularly working with traditional
counsellors who have been trained in “Our
Life’s Journey” and similar programs by
Ilisagsivik and Pulaarvik Kublu in Rankin
Inlet. As agencies, they are trying local
counsellors to provide for the needs of our
communities.

In addition, with our grants and contributions
programming, local community members
and hamlets are able to access funding for
supplemental programs and those
supplemental programs that I can think of
are, for example, the Makimautiksat program
for young people. It’s designed to be a youth
mental wellness program designed by the
Qauyjigiartiit Health Research Centre. We’re
funding training for trainers in that program
around the territory and hope to have
individuals able to facilitate the program in
multiple communities, if not all in the
territory, when they are able.

Additionally, some of our communities are
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working with some of their traditionally
based Aboriginal Healing Foundation
counsellors and elders that were practising a
number of years ago when that funding was
in place. They are revitalizing those and
securing training, support, and honoraria for
that to be provided for not only children and
youth but all community members.

I think of the Mianigsijiit program in
Qamani'tuaq that’s, again, providing some
local holistic support for individuals. There
are multiple ways that we are trying to make
that system more robust, as well as the
clinical side of it with the elements of things
like access to SickKids and therapy through
there and/or psychiatric services, as well as
helplines, Kid’s Help Phone. Significantly
we’re working within the territory. They
have an indigenous-based branch now and
they would like to work with our traditional
counsellors in order to support better
programming that they can offer for young
people online, which may be a more
preferred method of access for young people
potentially. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Now
for the Department of Education, if you can
respond to the same question, Ms. Flaherty.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you. I
also thank you for the question. In the fall of
2017 the Department of Education increased
support services for students who have
literacy problems. Also, recreation or sports
people who have to go to different schools,
all the schools in the Kitikmeot, Kivalliq and
Baffin regions have been visited. School
counsellors also handle delivery of
specialized services in the schools and they
look to see how else children can be helped.

In 2017-18 the Department of Education
introduced a new way to help more with this
matter. All the schools in Nunavut are visited
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twice for teaching and to provide more
training to kids about language. Also, since
January 2019 there are visits by a
physiotherapist and a linguist that have been
going to the schools to help. We are also
looking for proposals that can help children
with hearing problemms, and therapists for
children who are misbehaving too much.
Sometimes someone needs to come and help
calm them down. That will be looked at as
well as help for children who need help with
mental issues. Those are some of our plans
for this year.

If you may, my assistant can add to that.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Please keep it short, Ms. MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) To
ensure that the needs and special needs of our
students receive supports and Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit and societal values are
followed, we did create an education support
services directive as of November 2018
which clearly lays out a process that involves
the school team members, llinniarvimmi
Inuusilirijiit, as well as parents throughout
the entire referral process. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. The
Department of Justice will be the last
department to respond to this question. If you
can respond, Ms. Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you for the question.
There are two divisions within the
Department of Justice with those
responsibilities. There is community justice
that has responsibilities and there are also
victim services. They are notified when
someone needs help.
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For families, the Family Abuse Intervention
Act can also be applied. Restorative justice
committees can also help using Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit and Inuit societal values.
Also in the Corrections Division, they have
life-enhancing programs that Mr. House can
explain more about.

Chairman (interpretation): Yes. Mr. House.

Mr. House: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. All
the programs in our facility are based on
Inuit social values. There are mainstream
programs, but once we get them, we call it
“Nunavutize” them, make it so the kids can
understand them and make it local to them.

We bring in elders all the time to talk to the
kids, to counsel. We have a counsellor on

staff as well that deals with any issues the
kids have.

Our land program is run every week, where
kids learn traditions, culture, and they go out
on the boat, on skidoos, hunting, fishing. We
don’t just do this in the community. When
our kids eventually go back home, we make
sure there’s a healthy transition to the home,
so we involve community corrections, local
elders, the RCMP in the communities so we
can continue to care back into the
communities.

There’s always a big emphasis on family
with us because we like to have families
involved with the kids right through their
stay with us because they are going to go
back to their families and we want it to be
not like they’re annihilated for a period of
time. We want to make sure they’re still part
of the family that they’re going to go back to,
so that’s very important to us as well. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. I
have no more names on my list at the
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moment. | only have one question before we
move on from the introduction.
(interpretation ends) I just have one question
to wrap up this thematic area and maybe lead
into the next one.

It mentions on page 22 of the latest report
that “Government service provides continue
to be the main contact” in terms of individual
advocacy. When you look at the other
advocates across the country, you answered
this morning, there are similar roles and there
are some differences there. The fact that
government service providers are the main
contact for your office, is this something that
is also seen in other parts of Canada or is this
something that’s unique to Nunavut? Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I don’t know. We do a lot of
comparison to other jurisdictions in certain
respects, but this isn’t one that we have
necessarily explored. That statistic for us,
though, here in Nunavut is quite telling. It is
the highest source of contacts to our office
year after year. It tells us two things. One
thing is that it tells us that there is a lot of
frustration being felt on the frontlines by
frontline service providers. There are a large
number of people working in departments
doing very challenging work on a day-to-day
basis on behalf of young people and they’re
feeling a sense of frustration in terms of
feeling stuck at times in terms of the degree
that they can help young people in their own
departments.

That is quite telling from the statistics, but
not only the statistics and the conversations
that we have with service providers on our
community visits; that’s backed up and
endorsed. It’s quite telling in that respect to
us, but no, we don’t have a comparison to
other jurisdictions with respect to that.
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The last thing I’ll say is that it tells us that
service providers understand the provisions
within our Act. They understand that anyone
can raise a matter to our attention, whether
you’re a service provider, whether you’re a
young person, a family member, or a
community member. They’re understanding
as well that when they do that, the
information is held by our office in strict
confidence and that there are in fact
provisions within our legislation that protect
them from any type of harm should there be
disclosure that they brought that information
forward to our office. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. (interpretation)
Thank you. Before we proceed to the next
section, I would like to recognize Mr. John
Amagoalik and his wife. Please feel welcome
in the Legislative Assembly.

>>Applause

You helped create our Legislative Assembly.
Thank you.

(interpretation ends) Our next thematic area
for today’s discussion is focusing on the
advocacy role. In terms of the reports, we’re
focusing on the sections that are titled
“Reporting on Our Activities: Individual
Advocacy and Systemic Advocacy.” Just to
let the Committee Members know that is
where we are focusing. The first name on my
list, Mr. Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I will be speaking a little bit of
English if it’s okay with everyone.

(interpretation ends) Your 2016-17 annual
report notes that 68 percent of individual
advocacy cases involved the Department of
Family Services. On page 19, a case sample
describes a foster placement situation. Can
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you provide further detail on how your office
works to address cases which involve child
protection matters? (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. That is in fact true; a large number
of our cases do pertain to the Department of
Family Services and of those cases, a
significant number pertain to child protection
matters. I’'m going to, for further detail in
terms of what that can look like, refer this
question to Ms. Matte, the Director of Child
and Family Services. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I think my
microphone just kicked in.

Thank you for the question. It is absolutely
correct to say that we have worked on a large
number of issues pertaining to children in the
care of the director or children receiving
services through Family Services. We try to
provide examples in our annual report. I
would like to provide a few other

examples of cases where we have supported
young people and their families in receiving
supports and services through this
department.

One example is a young person who was in
the care of the director, who had also run into
the services of the justice system because
there were some pending charges. The young
person had been given some conditions by
the court and the young person’s social
worker had interpreted those conditions to
mean that the young person could no longer
have their part-time job.
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When our office became involved, we
reached out to probation and we also spoke
with the RCMP to get their interpretation of
the order. Their opinion was that there was
no reason why the young person couldn’t
continue to have their employment while
waiting for the courts to deal with the matter.

As aresult, we worked with the departments
to come to a resolution on that matter by
connecting those service providers so the
information was shared. The young person
was able to have their job reinstated and the
employer was very happy to have them back
at their job in the community.

Another example would be a situation where
we had a young person who was living in a
care facility and was going to be
transitioning to a different facility. The
young person didn’t feel as though their
opinions on where they should live were
being heard properly by the department. We
worked with that young person in order to
make sure that the department had the
opportunity to hear the young person’s
thoughts. Hearing a young person’s thoughts
doesn’t mean the young person always gets
what they’re asking for. It means their
opinion was considered in the decision.

Another example would be around ensuring
visitation occurs. Sometimes young people’s
visitation, especially if they’re not in the
community where their family lives, can be
tricky to keep track of and to make sure it
happens on a regular basis. That’s another
area where we have helped young people and
their families connect, ensuring that they’re
getting the visits that they’re entitled to while
in the care of the director. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.
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Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Again, just
on your 2016-17 annual report, it notes on
page 19, “Lack of planning and
communication with foster parents.” Can you
describe what advice and recommendations
your office provided to the Department of
Family Services to improve this aspect of
service delivery to children and youth across
Nunavut? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’m going to refer this question to
Lynn Matte to provide a little bit of
additional detail to the case sample that’s
outlined on page 19.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) What I
would like to add regarding this particular
case is that there was a breakdown in
communication. The plan regarding the
foster child had not been adequately
communicated to the foster parents before
action was taken.

A lot of the work that our office was doing
was helping the social worker and the family
to rebuild their relationship, to open up those
lines of communication and make sure that
the reason for the decisions that were being
made was properly communicated to the
foster parents, and also that the foster parents
had an opportunity to share their thoughts on
what was going on with the social worker,
opening up those lines of communication,
rebuilding that relationship, making sure that
those foster parents understood why the
decision was made and that it was actually a
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temporary decision and that the child would
be returning to them, rebuilt that relationship
and made sure that that young person
received the care that they needed.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you.
Under Inuit Qaujimajatuganit, one of our
goals is Aajiigatigiinniq, having open
discussions. I believe we understand what
that means. It has become apparent that
Nunavut government departments sometimes
have problems in following these
requirements.

Also to speak English a bit, (interpretation
ends) a question to the Department of Family
Services.

On page 19 of the representative’s 2016-17
annual report, a case sample of a foster
placement situation is described. At the top
of the case sample it notes, “Lack of planning
and communication with foster parents.”

Can you describe some of the factors
involved in the planning of foster care and
what steps are taken to ensure that
communication is ongoing between all
individuals and agencies involved?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) It is only in
the last fiscal year that we’ve actually had
foster care coordinator positions. Obviously
three, one per region, will help, but perhaps it
is our frontline lack of resources that is likely
one of the biggest contributors. However, of
course we do have staff in every community
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and we could do our jobs better. Acndb*oP*a®*Io .

If I may, I’ll defer it to Ms. White. C*a Notg eI ™ HA*DN*-DJAC PD><*a "e<E,

Chairman: You may. Ms. White. APYR/PCS (ORNNJC): PDN=Q D%, [ DAC,

Ms. Henderson-White: Thank you, Mr. ) ) )
Chairman. As my Deputy Minister indicated, | HA*5%-P<AC ONMNJO): “d*al®, AYRDC™.

we know that there is more work that could Coa DUcq 4*Le%bs .ququc' b>rLeJC
be done to provide support to all foster Acnb®oP*a®IJe Codd JA®ICE<s Ph.0¢
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NJ®Ino® bLRNMOY, <ePCYLasenD>Lc
<AL ADA%*Q Do NIt ARCIGDIgC CLea
AbIHCDL A SHIAC, | .

families. It was the intent to secure funding
to have three foster parent coordinators in
place within the territory to support our
foster families. We know that this is an area
in our programming that requires even more
support, even more structure, and even more
resources. We have taken steps in that regard
to provide support to our foster families.

We are also working on developing training
for foster parents, which i; something that we ANy AL HI<C *LIhdg®
know that we ne@d to contmu; to support. At oG e 0f CogdcC>%

We al§0 are malgng efforts Wlt.h our IPIANIAPYDE Coddd A oMo,
cgord1nators to improve areas in terms Qf, a3 | Asbha ALBNCIOSIC, A%ba ALSAT

I 1ndlcate'd,' training, recruitment, retenFlon, berS/<Io5 S, CLbd<I> AbNGAb5MC, Codd
and providing supports around resourcing IASQ B LE CLbd<

and helping them in crisis situations. It’s A5 APCSHECSLC NSPCHLLaC. CLbdd
within crisis situations that sometimes needs | Lcopsgy e 5 LsbPSHECHCHNC

and gaps are identified.

4L ActodNSYotde Cbdd

We have taken the recommendation from the | cogq pLiseDANSNC [5dDaC, Codd
office of the child advocate and we are AP/ AT Acn<dbS<C. Podbr*a o<
making steps to improving and streamlining | pecne o N<NYD>LoC. Sdv>al®.
supports within our services. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr. | Ab/<PCSe: ’'a. C Sd<dh.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Just to follow
up on the question I had earlier to the office

of the representative and back to Family Sddh: sdbeal®, AbYRDCs, (DRrNJ9)
Services, the representative’s 2016-17 says | JA®INC®HDLS Lebbotsd. Codd
that an earlier annual report noted that 68 PLLSDARDR™ J-L Aocnered.o®s. C°d<
percent of the individual advocacy cases D>oeb®C Lo J°GUCLZDHTC 2016-17 C°d<

involving the Department of Family Services | IMPc>®DAC Aocnpbd® o
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related to family protection matters. What
specific challenges does your department
face in protecting the rights of children and
youth? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Of the 68 to
70, depending on the year, percentage, one of
the main challenges is that our social workers
are generalist social workers. Not only do
they handle about 500 cases a year, so the
actual percentage of our child cases are only
13 percent where the advocate is office is
involved, it may be 60 percent of the cases
that the advocate has, but it’s about 13
percent of our department’s child work.

However, our social workers also have adult
cases. The adult cases are climbing up over
the child cases. We’re seeing some serious
growth in more and more adults being
referred to the department and it makes it
very challenging on a day-to-day basis.
Being especially a lone social worker in one
community with a supervisor located in
another community, 24/7 on call, the
demands become very stressful, I would say,
on our frontline worker. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Quassa, go ahead.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you. |
also thank you for the clarification. As
Members, it is better to have a clear
understanding on those matters and that’s
how it should be.

(interpretation ends) Just going back to the
representatives, again, your 2016-17 annual
report noted that 9 percent of individual
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advocacy cases involving the Department of
Family Services related to adoption. Can you
elaborate further on what kinds of issues are
raised with respect to adoption and more
specifically with respect to custom adoption
practices in Nunavut? (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’m going to refer this question to
Ms. Matte.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Matte, go ahead.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for the question. Although adoption is a
much smaller portion of the cases we deal
with, some of the issues that arise that
require our additional assistance include
issues such as delays in processing of
paperwork. Sometimes families are in the
process of trying to go through with an
adoption and they feel like the process is
taking a very long time. They are wondering
what the delay is and how to get additional
help to move that forward.

With custom adoption, because that is
managed through custom adoption
commissioners and not directly by the
department, our involvement looks different.
Generally, when it comes to a custom
adoption situation, we help people connect
with information, how you go about
performing a custom adoption and who they
can connect with, what that process looks
like, and making sure they are connected to
the adoption commissioner. It’s not a
Government of Nunavut service and so we
are not usually involved directly in that
whole process because it looks different and
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is operated by non-government service
providers. I hope that answers your question.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you. My
next question is for Family Services.

Members in the House have asked numerous
times about the issue of custom adoption in
the Inuit way. Perhaps I’ll speak English in
regard to that. (interpretation ends) What
consideration has been given to amending the
Aboriginal Custom Adoption Recognition
Act, specifically with respect to improving
the situation for children and youth who may
be affected? By the way, the legislation is
currently being implemented. (interpretation)
I hope that was understandable. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. For
amending the Custom Adoption Act, I
believe my Minister has committed to doing
SO.

As the advocate’s office has mentioned, the
commissioners are independent of
government to a degree. However, we are
responsible for the training of the
commissioners, and obviously need to amend
or update the Act. The difficulty would be
that we are a public government and so it
requires commitment by the Inuit
organizations to be involved and perhaps the
communities to be involved in identifying
what those customary issues are, especially
given today where our population numbers
are higher and we’re not as familiar even
with our own family members given distance
and intermarriages to other communities. The
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customary piece is changing to the times.

We need to be very careful, committed to the
Inuit, hearing the Inuit organizations and the
communities, Inuit themselves before any
amendments can be made. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following my list of names, Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good afternoon. My question is in regard to
page 18 of your office’s 2016-17 annual
report. It notes that 60 percent of individual
advocacy cases in that year involved the
Department of Health while, on page 25 of
your 2017-18 annual report, it notes that 31
percent of individual advocacy cases in that
year involved the Department of Health. In
your view, what accounts for the decrease in
the number of individual advocacy cases
involving the Department of Health from
year to year? Thank you, Iksivautaq.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. We have no way of predicting
what types of cases are going to come to our
attention year after year. It is dependent on
an individual’s circumstances and their
individual struggles. There will be some
variance year after year.

We have no further comment, I think, than
just to say that it is the nature of what comes
forward is very unpredictable. The only thing
that we have seen pretty steady over the three
and a half years that we have been open in
terms of individual advocacy cases is that we
are dealing with the Department of Health
quite a bit consistently. They tend to hold
that second spot in terms of the number of
cases that are brought forward year after
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year, following the Department of Family
Services.

Beyond that, it would be pure guesswork for
me to speculate why that shift year after year
in terms of the number of health-specific
cases that are brought forward. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As 1 said earlier, my second question around
this is that a lot of these advocacy cases
involving the Department of Health related to
rehabilitation services. Can you provide
some examples of what your office provides
advocacy support for in this area? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I am going to refer this question
to Lynn Matte. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you
for the question. Many of our cases that
involve rehabilitation or occupational therapy
services are usually a coordination of
services piece. It often involves other
departments, such as the Department of
Education, and making sure that the right
supports are in place for a young person so
that their physical needs are being met so that
they can succeed in another location such as
the school. Sometimes it is that connection of
services that would be the lead item under
that particular service area. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to ask the Department of Health:
how has the Department of Health worked
with the Office of the Representative for
Children and Youth to develop ways to
improve rehabilitation services to children
and youth? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
have to say that I don’t have the details
specifically related to the rehab in the school
settings that was referred to in the example,
but we can have that conversation with the
representative of the children and youth
office and get you some information and we
will also look to see what sort of actions
Health has taken. At this moment I can’t
respond to that. I don’t know the
circumstances behind the rehab incidents that
have occurred. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
While we’re on the topic of schools and
advocacy, one of the things that have been
spoken about quite a bit in the past is the lack
of assessments on children who are suffering
with their schoolwork and their placement.
What kind of involvement does your office
have in this area? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. It has absolutely been cases come
to our office’s attention with respect to lack
of assessments for young people on their

A/ QU>CSe: sdhbeal®, M Sa b,

5@ bbse (OLANJC): sdyeal™®, AbY/RDCS,
4o <dsbS PO A IS JANSLLEPE Sbose
4 o455 MDA dC AcnSbNSbSbeC<e
PLLSPDANG® APPS0C LPdbD 0> CLbd<
JBPCNAPTa SN ADYEN? Sd*al™,
AbIRDCsb,

AP/ RXPCSe: sghoq [, [N >,

>6pe (ORMNJO): Sdal™®, Ab/RP>CSe,
D>bP*a D%, Cbd<d AcdHL*NC
APLE* @ bPC CLedd <%PN<seNcNosIC
Acto<id*a. Coa DPcD'LD>eb>| C
>OGHCDeb>*LC CAL CAbI PLLSIAN
D>SbSbNN<5NJC CAL*a DNDLSRNPNGC
Do~ GLC2C SPaS5CH Sb.oA“c CCsb
AbIPIADHECSLMLC. PP<o Lea s
P>t oM bd SbD>ALE*M*abd Sbost
ARNSbSoSL ML CLbdo™L <DCPSheCYLYo.
sdtal™®, Ab/RPCSe,

A/ U>CSe: sdhbeql®, [ Sa b,

5@ bbse (OLANJC): sdyeal™®, AbYRDC® CAL
Acto<sdcnoNo dyD>PIA“SC CALDS
DsbD>PSbse/LLLAbbENJC IDASYLYN o
Sb>ANSTSe APYSo CAL®a Ac o <5
<APPNSH®IG® Sbose Ac >NNSHeC<E
NNGSé CLDOLS Mehoc? sdyeal™, Ab/RPCs®,

A/ RUCS®: sdhoql®, N LeaDe-Ic®,

LbobDe-dc® OLNNJO): sdy®al®, Ab/RPCSe,
CALc D<JNYDHSHLE AL
ShD>ANSBCDE* P HSa*® 0 [ 5dbDC A 5J

95




educational needs. Through our individual
advocacy work, when those types of issues
come forward, we would work with the
young person, the family, the school, and the
other service providers to secure
appointments or assessments depending on
the nature of the case brought forward, but
we have absolutely done some work in that
area on an individual advocacy basis.

Now, what we do with our individual
advocacy work, our individual advocacy
work also feeds into our systemic work. Our
systemic work, we identify systemic issues
through many sources. Our individual
advocacy data is a big source for that. When
we spot an issue on an individual basis, that
rears its head several times, then that gets
carried over into the systemic database. We
have absolutely done work in this area on an
individual advocacy basis and we have it
noted in our systemic database along with a
significant number of other issues, but it is
there for recording for future consideration
for either informal systemic advocacy review
or formal. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for your response. I think this is
an area that will require a lot more focus on.
Going forward, is that something that you
can continue to work with the departments
with, like the Department of Health or with
Health, to ensure those kinds of assessments
are going to be something that’s regularly
done? Is that the influence that you can have
on that system? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. On a go-forward basis, any
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individual matters that a young person is
struggling with pertaining to assessments,
our child and youth advocacy specialists deal
with that.

In terms of the bigger piece, which I think is
more in line with what your question is
speaking to, can we? Yes, we can. We do
have that authority to work on those bigger
picture issues. I need to reiterate to the
Committee that we have a significant number
of systemic issues identified in that database
and we have two systemic team members.

Whether or not when we get to it, if we get to
it, there is big competition in that database
for our staff’s attention from a systemic
perspective and very limited resources to
carry out those reviews because those
reviews... . First of all, systemic issues get
categorized. Are they formal? Do they
require a formal investigation to resolve or
can they be resolved informally? It would
depend on each issue; its categorization.

Those informal issues, because that list is so
extensive, we didn’t want to just depend on
conducting formal reviews that would take a
year and a half and our full staff complement
in terms of systemic advocacy to complete.
We really wanted to get a bit innovative,
which is why we have the other
categorization system that says, “Okay, this
is an informal issue and maybe we can move
this issue forward at proactive meetings with
departments and in another way.”

There are different ways of doing that, but
even there’s competition in terms of our staff
time for advancing all those issues that are
categorized as informal. We absolutely have
the authority within the scope of our mandate
to look into matters like that. It is a matter
that is recorded in our systemic database and
that is very important and an issue here in
Nunavut.
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I can’t comment further than that in terms of
next steps of our office in terms of a selection
of a systemic issue for an investigation
following the mental health review, but it’s
definitely one that is on our list for
consideration. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) The next name I have on
my list is Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first line of questioning is a major issue
facing the youth of our territory and that is
the high rates of child sexual abuse in
Nunavut. I’'m a bit surprised that there was
no reference to it in the representative’s
annual report or in the Department of Family
Services’ director of child services’ annual
report.

Just to save some time, I’'m going to pose a
three-part question and this is for the child
and youth representative.

Have you had any cases specifically related
to child sexual abuse and, if so, how many
and are we speaking a few, a lot, or do you
get them every year? The next question is:
what are your observations, views, or
analysis of the current situation? The last
question is: what recommendations would
you have on how to address this issue and
means to find a possible solution? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. McNeil-Mulak, as
Mr. Lightstone said, that was a three-part
question, so if you would like to answer in
three parts, I’1l leave it up to you.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I want to address your first
question which is: do we have cases that
pertain to child sexual abuse in Nunavut in
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our individual advocacy work? We
absolutely do. I don’t have those exact
numbers to provide you today, but it is
definitely an issue that we have dealt with
and supported families through on different
occasions. It is also one of those issues in
responding to Ms. Angnakak’s question and
describing a little bit about systemic
advocacy because it has appeared multiple
times through our individual advocacy cases
and we looked at that data to help inform our
systemic work. It is an issue that has carried
over and is noted in our systemic database
for future consideration of review, with a
tremendous amount of other issues, I might
add.

I can’t speak to the analysis and
recommendations. That would be in and of
itself what would be produced by a systemic
review on the subject matter. I can comment
and say that we are, as an advocacy office,
aware of the issue. We are very happy that
the issue has been addressed in this House.
We would support continued discussion
around it. We work to reduce the stigma that
surrounds that topic as a community and to
keep the conversation going.

Our staff did over the past year, which you
will see reported on in our next annual report,
participate in such things as the development
of “Our Children, Our Responsibility,” the
workshop to talk about preventing child
sexual abuse, and we took part in ITK’s
meeting in November 2018 on prevention of
child sexual abuse. All of this gets added into
our database and those activities of some of
our work that we started in that area and
some of the initiatives led by other
organizations that we have been a part of in
the last fiscal year will be reflected in our
next annual report. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. I hope that you
will have the ability to conduct a systemic
review on that issue at a later date.

I would like to pose the same line of
questioning to the Department of Family
Services. I would first like to enquire why
there’s... . I believe there might be one minor
reference to child abuse rates in the territory
in your annual report, but [ was curious why
the Department of Family Services has not
decided to address the issue full-on in the
annual report and what their observations,
views, and analyses of the current situation
are and once again, what recommendations
that they may have on how to address the
issue and find a solution. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Maybe I’ll just add to
Mr. Lightstone’s question. I’1l take that
question in light of the department’s
relationship with the representative. I’m just
trying to keep the focus on the
representative’s office. I understand this is an
important issue, but in respect of the
relationship that your department has with
the office and Mr. Lightstone’s questions on
this issue, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I would
consider this topic one of my speciality areas
and one of the main things that I would be
committed to in regard to our department,
particularly the Child and Family Services
Division and our working with the office of
the child and youth advocate. This is where
we totally agree on listening to the voice of
the child or youth. This is where our
department’s concentration is perhaps not so
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much in an annual report but in how we do
our work.

For me, the importance is in training our
frontline. I do not have faith in our
communities’ ability to hear children because
of how sensitive sexual abuse is to a child. It
is something experienced by a child at too
early an age where they can’t even formulate
the proper language, perhaps. The number
one importance is finding that voice for the
child and that would be through training not
just social workers, police officers, teachers,
health professionals, anywhere where there is
contact with the child. All of those members
of the public, everyone should be attuned to
what the signs and symptoms of child abuse
are. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank you, Ms. Niego, for that response. |
would like to move on now to another topic.
A common theme that seems to be repeated
in the representative of children and youth’s
annual reports is the high rates of turnover
and the rates of transient employees. I would
like to ask if the representative would be able
to provide us some examples of specific
positions that are being referred to. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. We do have some specific cases
that we can walk you through to give some
examples of turnover and vacancies and the
impact that that’s having on the lives of
young people in this territory. I’'m going to
refer the question to Lynn Matte and she will
walk us through those. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) There are
several different positions that are regularly
raised to our attention through our individual
advocacy cases and in fact some of the
individual advocacy cases that we have
worked on have been group advocacy
regarding vacant positions. We have
monitored staffing processes for certain
positions when those are raised to our
attention as a concern. Some examples would
include mental health positions in
communities and community social service
worker positions.

We’ve also had a case where we have
monitored the community school counsellor
position, the Inuusilirijiit Hiniarvimmi. I
apologize; I’'m probably mangling that word.
I should have memorized it, the formerly
known as school community counsellor
position. Those are some of the positions
where our office has seen vacancies or
turnover lead to either a complete lack of
services or delays in the ability to access
services for young people. (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to next pose my questions to the
Department of Health, the Department of
Family Services, and the Department of
Education. I would like to enquire what
specifically each of those departments has
done to address the high turnover rates and
vacancies of those three positions that have
been identified. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will start with the
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Department of Education this time.

Ms. Flaherty: Oh, us? (interpretation) I
apologize. I was expecting you to start from
the other end.

(interpretation ends) We do have
Hinniarvimmi Inuusilirijiit in all the schools
and the RCYO, Inuusilirijiit llinniarvimmi,
you stole a PY from us. (interpretation) All
of the schools have counsellors at this time.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) In terms of the question
posed by Mr. Lightstone, we will go to the
Department of Health, Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We’re in a constant state of recruitment and
trying all kinds of approaches that we think
might work around the retention of it. Some
of the positions... . Well, most of the
positions in the area of mental health are
short across the country, so we are competing
with the workplace that provides
opportunities that are in other places. We’re
doing our best to try to promote the value of
the work up here and the breadth of
experience that health professionals can get.

At the same time, for every strategy that we
implement, we try to look to see what local
community members can be used to serve in
those positions. My understanding is that
we’re at the point now where we have 50
percent of our mental health outreach
workers who are from the communities and
they speak Inuktitut. All of our community
oral health coordinators, for example, are
local staff. All of our community health
development coordinators that plan out the
health care needs of their communities are
local people.

We are working also with colleges and
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institutions to try to see if we can implement
programs in all fields so that there is less
reliance on having to bring people up here
who are of a transitory nature. Any ideas that
people have are welcome and we will
continue to pursue that. It is absolutely
critical and it is critical because it affects the
patients first of all, but it’s also critical
because when you work with an inadequate
number of people, it puts pressure on those

people too and they burn out. Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) This time around you’re
the last department up, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) There are
several things that the department is doing to
try to address the rates of turnover. Firstly,
we have just started running open job
advertisements, building up a pool of
applicants of CSSWs into our social work
community. It is the first time, so we will see
how it goes. It will take some time to build
that first pool and then maintain it.

We also are working with the college in
support of the social worker program. This
summer we have five, I believe, of the
students entering their practicums with our
department. We’re almost at the finalization
of our organizational review. We may need
to improve child and family services; how it
fits within the department.

We have been improving our training and
supports for staff. Upon reviewing exit
interviews of staff who leave, I have taken
those quite seriously and recognize that there
is not enough communication amongst our
staff and interdepartmentally. One way is to
concentrate on the performance management
process, ensuring that supervisors are
continually meeting with their direct reports.
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Additional to that, what will assist is our new
database, our child and family services
database. It is a roles-based system, which
means that the frontline person in the
community will have certain access; the
supervisor has access, and the manager, and
so on. There’s immediate access to the
information in that community, even if
you’re dislocated from it, so that better
supports and immediate help for a
community, we can better monitor data out
of the communities. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
thank all the officials for those responses. |
would like to move on to my next line of
questioning.

Part of the representative’s mandate is
outreach and passing on this valuable
information to children and youth. I
appreciate that the Department of Education
has worked with the representative in
developing the Mosesie Speaks Up book for
grade 3 students.

I would like to enquire with the Department
of Education if they’re working with the
representative’s office to incorporate their
roles into the curriculum. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. Flaherty.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I also thank you for the
question. That’s not the only book that has
been published. We have others that will be
used in the schools by the teachers. There are
also other books that were published
regarding one’s body parts and their
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functions. There are also books that are
child-friendly about appropriate touching and
other things to be aware of as a child.
Further, if this body is mine, then any parts
ought not to be touched inappropriately by
others. Those are the kinds of resources that
we use in the school system. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Flaherty, for that response. I
would just like to reiterate my question. I
believe that the roles of the child and youth
representative and their office are extremely
important, and I think that it’s also very
important that children and youth understand
the representative’s role. I would like to
know if the Department of Education is
working to build that into the current
curriculum. I’ll ask the Department of
Education again if they’re working with the
office of the child and youth representative to
do so. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Flaherty.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you for
your question. Usually when the
representative comes into the communities,
they go to the school. I’1l also indicate that in
2018-19 the communities that have been
visited are Qikiqtarjuaq, Arviat, Pangnirtung,
Kimmirut, Pond Inlet, and Sanikiluaq, and in
2019 they also visited Igloolik, Grise Fiord,
and Naujaat.

I would like to refer the question to my
assistant, Ms. MacMillan, to provide
information about some of the other
programs that we have.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) In
addition to those programs, we also work in
collaboration with the representative’s
offices in regard to the youth conferences,
which again focus on positive empowerment,
resiliency, and mentorship roles for our
youth.

In addition to that, we have the “Be Safe”
training kits that are focused for children
aged five to nine. All of our grade 4 teachers
were trained in regard to this program and
that is part of the curriculum and
strengthening the child sexual abuse
prevention efforts.

As well, at the high school level we have the
Aulajaaqtut program, which again focuses on
empowerment, resiliency, and developing
those sorts of improvements and supports for
our students. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to thank the department for that
information. I’m just curious if all of those
programs that were described actually
explain the role of the Office of the
Representative for Children and Youth, and
explain what they do and how to contact
them if ever need be. I think it’s essential to
incorporate that information into the
curriculum so that every teacher in Nunavut
will teach children about the office of the
children and youth representative.

Having specific programs is great, but if
having it specifically in the curriculum at
every grade or every other grade to
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reintroduce this information as the children
grow older, I think, would be an ideal
situation to really solidify this amongst our
youth. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I think that kind of
sounds like a suggestion for the department.
Ms. Flaherty, do you care to respond?

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Well, like we
heard this morning from the representative,
they go to 12 communities every year as part
of their mandate and they go and talk to the
schools on what they do. As part of their
mandate, they do their own presentation in
the schools to the students on what they do as
representatives and the fact that children’s
voices need to be heard. We each have our
own responsibilities and we want our
students to learn what we teach, especially
the students in the higher grades. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone, are you done? Okay. Following
my list of names, Ms. Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) Reading
the report on pages 26 and 27 on the
statistics, I have a question. Was the survey
done in-house or was it done independently?
That’s my first question, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Towtongie is
referring to the client satisfaction survey
that’s summarized on pages 26 and 27 of the
2017-18 annual report. Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Initially the client satisfaction
survey was done in-house. We had an
opportunity to rehire one of our summer
students and support the student as they
continued their education, so they initiated
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the survey for us. Since then, it has been
contracted out of our office because the
student is no longer available to us to support
that area of our work.

Another thing that I want to add is that this
satisfaction survey wasn’t just a point-in-
time survey. These satisfaction surveys are
conducted for every case that’s closed within
our office, so they’re ongoing with each case
closure. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for that response. I like to deal
with realistic figures, so it was quite rosy
when I read the survey.

However, my question is on page 25 of the
2017-18 annual report. Figure 6 indicates
that a number of individual advocacy cases
involving the Department of Health related to
out-of-territory care. Can you explain how
your office follows up on cases which are
outside of the territory of Nunavut and how
you work with agencies in other jurisdictions
to address individual advocacy case issues?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Our office absolutely supports
young people from Nunavut who have to
leave the territory in order to receive
services. If it’s a child or a youth whose
home base is here in the territory and they
can’t be provided with the services by a
given department and are sent out, then we
can absolutely support them. The support
might look a little differently because our law
here isn’t allowed to cross the border when
that young person crosses the border. It looks
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a little bit differently. Rather than dealing
directly with a service provider on the
ground, a third party that’s delivering
services on behalf of the GN, we still work
with the GN, the department back here on the
ground to obtain information and updates and
work on the file.

In addition to that, our office is a member of
the Canadian Council of Child and Youth
Advocates. As a member of that council, we
have entered into a memorandum of
understanding with advocacy offices that
exist in all other jurisdictions across the
country. That allows us to seek support and
receive support from other advocacy offices
in other jurisdictions as well. Those two
things combined absolutely allow us to
support young people’s advocacy needs
when they are sent outside of the territory.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just an observation: Inuit children are used to
traditional food. I wonder, within that
memorandum of understanding, the needs of
a child are considered such as traditional
foods.

My question is, on page 19 of the 2016-17
annual report, it notes that 14 percent of
cases involving the Department of Health
related to general health services were
usually accessed through community health
centres. Can you describe some of the
challenges faced by health centre staff in
providing specific services to children and
youth, and how the department has worked
with the Office of the Representative for
Children and Youth to find ways to address
these challenges? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
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(interpretation ends) The way you worded it,
I’m assuming that’s directed to the
Department of Health. Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’'m
assuming the stats are referring to the 14
percent of the cases that were dealt through
the patient advocate office. We see thousands
of cases coming through to the health centres
and in the health care service. With your
permission, Mr. Chairman, I would like my
colleague, Charleen Austin, the ADM of
Operations, to shed some more information
on that topic. Thank you.

Ms. Austin: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Hold on. (interpretation) Thank
you. (interpretation ends) Ms. Austin, just
wait for the red light to come on.

Ms. Austin: Thank you very much, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the question. I
would argue that in the last two to three years
in particular, in the time frame that the
representative has been working in
advocating for children and youth, it has
been some of the most challenging years in
health care across the territory. As a
department, we continue to struggle to staff
at minimum requirements, but rest assured
that that is not a problem that we take lightly.

When it comes to accessing services for
Nunavummiut and our youth and children,
we will provide what services we can within
the territory. We are very committed to
ensuring that the services that we need to
access out of the territory, we are working to
finding craftier ways to do this. Some
examples of that would be continuing to
expand our out-of-territory service list, in
particular with mental health. We are looking
at the Child First Initiative in particular to
access psychological services for children
and youth.
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In addition, we are looking at a robust
recruitment and retention strategy, including
our Nunavut and Inuit educational upgrading
program. With a shortage of staff across the
territory, it is very important that we cultivate
programs that can put jobs back in the
communities and have positions in health
that are led by Nunavut Inuit. Again, as
Deputy Ministry Brown has said earlier, we
are continuing to work towards more
Nunavut Inuit employment and any
suggestions to our department are welcome,
including those from the office of the
representative. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is directed to the Department of
Education.

Page 23 of the report, 2017-18 and again
page 20 of the report, 2016-17; in 2017-18
this describes a mental health assessment on
a child and the subsequent actions of
education staff, the DEA, and community
social service worker; 2016 describes a case
of a child with physical challenges who was
unable to access reliable transportation to
school. The representative’s report indicates
that these case examples demonstrate
inadequate service coordination.

Can you describe what steps the department
takes to ensure efficient coordination and
communication when education staff work
with other service providers to access and
provide the necessary support and services to
children and youth in the education system?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. That is my final
question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. Flaherty.

APba AY®NCS A <<Pb H<I®DC,

ASbZDN SN 00 ST Aoto®

Ao <®NNNP<ST. A®ba ALPNP_HIGEC
0. 2Ll ALLADBNLENIS Acn<ho®
NePJCC oac®o ASba Abo®

NP SPRC>Ja GY%DaC. 0a Pt IC Ao® 0>
> CDcSONE Ca Mo CD< ¥l >Gpbe
D>SbSbeCs*LE PSbebP>tLo¢ b CALASG®
ArAPPNCN R <L b HIGEC Ao*a®

ASPba AbP*a ®Da € < cAN*a. ASbC>oNC
CAbd< PLLDS NI AcnSbNsbP*a DAC,
sd*al™®, Ab/RPCSe,

Ab/RPCSL: sdheal, [ CDI*,

cpDes, OLANJC): sdyal™, AWRDCSe, Dac
Ao <IN red® oML DGR,

L<AL™L 23 DobbedloSoc 2017-18-c\% <L
L<AL*L 20 DobbcdlMoSo® 2016-17-T.
C¥Roc 2017-18-T Dobbsbse/LLLC AP
AfLcnZDTaP<l* <L

b oACDPC>TSL LD Ac®o<dDcnAbd® of,
Ac®o<d®Icnerbdt bNLr*M* 0 <L
Aocnrlc 2016 Dabbsb®d® AP/ NrLJC
<ISPNct™ CA%a
AKAC<RP D RNEN bSO,

DY D INSNShSa >N, PLLI®PN>< >obb e
DSbse/LNC CALACIVJS NepLseNLLC
drlso™Meo® ANCNG>NC

JPINCPNL* oMo

aOaA®/J*a®PY Ac*o D nrbdc
Sb.oAcP>P<LLLC CLbd<
DP_IICENCHN<<Eb S LC
DNDLSbNNCN<I<Eb HSL+LC5?

Ao <D nrbde ASba ALSN*NC JP*NC
AcCnLA*ag AcnsbNsbrdSbse NN
ANMNGDNDGA 5Ne APYS0C L2dPD o 5
Ac®o %D 0%? sdyeal®, AWRDCS,
Pl D% Ca. JA®INL.

AP/ PCSe: [ A DN Ac®o D nrbds,
™ &cPnN.

112




Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you for
your question. What you are talking about
and looking at the report, all those people got
help.

(interpretation ends) As I mentioned this
morning, anything that is coming out of the
RCYOQ'’s office is flowed through the Partner
Relations Division, and from the partner
relations, it then goes to the principals of the
schools where the child may be, and then the
regional school operations is included in that
request. The request is dealt with from the
RCYO directly to the principals.

That communication opens up, begins, and
then until the closure of the case, then once
the case is closed, I’'m finally informed that it
was dealt with and how it has been resolved
or if there are additional supports that need to
be in place. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before we move on to
the next name on my list, I just wanted to
follow up on something that was mentioned
earlier. In terms of the representative and
your office, government employees are one
of the biggest sources of your information or
your contacts.

In the past years, in your experience, have
you seen any cases where government
employees were discouraged from contacting
your office, whether it be, let’s say for
example, a teacher or a nurse or anyone? Has
that come to your attention and/or have there
been any cases where there have been
repercussions or negative consequences for
government employees who have flagged
issues to your office? Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. The first part of your question,
yes, it has come to our attention on occasion
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that employees have been discouraged from
contacting our department. I’m happy to
report that it’s not a frequent occurrence and
when it has happened, we addressed it
immediately and elevated it within the
department and the challenge was resolved.
To my knowledge, there have never been any
repercussions experienced by an employee as
a result of contacting our office. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you. Just to
follow up on something you mentioned
earlier, you mentioned that persons who
contact your office are protected or there are
measures in place to protect them. I believe
you referred to the legislation, but it might be
something useful to clarify for anybody who
may be listening who might be interested in
contacting your office, if you can maybe
provide a bit more information in that regard.
Ms. Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Anyone is able to make contact
with our office regarding an issue relating to
child or youth. That can be a family member,
a foster parent, a community member, a child
or youth themselves, or a government service
provider. We accept any and all contacts and
we encourage them.

When anyone reports an issue to our office,
we are held under very strict confidentiality
provisions outlines in the Representative for
Children and Youth Act. There are only a
very few exceptions to the provisions to
maintain confidentiality within our office.
For instance, if it’s disclosed to us that a
young person is in need of care or protection,
we do have a duty in that case to report that.
There are a few exceptions, but they are very
limited.

In our Act it is actually outlined that it is an
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offence to punish or impose penalties on a
person that makes a report to our office to
obstruct, hinder, or resist the representative
in exercising her powers or to refuse to
comply with the lawful requirements under
the Act or to give false information to the
representative. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Thank you for
clarifying that. I thought it was something
important to maybe reiterate or get out there.

We are about to go on a break, but before we
do, Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chairman. My first
question doesn’t have much to do with what
is in the report, but your office deals with the
rights of children and youth in Nunavut.

First of all, I want to ask about children and
youth out there that we are planning for and
thinking of their future. This is my first
question for the office about children and
youth. If a youth or child doesn’t go to
school, how do you deal with and think of
that child in terms of not getting services,
neglect, or issues related to safety? How does
your office deal with students or youth and
children whot aren’t in school? I’ll speak in
English. (interpretation ends) Would it be
considered child neglect if this child or youth
is not attending school? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. We have absolutely dealt with
individual advocacy cases that have pertained
to non-attendance of students at school for a
whole host of reasons. I’'m going to refer the
question to Ms. Matte and she can walk
through, maybe, an example or two of what
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those cases entail and what interventions our
office has put in place to help support that
young person.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I will answer
this in two parts. The first part is, under the
Child and Family Services Act, which is the
responsibility of Family Services, it lays out
grounds for what would constitute a child in
need of protection. Non-attendance at school
by itself does not necessarily constitute a
child in need of protection. That, in
conjunction with some other things that may
be going on in a young person’s life, may
and is the responsibility of that department to
make a determination.

It requires some good communication
between educators and social workers to
make a decision about whether or not this is
a child in need of protection. We all
recognize that there are some tensions with
the education system given the history of our
territory and the realities of what residential
school has done to families and relationships.

In situations where we have helped young
people who have been dealing with concerns
around non-attendance, most of those cases
have actually been cases where the young
person has contacted us, worked with us
directly, to say that they were experiencing
barriers to attend school and that they wanted
support and assistance to overcome those
barriers.

Some of the barriers included things like
concerns around bullying. They didn’t feel
comfortable going to school, even travelling
to and from school, and what could be done
in their community to reduce the bullying
and make them feel comfortable and safe
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going to the school. Another example was
transportation. That one was in an annual
report and it was resolved successfully where
reliable transportation was put in place.

Another example is around a young person
who was experiencing some difficulties
attending school because they have younger
siblings and sometimes the family relies on
them for assistance with child care so the
parents can go off to work. We were trying to
work with them to figure out what other
supports could be put in place to assist that
family so that the young person could attend
school.

Those are some examples of situations where
we have tried to help with school attendance.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chairman. Just to add
another question to the response, my next
question is for the Depasrtment of Family
Services. Looking at the entire territory of
Nunavut, are there enough foster homes for
children in care or is there a shortage? If you
are short of homes or families that can adopt
or foster children in Nunavut, can you
identify some numbers for us? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego: Thank you, Iksivautaag. For
example, in one community we may have
enough foster parents for today for the
number of kids requiring fostering. However,
every child is different, so therefore they
have different needs. We try to manage the
needs of the child with the availability of the
different types of foster families we have.
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We may have enough, but it could never be
enough given the very individual needs of
each child. I would say that goes pretty much
across the territory.

Again, the issue of training for foster parents
has already been raised. We could increase
our capacity in training our foster parents,
giving them the proper tools, providing them
with the equipment. There are a number of
areas around foster homes that need some
work, although we may have enough for the
current number of children in foster homes.
The more we have, the more likely we can
keep children from requiring higher levels of
care, such as out-of-territory.

The more preventative work we can do leads
to less on the serious end, but if I may, can I
refer to my colleague?

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
White.

Ms. Henderson-White: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you very much for the
opportunity to talk about foster homes. As
my DM has indicated, we’re always in need
of foster homes. I’m also very grateful that
you have mentioned adoption and adoptive
homes.

I think that given the opportunity to speak
about this, it is very important for people in
the community to reach out to open their
homes not only for foster care but long-term
planning and support care for children, which
includes the availability of adoptive homes.
That’s one area that we would like to see
develop, that we would like to have more of
them developed further so that we are able to
care for more children on a permanent basis
within the territory through adoptive homes
and foster homes. Thank you very much for
raising that. It’s an issue that we would like
to raise awareness around and encourage
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families to reach out to become not only
foster homes but adoptive homes as well.

As we mentioned before, we do need homes.
We do need homes that can provide different
levels of care, higher levels of care, and that
will become part of our prevention resources
within the territory so that going forward, we
can develop capacity in the community to
provide that much-needed support. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’1l ask this next question in
English because I just couldn’t think of a
translation on the term I’1l be using.

The question I have to the representative for
children and youth office is, and no doubt
this is evident in Nunavut, although it is not
indicated in the report again, I did skim
through the reports, but I did not come across
it. How does your office deal with, in blunt
terms, spoiled brats? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I believe you’re talking
about parenting or parenting skills. I believe
that question could fall under parenting. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I think this is a good opportunity
for me to share that there are some
restrictions in terms of the scope of our
mandate. One of those restrictions is that our
office does not get involved in private family
matters or disputes between private family
matters. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak.
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Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I guess I can thank the office for
the response. I have this question to the
departments, and with that question that I
posed to the office earlier, the question I have
now is to all departments.

As the Representative for Children and
Youth’s office is devoted to ensuring the
rights of young Nunavummiut are respected,
and you come across young individuals,
whether it be children or youth, that are
presented to your offices, how do you deal
with that matter? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. (interpretation ends) Maybe if
you could rephrase the question. What type
of youth in particular are you referring to?
Are you referring to youth who are
misbehaving or what? Maybe just be a little
bit more specific.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. For individuals in communities,
children or youth, as the term I use, “spoiled
brats,” are bullying other children or youth
that should also be respected, and if those
cases are brought to your office’s attention,
how do they work and deal with these
individuals, as it does no doubt impact the
other children and youth within the
community? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I guess this time we will
start with the Department of Justice. Ms.
Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you for the question.
Mr. House can respond to that if you will
allow him.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
House.
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Mr. House: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
could speak to my centre, the youth centre,
and how we deal with spoiled brats, I guess.
We have rules in place at the centre and the
kids are very good. They love structure.
When they come into the centre for the first
couple of weeks, they like to push and see
how far they can go. There are repercussions
for that. We’re not punitive in our things that
we do for them, but usually what we find is
that if a youth is misbehaving, there’s a
reason for it. We want to get to the reason for
why they’re misbehaving.

Every youth acts out. That’s just part of their
nature, but what I have found in my
experience is there’s always a reason for it.
The sooner we can figure out why they’re
misbehaving, the sooner we can help them
deal with that issue and get past it. That’s
how we would deal, at a centre level, with
what we called a “spoiled brat” or someone
that has never been told “no” or anything like
that.

It’s making them understand that there are
consequences for behaviours and just that no
matter what you have done or what you have
had done to you, you can get past it and it
can be made better. Usually with that, by the
time they get ready to leave us, the
unfortunate part is a lot of kids don’t want to
leave our centre and go back home, but we
have no choice because their sentence is
done. That’s what we do. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Education, Ms. Flaherty.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. If a bully has been identified
who refuses to attend school, the school
principal is informed and the child who is
bullying is given assistance. I would like to
have my assistant, Tracy MacMillan, respond
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as she has dealt with this issue. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) There
are a number of ways and strategies that our
schools and educators help to support these
students.

First of all, based on the Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit principles, each of our
schools work with our DEAs in communities
and they create an Inuuqatigiitsiarniq Policy,
and that is one strategy that outlines supports
for students.

In addition to that, it starts right at the
classroom level for teachers, and they can
differentiate the instruction, their
instructional strategies, and the resources that
they use in the classroom.

As well, in the school there are student
support teachers, our llinniarvimmi
Inuusilirijiit, and our school team members.
Again, they will come to work with teachers,
parents, and DEA members to find out and to
try to meet the needs of the child. Why is this
behaviour being exhibited?

Again, we also have different directives and
educational support services at the
department level. That child may need
auditory assistance or occupational therapy.
Again, there are many ways that we need to
reach the students and put supports in place.

Also, throughout the curriculum there are
support programs, such as RespectED, that
directly deal with bullying and positive
behaviours in schools. This program is
available to our teachers as well as our
students. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Health, Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. With
your permission, [ would like to ask my
colleague to respond to that question. Thank
you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Austin.

Ms. Austin: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to mention that Health recognizes
that the health of our children and youth is
dependent on the health of families in our
communities. As much as a focus, and the
focus today has been on youth and children,
it is important that Health acknowledge that
in the treatment, care, and wellness of
children and youth, we embrace families and
support families when we can. One example
of that would be the parenting program that
was developed, a culturally relevant
parenting program that developed with
Qaujigiartiit Health Research Centre in
Iqaluit as one example.

Furthermore, I think it’s important to
mention at this time that Health counts on the
interagency work within communities and
our partnerships with different departments
of government to coordinate services,
including Education and Family Services, but
community wellness plans in our
communities across the territory are very
important to our youth and children in
particular, especially those as mentioned
previously not attending school.

In those community wellness plans, in each
community there is at least one youth-centred
program and we welcome much more than
that. We know that youth have shared that
self-esteem and boredom are some of their
own personal concerns, along with
connecting with their family members and
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their elders. Again, Health is committed in
their community wellness plans to supporting
each community in whatever way we can.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Last
of all, Family Services, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. That’s unfortunately the case.
(interpretation ends) First I must say that that
is not a term we would ever use given that
our children and family services work is all
about high-needs children, vulnerable youth,
and those are more the terms, I think, we
would use in English. High needs could be
behavioural issues, medical, physical, and
emotional, but it is the core of what our child
role is within our department.

How we deal with the bullying aspect, if they
were behaving in such a way, obviously we
would assess for any underlying causes. We
would refer to any available resources in that
particular community. If there’s an
immediate safety concern, we would likely
look for having a potential forming under the
Mental Health Act where they would be
referred, either through Quality of Life or
mental health, or else if there’s a very
concerning safety element, then the police
could also be called. However, this is the
core of what we do and so every case, there’s
this assessment being done and handling the
child as one with a particular need.

If I can refer to my colleague. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
White.

Ms. Henderson-White: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. To add to what my DM has said,
we also have support services that we can put
in place for children that are acting out. As
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everybody has indicated, it is normally an
indication that something else is going on.

We have what we call voluntary service
agreements under the Act which allow us to
provide counselling referrals, support for
putting in interventions that improve the
quality of life for the family and for that
youth, and we have supports like, as I
indicated, referrals for mental health
supports, educational supports, and other
wraparound services. That is implicit and
part of our Act.

For older youth, we have support services
agreements for youth who come forward and
are experiencing challenges. For even older
youth who are over 19, we have extended
support agreements and we would provide
care and access to resources for them up to
age 26.

There are tools that we use to provide for
youth who are experiencing challenges and
acting out on that basis and seeking help.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you. Thanks to
all the departments for your responses on that
question. Before we move on, I’m going to
call a 10-minute break. (interpretation) We
will take a 10-minute break. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 15:28 and
resumed at 15:51

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
We’re now back, my colleagues and guests.
Our second thematic area, as we discussed
earlier, (interpretation ends) we were on the
thematic heading of advocacy and
relationship with government departments
and this was for individual and systemic
advocacy, and Mr. Mikkungwak.
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Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I would like to thank the
departments for the response. Regarding the
terminology I used, it was not in any way,
form, or shape to put down the children or
the youth of Nunavut; just terminology that
we commonly hear in remote communities,
but I just wanted to make that clear.

My last, final question here to the office of
the children and youth representative is: how
does your office advocate and ensure that
children and youth who have a disability,
either physically or mentally, are represented
fairly in our territory of Nunavut? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. To date we have provided
individual advocacy support to young
persons with disabilities. Some examples of
the type of supports that we provided and
issues that these young people have faced, as
already mentioned, access to school and
ensuring that access and attendance is
facilitated by ensuring the young person has
appropriate transportation to move to and
from school.

Also another item that came up is school
assessments. Another area that we provide
individual advocacy support in over the years
is ensuring that children and youth are
provided with the proper assessments so that
their needs are clearly identified, and then we
advocate for the proper supports to follow
those assessments.

There are a couple of examples of cases that
we have dealt with in the past for young
persons with disabilities. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

rpPeddse ONNNJO): sdyeal™, Ab/RPCe®,
L sdy*aleod Cdd Acné\©
P> b C DSb>/PCAC CAbJ<
AD%bPLEh, APYSa® Lbdb Doy 0a PHT>Ca®
bCCNALQ A AHD>E* P, DSbD>Y®eC® CAa
Ac® ID®CPSHECSLE pa <o >Ia®,

C*a DPPa*/Neb*cd“od o“cPNMREG.

Coa <A®INNLILYS PLLDAN>S NNGSA*LEOF,
NNSSA’ Sb.oACDSHECHLE CLbd< APIC
LbdD 5 <NPNES NMede ALLAIS 5, ShoSc
bLPL >R QL5 Shose PLLSI®C>CNLC
0aQ2? sdyeal®, AbYDCSH,

AP/ RRPCSe: L'a™ LoaD-c®.

Leab>e-dc® ONMNJO): Sdreal™, Ab/RPCeb,
CAPI< ALTed® 5N bLNLD>SHEC®IC dPN <
Nrede AFLPSHeaC <ALy BONCD>SHYL
CAPd< LdPDC QL5 DSbb>< 5%
Acto<dsd\*o DA% bP*a S HNe C*a. LbdbDse
A*PSGRNHENS Do

Ao <A <beCP*a So<SLE.

Lo Ac™UE NP PTRY Ao "G\
SboNM Ac/LcSLLE Sb>AN®C>o N SbeCC™NC
CL*a AcndnSbeC®/LY2¢ 4Qdo ¢
dorJeda. APJC Led* D=5 SboNr
Ac/L L L Pe-cSone
SbP>rNTCH>CNbCiodLC
Ab¥®ANH>NA DN, PUo<do
So>ANC>C Db 5.

CLbdd bLMSbeCSe L€ JaJse/dob [ bdbDC
AP 5 ISPNES ARNNEONE, sdbeal®,
AP RS,

126




Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak indicated that he’s done.

(interpretation ends) Before I move on to the
next name, | just wanted to throw in a
question based on your opening comments.
You mention on the third page of your
opening comments that you’re “extremely
concerned about the weakness of the current
system...” This is Family Services; “...the
current system to support vulnerable children
and families in need of protection and care.”
You go on to say, “There is a notable lack of
investment...” I found that interesting
because that is consistent with what I recall
hearing from the Department of Family
Services when it comes to budgeting and in
terms of the need for additional resources and
supports.

You mentioned that in your opening
comments and then on page 31 of the annual
report, you mention that your office met with
the Auditor General regarding... . It says in
here on page 31 of the 2017-18 report, “We
encouraged the OAG to consider a follow-up
audit on Child and Family Services.”

In terms of addressing that weakness of the
current system, what is needed? Is it more
money? Is it stronger oversight? In your
opinion, understanding that you are not the
department but you deal with the Department
of Family Services a lot, is it something else
that’s needed in terms of making the current
system stronger for children and youth? Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Absolutely, I think it’s fair to say
that our office and the department are on the
same page with respect to concerns raised
around capacity within the department. As
Ms. Niego clearly identified, one of the
issues, and we are in agreement with that, is
that the social services workforce in Nunavut
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are generalists, so there’s no specialty. Not
just the caseload that they carry but the
variety of cases can be quite complex.

There’s definitely, from our perspective, a
couple of things that we see the department
doing and are really great signs, but there’s
definitely additional significant investment
that needs to be dedicated to this department.
We’re pleased to hear from an operational
perspective, and we have been touch with
Family Services on this during several of our
proactive meetings, that they’re taking a look
at the reporting structure within the
department that, in our opinion, is
problematic. I think, through our
conversations with the department, they have
agreed to that. I’'m happy to hear Ms. Niego
in her response today report that that is
progressing, that review of the reporting
structure within the department.

Also, outside of that, there is, from where we
sit... . Although we didn’t do a
comprehensive workload assessment on the
department, it was one of recommendations
provided by the Auditor General of Canada
to this government that the department do
that. We see a tremendous burden on the
social services workforce, like I said, in
terms of the mix of cases, complexity of
cases, number of cases, and as Ms. Niego
stated, oftentimes these are sole positions
within some of the communities and they are
covering 24/7 care and supports for that
sector, and so then we get into issues like
burnout and vacancies. It’s kind of a vicious
cycle. There is definitely, in our opinion, a
need to review reporting structure and
definitely a need for this government to
invest in additional resources within child
protection.

We have had two auditor general reports
done in this area over the past several years.
The recommendations from the first report,
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there were so many, and there were so many
significant deficiencies that the OAG came
back again a couple of years later and still
found progress to be lacking. When we met
with the OAG, we did make that request. Of
course we can only put that forward. It’s up
to the OAG what they decide to investigate
in the territory, but it’s clear from our
individual advocacy cases and the systemic
cases that we see in this particular area that
many elements of those recommendations are
still outstanding today, all these years later.

What’s at risk is a segment of our population
that are most vulnerable. These are young
people who are in need of care and protection
due to various issues within the family unit
and they rely on government supports and
services at a very trying, vulnerable point in
their life. We’re finding that the system of
supports isn’t there to support them and so I
ask, “Who else do they have to turn to?”

Yes, we see some progress within the
department. Like Ms. Niego said, the
implementation and with our case
management system being in the testing
phase, I think, as of April 2, I’'m very pleased
to hear that. That’s definitely a step in the
right direction. Something we have
advocated for before is additional foster
supports.

To have three coordinators now, I think one
filled, two out for competition, if I’m correct,
these are positive steps in the right direction,
but they are baby steps. We need to act
swifter and invest more heavy in this
department and in this specific division with
this department in order to better protect the
most vulnerable young people in our society.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you for that response.
With the Committee’s blessing because the
Chairman will get things thrown at him if he
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hogs too many of the questions, but I would
just like to hear Family Services, not
necessarily a response to the same question
that I just posed to her, but the representative
mentions in her opening comments that
“From where we sit, the resources allocated
to this division,” this is the Child and Family
Service Division, I believe, “the resources
allocated to this division only allows for fires
to be managed rather than prevented.”

Ms. Niego, if you could maybe elaborate a
little bit in terms of the pressures within your
department. There’s a huge need for
proactive and preventative work, but at the
same time you have very immediate needs in
terms of fires, as it is put here, that need to be
put out in terms of trying to balance those
needs within your budget. If you could
explain to us what the situation is within
Family Services, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Maybe I’ll
start with the creation of Family Services out
of Health and Social Services in 2013. At
that time it was recognized that it would be a
no-cost separation and also recognized that it
would be Family Services’ shortcoming
within policy and corporate services.

With my year and a bit now in the
department, I recognized since then that there
have been multiple Ministers and multiple
DMs now in such a short time. Trying to
build stabilization into the department and
then finally coming upon the 2013 creation
document, realizing that perhaps increasing
our capacity in our corporate services area
will lead to better end policy, to better
verbalizing our needs onto paper.

I think our business cases have not done
ourselves justice because some of the
decisions through Finance and through the
government procedures, I would have to
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agree that perhaps our business cases weren’t
worthy of approving because of lack of data
or lack of information. The case management
records system being implemented will
greatly assist with capturing data for our
business cases.

I’m recognizing that we still have
shortcomings, but it would also help with
support from cabinet, from advocates, from
communities to help build the work that
Family Services does. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for
responding. I realized my question was quite
general, so I apologize for that. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you.
First of all, I would like to ask a question.
This morning you indicated that there are
approximately 100 files that have been
closed. I would like to refer back to it. There
are youth and children whose paperwork for
their care has taken longer than ususal.
(interpretation ends) I’m curious to know:
when do you determine the file should be
closed if a youth has been in the system for a
number of years? That’s my first question.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for that question. I just
want to start by reiterating our statistics on

our individual advocacy cases up to the end
of 2017-18.

By the end 0f 2017-18 we opened 200
individual advocacy cases. We closed 151 of
those and of the 151, 122 have been
successfully resolved. How do we close a
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case? The 122 that were closed are closed
under the category of successful resolution.
That means that the issue that was brought
forward to our attention has been dealt with
and addressed to our satisfaction, and we are
ready to close that case.

We can also close cases under other
categories, for instance, unable to contact. Of
the 151, 16 cases were closed because we
were unable to contact the client that we
were working with, and this can happen for a
wide array of reasons. Our staff wait 20
business days and are required to make at
least three contacts and be unable to reach
the person for three attempts before they
close. Those are not closed quickly by our
office.

Another reason that we will close a case is
because the client may decline advocacy
services and that can happen right at the
onset or it can happen at any point in the
advocacy file. We have discussions with the
client, but ultimately it is their decision if
they choose to close the advocacy file and
decline further services. The fourth reason
that we would close a case... . Sorry, I'm
going to back up for one second. Declining
services accounts for 4 cases of the 151 that
have been closed.

The fourth and final reason is that all
advocacy avenues have been exhausted by
our office and no resolution has been
attained, and that accounts for 9 cases of the
151 that have been closed.

We close depending on four different
categories and some parameters that are
assigned specifically to each of those
categories. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

CAPI 122 LOYD>c DPIAC LILD>ILc®IAC
JspsbNPeNgeNC>2os*LC. CAL
SH>AbHC>JNM o> (BPCC> Sedse
ALPyeNe ot JwpsbNPreNNZLSJC
LOYD>Ja st Coa Aba s,

LDPSbCCSTRJeCD>e PN BCONNHJC
sb>abbse/J*a AcLALSC 151-6¢> As<o. 16
LON<Sbc P>eC2C CAPIL
Do I 5<C
aoD>beo P a Ac AU LCECH>S ICH/*CDr®
ARNSbPIo. ARNG® P Hob PaeCPLANIES
A*LALPNONE DSH APLALSHEC S
SPoeCDLADCALES LIV D Do eg e aC
oy DE o N ARNNEONC,

LON<LLAcASC PLLDSCDJLJ* < AALLC,
Sb*LDA*abdC CALP oSbNcNJ*asLs*LC
AbSYC>JIL PSS 5N AALS®ANNLL.
CL>aDA%a LDPJ%asbeCAC AbseC>JLo o
AbI®CDOHEaPLI* TS HNP, LIZDWLLJCC DS
ARNSH®IC, PNAAbA*a S *LA.

QLY ATRUCCDSe NSLo® <LLse/PLJS,

C*a 151 APA™/LNo LD/LNo.

NSLE Ced<d Ab<se?seC>JNNPLACCLNe
GSePJNSNSe/IPC>o*MLLC. C*a 9-0¢ 151-
5.0 CALAND>I/LIS,

LD SPNCPILIS®, NNDLSeb*L oM Codd
LY NNNSHECHCDE GonPPeC, Sdbeq [,
AbYD>Csb,

AP/ RXPCSe: sdu2q [ ™ abr®.

132




Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I’'m just
thinking of youth that are located outside of
the territory and I know you mentioned that
there are other jurisdictions that the office
has to work with, but I’'m curious to know:
for those cases, how is the office notified in
terms of youth in care in those provinces, or
do you request for a log sheet or know how
many kids are outside of the territory? The
reason [ ask is [ want to know how long these
kinds of cases may be live if they’re outside
of the territory. (interpretation) Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. In terms of the management of the
caseload for services outside the territory,
responsibility for that is maintained by the
departments themselves specifically. In terms
of our involvement, supports, and cases that
are out of territory, we receive notice like we
do for all other cases that are inside the
territory. It could come from a service
provider. It could come from a young person
reaching out to us, a family member, or a
community member.

In terms of how long our cases, whether
they’re outside the territory or inside the
territory, are opened, it’s very much case-
specific is what we have learned. Initially we
tried to put some parameters before we had
some good experience under our belt in terms
of how long it should take us. Very quickly
we learned that that doesn’t apply to life
circumstances when it comes to young
people.

We can open and close a case as quickly as a
week or two, or we can keep a case open for
years on end. Our office has experienced
both ends of the spectrum and everything in
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between, and it just depends on the needs of
that individual young person and us and the
young person or family feeling comfortable
with case closure. We do not rush the closure
of our cases until we’re satisfied that the
issue has been resolved for the young person.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I’'m
curious in terms of youth that are outside of
the territory. How does the office advocate
for youth outside of the territory to protect
the culture and language they may be losing?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. If an issue that we’re dealing with
out of territory, if the concern is, for instance,
the appropriateness of the care from a
cultural perspective, then that’s what we’re
advocating for with the service provider on
the ground for that particular youth. It all
depends on what issue is being raised.

Also, like I mentioned with some other issues
before, we use the individual advocacy data
to inform our systemic issues. There is
definitely a reporting of culturally
appropriate care outside the territory in our
systemic database as an issue for future
consideration by our office from a systemic
perspective. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Can you give an
example of that just so I can have a better
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understanding? (interpretation) Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’'m going to refer the question to
Lynn Matte and she can provide an example
of an out-of-territory case that we worked on
that highlighted the need for more culturally
appropriate supports and services in place for
young persons.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) There are a
couple of examples that come to mind and
I’ll try to give you maybe two. One involved
a youth who had been in care in territory, but
as this young person moved forward in their
life, they started to have more and more
complex needs. It was determined that they
needed supports that were greater than what
was available here in the territory, so the
young person was sent out of territory.

This young person happened to go to the
Ottawa area and in that area we were able to
help make connections with the Ottawa Inuit
Children’s Centre and sometimes
Tungasuvvingat Inuit to connect them with
cultural resources and cultural programming,
and other individuals from their cultural
group. There is a rather large community in
the Ottawa area, which is obviously
beneficial. That’s not necessarily the case
that the young person is being sent
somewhere where there isn’t an urban Inuit
population outside of the territory. In those
instances it is a lot more of a struggle to try
to connect them with resources.

Some of the ways that we do also advocate to
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help keep young people connected to culture
when they’re placed out of the territory is by
pushing and encouraging their regular
connection with family, whether that be
through telephone calls, whether that be
through accessing videoconferencing
opportunities, and also obviously
encouraging the available family in-person
visitation when it’s appropriate and safe for
that to happen for the young person. We
sometimes get creative on that. Sometimes
maybe the parents aren’t safe. Maybe the
grandparents are, so that avenue could be
explored. Maybe siblings are safe. There are
sometimes other people that could be
considered besides just a young person’s
parents in order to keep connection to family
and culture. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Nakashuk.

Ms. Nakashuk: Qujannamiik for clarifying
that. Another question I have is the officer
stated an example on a youth that might have
a physical disability and having to get
support locally. I’'m just wondering: how
does the office determine or know what kind
of support a youth may need that might have
developmental delays? I’m thinking of a
youth. I know that it’s mostly SSAs that
assist youth in the school, but there’s no
actual teacher that is specialized in teaching
developmentally delayed youth.

With advocating from your office, I’'m just
curious: how do you reach that goal to ensure
that the youth are getting the appropriate
education they need? (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.
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Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Our office does not conduct
assessments of any sort with respect to young
people. That responsibility sits with the
various departments.

When we have an individual advocacy case
before us, we rely upon input from
caregivers, family members, and the young
person to provide us with that information. If
there are any grey areas or uncertainty in that
information, we also start to have
conversations with the departments and
service providers. We might do document
requests just to make sure we have the full
picture of the needs of that particular young
person and are advocating for the proper
supports to meet their needs. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) My next name, Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first question is for the representative.

Referring to page 25 of the 2017-18 annual
report, it shows individual advocacy cases
involving the Department of Justice or
related to community corrections, law
enforcement, and community justice. My
question is: how does your office work with
individuals and service providers in outlying
communities to address these different
branches of the Department of Justice?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’m going to refer this question to
Lynn Matte.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The service
providers who are on the ground in
communities that we work with the most
often through the Department of Justice
include probation officers, community justice
outreach workers, and from time to time we
are connecting people with services that
might be more centralized, like victims’
assistance. Those are some of the service
providers that we are working with.

When we go to communities for our
community visits, those are some of the
service providers that we are meeting with,
that we are making sure have information on
our office and that we make sure they’re
aware of their obligation to share information
about our office with the young people that
they work with.

We also communicate with them on a regular
basis if we have an open matter via telephone
or email, if we aren’t in the same location as
them, to try to see some forward movement
on advocacy matters concerning young
people that we’re both working with.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is for the Department of
Justice.

In the representative’s 2016-17 annual report
on page 20 there’s a case sample relating to
community corrections, law enforcement,
and community policing services.

My question for the Department of Justice is:
how does your department work with the
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RCMP to ensure that their staff are
adequately trained to deal with children and
youth in the course of their duties? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Member, for the
question. The police have been taught to
assist children and youth when they require
assistance. There are a limited number of
police officers that are trained to work in this
area. The ones who are trained become our
backbone. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Whenever a frontline worker is working with
children, they have to be extremely sensitive.
I was wondering: what specific training does
the Department of Justice have for RCMP
officers when dealing with children? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I’m sorry. Was that for
the representative? To the department. I’'m
sorry. Ms. Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I don’t
have that level of detail with me, but I can
share it with the Member. (interpretation)
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is once again with the
Department of Justice.
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In relation to the case sample that was
provided by the Representative for Children
and Youth, the case described a situation
involving a young person being released
from custody. I’'m curious: how does the
Department of Justice work with the Office
of the Representative for Children and Youth
to ensure that support and assistance are
being made available to youth who are facing
sentencing or release within the justice
system? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. My co-worker, Mr. House,
can respond to that question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
House, please respond.

Mr. House: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. For
us, we know the situations a lot of these kids
come from. Sometimes we feel that it’s not
in the best interest of the youth to send them
back to the same situation they came out of.

We will work with the office and we will
work with the courts, the Crown, and the
defence on what’s called section 19s and the
court procedures where everybody that has a
stake in the youth’s future. It would be
Family Services sometimes, probation
sometimes, it could be Health sometimes; it
could be anybody. Anybody that has a stake
is brought into a room with the youth’s
involvement and it’s decided, “Okay, what
can we do for this youth? Can we find an
alternative place for this youth?” It could be
another community. It could be another
family member. It could be a friend of the
family that has been really close to the family
while growing up and was willing to take this
youth in.
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For us at the centre, when we know that a kid
is maybe going back to a bad situation or
even just going back home, we make sure
everybody is involved in what happens and
where this kid goes, and the main person in
this is the youth themselves. You don’t want
to send a kid to a place that he really hates
that he’s going to mess up with and come
back right away. You want it to be the best
situation for everybody concerned.

We have done numerous amount of section
19s for kids just to get them into the best
environment possible. We started doing these
with Colby O’Donnell back a few years ago
when the office started up and we have found
them to be very successful. We do ‘em quite
a bit, but sometimes the kids just come to us
sentenced and then we deal with people back
in the communities.

If the youth says, “I don’t want to go back to
that home; I want to go to this home,” we
will contact community corrections, we will
contact the RCMP, we will contact elders
back in the community and people in the
community that would know the other
family, “Is this a good spot for this kid to
g0?” That’s our best resource in the
communities. They will say, “Yes, that’s a
great home. They would do well there,” or
“No, that’s not a really good situation. There
are a lot of people living there,” and stuff like
that.

That’s the way it works for us. I don’t know
if that answers your question or not. Thank

you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is for the representative.

It has come to my attention that other
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jurisdictions are starting to take into
consideration when an individual is being
sentenced through the court system; the
courts are starting to consider the effects on
the children of those being convicted.

I would like to ask the representative if
anything along those lines have ever been
brought to your attention, whether the child
has come to you or a family member of the
child of a sentenced individual. That’s my
question. Has this situation ever been
brought to your attention whether or not a
child has been taken into consideration of an
individual that is being sentenced? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’'m going to ask Lynne Matte to
respond to this question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.

Chairman. (interpretation ends) We have not
had very many matters raised to our attention
yet regarding this particular type of situation.

We do have an example that I would like to
share with you. It was actually raised to our
attention by the family, not through the court
process. The family itself was considering
pursuing a custom adoption and then they ran
into some difficulties with communication
with the Department of Family Services.
There was a miscommunication around
whether or not the department needed to be
involved if there was going to be a custom
adoption so that the children could stay with
family while a parent was going to be
incarcerated.
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In the end the Department of Family Services
was able to clearly communicate the custom
adoption commissioner was the correct
resource and not a social worker. Also, the
family decided to come to a private
arrangement that didn’t involve custom
adoption in the end and so no government
services or supports were needed.

We were approached regarding the situation
around what would happen with the children
with a parent they were anticipating was
going to be sentenced to some time in a
correctional facility. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to pose a similar question to the
Department of Justice. As I have stated, there
are occurrences where a child whose parent
has become incarcerated and they are left
without an individual to care for them. I was
curious how often that this sort of situation
occurs in our court system and, if and when it
does, what does the department do to ensure
that this child is being taken care of
appropriately? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Justice, Ms. Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) If it’s

possible, I would like to take this question as
notice and come back with a written answer.

Chairman (interpretation): That’s fine.
(interpretation ends) I don’t believe, in the
Committee, we usually use those terms,
“taken as notice,” but you have committed to
provide a written response and I appreciate
that. (interpretation) Mr. Lightstone, are you
done?
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(interpretation ends) Okay. I just want to take
the opportunity to follow up on the matter
that was mentioned earlier in terms of the
Auditor General’s office on the, I believe,
one of the last pages of your report. Your
office has been tracking the
recommendations that the Auditor General
brought forward in those two reports or three
reports, actually. It’s my understanding that
you maintain some sort of a list and it’s also
based on information that your office gets
from the departments.

Would your office be willing to share that list
with the Committee Members at a future
date? I’m trying to imagine or I’'m trying to
picture it in my mind. All the
recommendations are already public. The
Auditor General’s reports are public. Would
you be willing to share the updated, I don’t
know what you call it, tracking document
with the Committee? Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’1l take that under consideration.
What I can commit to sharing with the
Committee are the letters that were recently
released to the three departments, the
Department of Community and Government
Services, the Department of Education, and
the Department of Family Services, with
respect to our observations on the
implementation of those recommendations.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for that
commitment and thank you for taking
consideration of releasing the tracking.

Another kind of housekeeping type item, you
had mentioned to Ms. Nakashuk with regard
to the numbers of cases that have been closed
and which ones were successful. For future
annual reports, it would be useful to have
that type of information included if at all
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possible.

As well, another thing that was noted when
our Committee was reviewing the annual
reports was there are a number of examples
provided in these annual reports which are
valuable, but if you are able to provide either
a list or a sampling of the specific
recommendations that your office is making
to government departments... . [ mean that’s
the thing where it’s tough to see what the
recommendations being made are and then if
we can understand as a Committee what the
recommendations are, then we can follow up
and see if they are being taken into
consideration, if they are being rejected in
some cases, or if they’re being accepted.

Just in terms of those two requests for future
annual reports, Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. As our office evolves, our annual
reports will evolve as well along with us. |
appreciate the feedback. We will certainly
take it under consideration and it would be
helpful for that feedback to also be reflected
in the formal letter that will come from the
Committee following our appearance today.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. I can commit to
making sure that’s included in the report
which will be tabled.

Any further questions from the Committee
on this section? Not at this time? We do have
one more thematic area, which is the third
one. Ms. Towtongie, do you have a question
on this current area? Go ahead.

Ms. Towtongie: Mr. Chairman, my mistake.
Are we on “Reporting on Our Activities:
Systematic Advocacy”? Okay. I have a
question on this one. Page 22 of the 2016-17
annual report discusses the development of
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the office’s “Issue Categorization and
Prioritization Tool.” Can the representative
elaborate further on how this tool is used to
prioritize issues? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thanks for that question. I would
be happy to provide an answer on that.

Because our office has been inundated with
such a significant amount of systemic issues,
it was very important to us to develop a
system to help guide us in our decision-
making of how we use our limited systemic
resources in the selection of what systemic
issue we’re going to investigate. Every
systemic issue that’s noted in our database,
we have heard some of them mentioned here
today, they’re all big, weighty issues and
they’re all very important to young people
and they’re important to the people that have
raised them to our attention.

The tool that was developed was developed
to help increase our accountability when it
comes time to selecting an issue and
basically an issue that would consume our
entire systemic team. The tool that we
developed was developed in-house by our
office. We did consult largely with the New
Brunswick advocate’s office that has a
similar but not identical tool.

The tool contains a series of 12 questions
essentially, 9 of which are rated. At the end
of an issue being run through each of those
12 questions, each issue is then assigned a
category as well as a numerical score. The
categories can include “warrants formal
investigation” or “warrants informal
investigation.” This is where we wanted to
get a little creative in realizing that not every
issue in the database is well suited for a
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formal investigation. We wanted to look for
opportunities to move forward some of those
more informal pieces that don’t require an
investigation forward. That’s where we raise
those issues with the departments at the
proactive meetings. The other category is
“formal.” That’s when an issue has clearly
been identified as requiring a formal

investigation by our systemic advocacy team.

As the result of the tool being used, we have
categorization; we also have that numerical
score. The highest score an issue can receive
is 21. Every issue that comes to our office’s
attention, our systemic team is required to
run each and every issue through the tool to
assign both a categorization and a score to
help guide our decision-making process. It is
not an exact science. It’s used in conjunction
with the information we hear from the
community during our community visits,
from other monitoring that occurs by the
systemic advocacy team, as well as
discussions around our office. It certainly
increases our own accountability in the
selection process.

It was that tool that was applied of course to
all our systemic issues, which resulted in
mental health services for children and youth
being the first systemic area that our office
decided to investigate. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
How does your office follow up on your
recommendations for improving systems
designed to support young people, and how
do you measure the success of any
improvements undertaken as a result of your
office’s recommendation? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Could I get the first part of the
question repeated? I think it was twofold.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Towtongie, if you can repeat your question.

Ms. Towtongie (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) How
does your office follow up on your
recommendations for improving systems
designed to support young people, and how
do you measure the success of these
improvements undertaken as a result of your
office’s recommendations? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the clarification.
First of all, with respect to monitoring, it’s
the systemic team’s responsibility for
monitoring in our office. They not only
house all the systemic issues, conduct the
investigations, but then they also hold
responsibility for monitoring. All
recommendations that are produced by our
office, all formal recommendations, are
documented in their database and it is their
responsibility to ensure the office is kept
abreast when updates are due and whatnot.

In our business plan for this fiscal year we
will be reviewing that process. Right now
those issues are, like I said, in the database.
We want to work with our IT department to
see if there is a better way of managing that
information going forward. That is
something that will be under review, but
there is certainly a very basic monitoring
system in place right now.
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In terms of how do we measure success,
there are various forms of measurement that
are employed by our office, some of which is
quantitative but some of which is just
qualitative too. Advocacy and advocacy
efforts, although we do do some quantitative
measurement within our office and that is
very important, I just want to be careful that
we don’t lean too heavily on that because it
is difficult to measure the impact that this
work has on a young person’s life.
Sometimes it’s not just hard; it’s impossible
to put a figure on that. These are real humans
we are dealing with. When we advocate for
them and things change in their life, we have
no way of really measuring the impact that
that will have immediately and in the long
run.

One way that we measure success in our
office from a quantitative perspective is by
the number of advocacy issues, individual
advocacy issues that are successfully
resolved. As previously indicated, of the 151
that have been closed to date, 122 have been
successfully resolved.

We also measure success through our clients’
level of satisfaction. We referred earlier this
morning to those pages in the 2017-18

annual report that gave a snapshot of what
that is looking like for us, which highlights
such things as 80 percent of the time our staff
are ensuring that the clients’ views are heard
and considered; 92 percent of the time child
rights are the central part of the discussion
that is taking place; and 87 percent of the
time our staff are encouraging people to work
together in their work. Another form of
measurement is our own clients’ level of
satisfaction with our service.

We also measure success of our office by the
number of communities we visited. I am
happy to report that to date we have been
successful in achieving our goal and
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executing our 12 communities per year
community visit plan.

We also measure success by the number of
schools we visit while we are in the
communities. Again I am happy to report that
100 percent of the time we are in
communities, we are in schools.

In the upcoming years we will be measuring
ourselves against internal quality standards
that are reflected in our own policy and
procedure manual. That evaluation will take
place in this current fiscal year, as
highlighted in our business plan, through
internal file audits that will be conducted.

We also measure ourselves against the
national advocacy standards that have been
set and we actually had a role in developing
with the Canadian Council of Child and
Youth Advocates. There are many of those
and many different forms of measurement
under each of those, but for the sake of time,
I will end there but would be happy to dive
into those too if the Committee is interested.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for that
response. (interpretation) Ms. Towtongie, are
you finished? Okay. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. On page 22 of your 2016-17
annual report discusses your office’s pilot
informal systemic review that was conducted
with the departments of Health and Family
Services. Can you provide a brief overview
of what the review focused on, how it was
conducted, and its key findings and
recommendations? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.
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Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. The informal pilot, first of all, was
just that. It was a pilot project for our office
that happened during the development phase
of the systemic advocacy program. Prior to
the launch of the systemic advocacy
program, as part of that development, there
were a lot of different types of work done in
consultation with other advocacy offices,
reviews and development of policies and
procedures.

At the same time we also wanted to run a test
case, a test informal to help shape the
development of that program and give us
some real-life experience in pilot form. The
subject matter of that pilot project was
custom adoption and medical consent
specifically. It wasn’t a review of custom
adoption. It was the issue that had been
brought to our attention with respect to
young people and their families encountering
difficulty when outside the territory, if the
child had been custom adopted, in gaining
consent for medical treatment.

From that pilot, our office had information
that helped shape the development of our
systemic advocacy program. It taught us a
few things from that experience. It taught us
how to better make a distinction between
formal issues and informal issues prior to
launching this program area. It taught us the
need for a comprehensive investigation plan
prior to launching an investigation, the need
for adequate resources, the need for adequate
time to conduct an investigation, and the
need to remain focused on the subject matter
at hand when conducting an investigation.

We did work with departments on that pilot
informal and ultimately provided our office
with a significant amount of helpful
information in the development of our
systemic advocacy program prior to
launching that program. Thank you, Mr.
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Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. The next question I have will be
for the Department of Health and the
Department of Family Services, and I'll leave
the direction as to who you want to respond
first, Mr. Chairman.

The question I have to the departments is:
can you briefly describe your department’s
experience in participating in the pilot project
there, describe your department’s experience
in participating in this review, and provide
any observations that you may have with
respect to how the review was conducted?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Do we have any
volunteers to go first? Department of Health,
Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’'m
not familiar with the pilot that took place and
so I don’t have anything to contribute and
neither do my colleagues. They weren’t a
part of that. We can look into it if you require
further information and bring it back. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Family Services, Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I believe my
colleague would have been more
participatory and so I'll refer it to her, if I
may. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
White.
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Ms. Henderson-White: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, we were consulted as part of
the review and it was done by a survey which
we were provided with and we were allowed
to provide wholesome and extensive
responses based on our experience with the
subject matter. We were given adequate time
to respond. There was a personal touch in the
process. We didn’t feel that we had any
restriction in providing responses or how we
wanted to respond in time. There was no
pressure. We knew the timelines within
which it needed to be done.

I appreciated the fact that we were actually
involved in that process, consulted and
allowed to give an honest opinion on our
experiences, and what we provided in terms
of information and feedback was recorded
and presented as we provided it. It was a
transparent process and it was done in a
collaborative manner. With respect to the
process as it stands, it’s a culturally-based
process. It was a positive experience in that
regard.

Does that answer your question?

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) They’re waiting for you
to say “thank you” and then they shift the
camera, just to let you know. It happens to all
of us. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you to the
departments for the response. My final
question to this to the two departments again,
to Family Services and the Department of
Health: has your department received the
representative’s final report outlining the key
findings and recommendations from her
office’s pilot informal systemic review and,
if so, how has your department responded?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
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(interpretation ends) Family Services, Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Again
I’ll defer it to my colleague, Ms. Henderson-
White.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Henderson-White.

Ms. Henderson-White: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, we have received the report
in draft and we have reviewed the
recommendations, some of which are long
term in nature that we need to review and
create substantive planning in the long term
to implement.

As I indicated, the report was given to us in
draft and yes, we have reviewed the
recommendations and have full intention of
taking each of the recommendations into
consideration within the scope of the work of
the department. We will provide information
as we go through the process of review and
planning within our business plans and other
departmental priorities and long-term
planning. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Department of Health,
Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes,
we received a preliminary draft report from
the patient advocate’s office. We provided
some feedback as they had requested on it.
We have not received a final copy and it
hasn’t been tabled yet, so we will wait for
that before we respond to the content. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mikkungwak, did you run out of questions?
Okay. Thank you.
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(interpretation ends) Just before we move to
our last thematic area, which is “Looking
Ahead and Lessons Learned,” I wanted to
zero in on this issue that’s mentioned in your
opening comments, it’s mentioned in your
annual reports, it’s mentioned in some of the
opening comments from the departments,
and it’s inadequate service coordination.

On page 21 of your 2017-18 annual report
you highlight this. Well, it’s actually over a
page long regarding the lack of coordination.
You mentioned that this is something that
has been reiterated. I just find this a bit hard
to understand in terms of the specifics. My
question is, in your experience, there’s
inadequate coordination and a big part of that
is communication, so I’ll ask my question
like this: who is not talking to whom
specifically? That’s what I’m interested in.
Social workers, nurses, RCMP, I don’t know
what the answer is, so if you could provide
some specifics there in terms of where the
communication barriers are in your
experience, Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. The communication and
coordination barriers exist throughout the
entirety of government in my opinion. Where
we see it the most and where it’s having the
biggest impact on young people is out on the
frontlines, but it also exists within middle
management and other areas within
government organizations as well.

There is no clear understanding from service
providers in terms of how they can work
together to support a shared client. There are
certain protocols of working together within
the government, but they’re very specific to
certain situations. For instance, the
interagency protocol on suicide, I don’t think
I have the name 100 percent, but that very
clearly outlines to government service
providers, departments, and staff within
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departments how they can work together for
shared clients under certain situations,
eminent or perceived risk of suicide.

What we’re lacking is more general
information on the day-to-day business of
government in terms of how service
providers can work together.

When young people, even though they may
present to the Department of Family Services
with an issue, the Department of Health with
an issue, the Department of Justice with an
issue, what we find is that’s not the only
issue that they have. Our issues and
difficulties don’t come very neatly in a box
with a nice ribbon on them; they’re
complicated.

The response, because of the complications
that young people face and the need to have
services wrap around them from multiple
departments, it requires departments to do
just that, to work well together as a well-
oiled machine and to know how to do that
and to trust that they know how to do that.
We see that sorely lacking across
government, like I said, both at the frontlines
and at the management level.

It is having a terrible impact on young people
in terms of the quality of care they receive.
When facing complicated situations, they
often require holistic care and for systems to
wrap around them. We’re not seeing that.
Oftentimes it’s a big part of our work in
terms of pulling people together, getting
people connected, getting people talking, and
getting people to exchange information.
When that happens, great things result for
young people, but we’re not seeing that
happen.

We have raised this issue with the
Government of Nunavut, I think, just six
months after opening. It was so obvious and
so prevalent in our cases. We work with
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these values. One of the key values we work
with in this territory is that we work together
and we’re really not seeing that happening as
it should. As a result, most importantly
young people aren’t getting the holistic care
they need from a good team of service
providers working together, but also it’s
leaving staff out in the field feeling very
frustrated and isolated. It’s probably one of
the reasons such a high number of service
providers are turning to our office because
they know that when they do, we will start to
coordinate that care and bring people
together.

I think, while there are pockets of protocols
within this government that relate to certain
subject matters, what we’re missing is a
general interdepartmental protocol for the
coordination of services for young people,
generally speaking. People are hesitant
without that good direction from government
to work together because of professional
obligations with respect to the maintenance
of confidentiality, with respect to client
information, with respect to upholding our
own professional standards and the
uncertainty of where this government sits
with respect to the exchange of that
information when services need to be
coordinated for young people. It’s something
that we have advocated for since, I think, six
months after opening. We will continue to
advocate for better service coordination for
young people in this territory.

Like I mentioned earlier, you will see
elements of these themes and observations
we made appear in our soon-to-be released
mental health report as well. This is one of
those themes that you’re going to see and this
time it’s going to be in a formal
recommendation to the Government of
Nunavut. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
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(interpretation ends) Thank you for that
answer. I would like to turn to the
Department of Health. Your opening
comments mentioned...you acknowledged
the need for increased coordination with
other departments. In terms of the work that
the Department of Health has done with the
representative’s office, what has been done,
to your knowledge, to improve government
service coordination for children and youth?
Ms. Brown.

Ms. Brown: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. With
your permission, I’ll ask my colleague,
Charleen Austin, to respond. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Austin.

Ms. Austin: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to acknowledge that the
Department of Health certainly recognizes
that coordination with other government
departments as well as our community
agencies is a work in progress. We take the
recommendations from the representative
very seriously. We think that without
coordination, it is difficult to provide a
wholesome service.

That being said, a couple of points to
consider would be that across government
organizations, you have individuals who
report and take direction from different
regulatory bodies. This complicates bringing
our work together as well as the protocols for
information sharing.

We believe in the interagency working
groups within communities as a frontline,
important tool in bringing together cross-
governmental departments as well as
community members. We’re actively
working to build upon those in communities.
A quick example, being cognizant of time,
would have been the GN interdepartmental
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cannabis working group as well as the most
recent Therapeutic Justice Program that is
being piloted in Cambridge Bay in answer to
some questions earlier with regard to high-
risk youth.

I think we’re moving in the right direction,
recognizing it’s a complicated topic and
we’re certainly committed to continuing to
coordinate. At an ADM and DM level as
well, particularly speaking as an ADM, we
have had regular meetings recently and have
looked at a terms of reference and a mandate
that’s very different that stops the duplication
and coordinates better.

Thank you for the question; it was an
important one. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I guess we will turn to
Family Services now. I’ll just note that in the
opening comments from the Department of
Education, they mentioned education staff
participating on a child abuse response
protocol roundtable, which is interesting as
an example of coordination between
departments or working together. Maybe
using that roundtable as an example, Ms.
Niego, in terms of the efforts your
department has put towards working with
other government departments in response to
recommendations from the representative.
(interpretation) I hope I was understandable.
Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Yes, the
Department of Family Services coordinates
the Child Abuse Response Protocol. It has
taken some time and it has come back to the
turnover issue, but we are getting back on
track on that protocol. That will be
completed as per our business plan.

In regard to better collaboration, as a former
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police officer, I could not leave here without
mentioning training for police officers. A
Member had asked for the justice
department. One thing that I don’t see is
training in regard to the Youth Criminal
Justice Act. There are allowances for youth
conferencing prior to youth sentences.

There are different things that a police officer
can do at the preventative end: warnings,
letters, conferencing, or bringing in different
partners. Police officers are not alone. There
are the resources available through these
departments here: Justice, Health, Education,
and Family Services. I would urge the RCMP
to get back into YCJA, or Youth Criminal
Justice Act, training.

I wasn’t here or I’'m not aware of the
dismantling of the old culture, language,
elders and youth department, but I would
have thought that the youth part to that
former department was to collaborate the
other parts of the GN and other stakeholders.

As a DM and co-chair with my colleague
from Health, we have committed to keeping
a child and youth focus as a standing item on
the Quality of Life Committee at the DM
level. I believe the discussions that Charleen
Austin was talking about at the ADM level
links to our DM level committee, which
should help assist in that collaboration.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for that. I
apologize for such a mess of a question that I
asked you, but I’ll try to do better next time.

For the Department of Education, I'm
interested and I'1l try to be more specific, I’'m
interested with how teachers or school
officials specifically work with health staff or
family services staff. I’ll use an example of a
high-needs youth who’s in school. Is there a
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protocol in place? Is there a monthly meeting
that happens between social workers and
DEA... ? I don’t know and I’m interested
with regard to health and family services and
the school staff. Ms. Flaherty.

Ms. Flaherty (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) I can
speak to, as Yvonne, I had a former life; [
was a teacher. When I was a teacher, when
we were concerned about a specific child to
issues with them, the process was for us to
inform our principal, who then informed
Family Services or social services at the
time, and the collaboration started in that
perspective.

I will have my ADM answer the rest of your
question because she is coming out from
regional school operations, who immediately
worked on these cases. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
MacMillan.

Ms. MacMillan (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) Yes,
right from the teaching level, again, working
with the school team, the student support
teacher, llinniarvimmi Inuusijiliriji, there are
services available right at the school level. If
the needs extend beyond the school, it is
where at times the interagency community
meetings would take place. As well as often
social workers, social services, or the
Department of Health from the health centre
could also be invited to attend the school
team. Again, the parents are involved with
that as well to address the needs of the child.

If the services cannot be met at the
community level, at the department level is
where education support services and that
new group, new program that was formed,
then they would, through the department, put
in place specific requests for services to
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address the child’s need. Whether that is
occupational therapists, speech and language,
or OT services, there are various levels and
services that they could receive.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. The
last department will be the Department of
Justice. I would like to know how they work
with the different departments, if that made
sense. Apparently government departments
don’t work well together, according to the
representative. I would like to know how the
Department of Justice works with other
departments. If you could give me a brief
answer, Ms. Strickland.

Ms. Strickland (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. From my own knowledge, we
work with the other departments whenever
something happens in a community. If
someone needs to be notified, so that
everyone understands what is happening
among the departments, [ work with the other
departments directly.

If there is someone taken into custody or
someone in a correctional centre, I can
probably respond better in English.
(interpretation ends) When there is a
complex case with an individual in one of
our facilities, some of the time it requires
collaboration with other departments.

For example, if there is an individual with
complex mental health needs that have been
in contact with various organizations, such as
the RCMP, Corrections, the Department of
Health, and Family Services, there are
ongoing case management meetings with the
departments to ensure there is proper care
provided to the individual.

Also, Mr. House can speak to specific youth
advocacy. (interpretation) Thank you.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
House.

Mr. House: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I can
speak with regard to my centre. We have, |
think, a very good relationship with the other
departments that are seated around this table.
Our ultimate goal in our centre is successful
reintegration and rehabilitation of our youth,
and we can’t do it alone.

Our youth have so many complex needs. We
work with Education; we have our own
teacher on staff. We work them with mental
health. We work with Family Services
because these kids all go back to their home
and their parents, and if we didn’t work
together, then we couldn’t be successful and
granted, we’re not successful all the time.
That’s a given. As much as we want to be,
we’re not, but we do the best we can. We’re
not perfect, but we work hard and we
continue to work hard, and we’re going to
continue to work with each other. We have to
or we’re going to fail. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you to all of the
departments for providing that information.

I would like to go back to you, Ms. McNeil-
Mulak. It’s in your reports; it’s in your
opening comments, the lack of coordination.
We hear from the departments that there is
effort being put into coordination, but you
say you have seen little to no progress made
in this area in your opening comments.

I’m not trying to focus on the negative here,
but I think it’s important. You mention
disturbing real case examples where a lack of
service coordination has led to very negative
outcomes for the young person. Can you
share any examples with us? Speaking in
vague terms so as to not impact any person’s
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privacy rights, if there are any examples you
can share with us, I would be interested. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Absolutely we will provide an
example, and we have provided examples to
government departments and walked them
through multiple examples in the past of a
breakdown of service coordination leading to
very serious consequences for young people.

I do want to acknowledge that there
absolutely is effort being made. Like I said
before, there are pockets of coordination
happening and specific protocols around
certain subject matters in place. The problem
even with those that exist is because of the
rate of staff turnover in this territory. It is not
uncommon for staff not to know that they
exist, let alone to be aware of the contents
that are described in these protocols.

It’s also not uncommon for some of these
protocols to be very outdated. While there
may be certain sector-specific protocols in
place, two of which were mentioned here
today, they require regular updates. They
require to be shared with staff on a regular
basis. They require to be embedded in
orientation material, and just regular updates.
I just wanted to mention that.

There are pockets, but from where we sit, it’s
not enough. It’s not enough for what young
people need in terms of the situations they’re
facing from where we sit and the cases that
we encounter with respect to service
coordination breakdown and the impact
that’s having on the lives of young
Nunavummiut that have crossed our paths so
far since opening.

I am going to ask Ms. Matte to continue on
and share an example to maybe highlight... .
Even though we do have several examples in
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our annual report, I’ll ask Ms. Matte to
maybe “breathe more life” into one of those
examples for the Committee. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) [ would
actually like to share a couple of different
examples with the Committee, if you will
indulge me. I’ll keep them brief. Some of
them have to do with coordination within
departments and so when we talk about
information sharing between departments is
important, but sometimes we see that
breakdown even within a department.

An example I would like to share is in regard
to a delay in young people being able to
attend school because there was a complete
breakdown of communication regarding the
transfer of school records. In theory this
should be a simple process, but sometimes
we run into barriers. A young person had
moved from one community to another. It
should be a request placed from one school
to another through an electronic system to
transfer those records about what classes they
have taken and what courses they have
successfully completed. In addition,
sometimes a young person might also have
some physical files that need to be
transferred.

In this one young person’s situation, the
individual who signed the form to request the
transfer of the records was not authorized to
sign the form. The school that received the
request for those records looked at it and
thought, “This person is not authorized to
request.” They didn’t bother to communicate
back to the school that made the request; they
just never sent the records. This led to more
than a month of delay before the young
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person could actually go to school all
because of this sort of administrative lack of
communication. That’s an example within a
department.

An example between departments, a young
person had been placed out of territory for
mental health services. They had completed
their course of treatment and were going to
be returning to Nunavut. The young person’s
family had indicated that they would not
allow this young person to move back in with
them and that alternative arrangements
needed to be made.

The Department of Family Services and the
Department of Health needed to coordinate
to sort out an appropriate placement for this
young person, but the frontline workers who
were supposed to be working on this
situation were running into barriers
communicating with each other. As a result,
this young person was potentially facing a
homelessness situation and our office needed
to get involved to bring those service
providers together to ensure that this young
person had a safe, appropriate home to come
back to at the end of the treatment they had
received out of territory.

Those are just a couple of examples of cases
where we have seen a lack of coordination of
services through the course of our advocacy
work. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you as
well. (interpretation ends) Thank you for
providing those examples. We’re just close
to wrapping up our hearing and so we’re
moving on to the last thematic area, which is
“Looking Ahead and Lessons Learned.” |
have Mr. Quassa.

Mr. Quassa (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. This is more of a general
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comment and not an actual question. We
have been listening all day and the rights of
children and youth are very interesting. We
all have to know those things, but I have
been noticing that we all say that we believe
in Inuit Qaujimajatugangit and Inuit societal
values. Everyone who is sitting here says that
we believe in those things and we try to
believe in them. It’s good to hear.

However, most of the children and youth
have parents. Now, I haven’t heard one
reference to parents. Children are taught by
their parents. Are the parents fully informed
about the things that we’re talking about
today? You have very important positions
here. Are the parents informed about children
and youth rights? Maybe they do, but we also
know that some parents can’t speak English
and some speak of them speak broken
English.

I was really thinking: what about the parents?
Are the parents informed properly? There are
so many different departments that are trying
to work on children and I’m proud of that
work, but I’'m just concerned if the parents
are properly informed. It’s like we’re
forgetting them here. It’s probably not the
case, but that’s what it seems like.

Children have to be treated like children.
These days, people are trying to counsel
them like adults. They have to be children
and they should be children for as long as
they can. I’'m proud of the things I have
heard today, but I want to make sure that
parents are properly informed. These many
different departments work on our children
and youth. That’s what [ wanted to say
because I felt that I really had to say it.

To move on to something else, just a very
short question, I’1l talk about money a little
bit. On page 3 of the 2017-18 annual report it
states and it’s good to see that there were
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eight staff members. However, on page 48 it
states that almost $100,000 was spent for
casual wages for the representative’s office
in 2017-18. My question is regarding the fact
that you have a (interpretation ends) fully
staffed (interpretation) office of eight. You
also have additional money for casual staff. |
would like to get a brief explanation on that.
Perhaps I will speak English so that everyone
will understand my question.

(interpretation ends) Can you explain why
you needed additional casual staff when your
office was fully staffed? (interpretation) That
was the question I had, but also to remind
you that we have to keep the parents
informed of what we spoke about today.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for that comment
about parental involvement and the question.
Even though there wasn’t a question around
parental involvement, I would like to just
maybe start there. I’'m glad you brought that

up.

With the respect to the work of our office,
the involvement of parents, family, and
caregivers is extremely important to us.
Anytime it is possible for our office to work
with families and their children, we
absolutely do that as long as it is safe and in
the best interest of that child to do that, then
we are absolutely working with families.
Thanks for bringing that up and reminding us
of the importance of that because our Act, the
values that guide our office, the United
Nations Convention on the Rights of the
Child, all of those things are in harmony
when it comes to respect, in respect to the
role that family plays in a child’s life.
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In terms of 2017-18 and the expenditure with
respect to casual wages and running over in
terms of our expenditure with respect to our
compensation and benefits, there were a few
things that were at play that year.

First of all, we did hire a casual, but we
balance our use of casuals as much as we can
with vacancies in our permanent salary
budget line. That being said, when we do use
casuals, we have to allow for some overlap
between the indeterminate position coming
in and the casual exiting for the transference
of information related to the files.

Also in that year we decided to hire a second
summer student to help administer our client
satisfaction surveys. We could have
contracted that service out and pulled from
our contract dollars, but it was very
important to us to re-employ a former
summer student who did really great work
for our office in administering those client
satisfaction surveys because that student was
so well versed with the conduct of our office,
plus we wanted to support that student.

Also in that year there were other things like
outstanding salary payments that had to be
taken into account, as well as we have been
working with the Office of the Legislative
Assembly, their finance division, to make
sure that our budget lines, particularly this
one, are loaded properly. And it wasn’t.
Their salaries were set a certain level. There
weren’t adjustments made over time for
increases due to increases in pay and
whatnot, but I’'m happy to report that,
working closely with the financial division of
the Office of the Legislative Assembly, we
have ensured that that budget line
particularly is loaded properly to reflect the
actual cost of compensation and benefits that
our office incurs on a regular basis. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Following my list of names, Ms. Towtongie.

Ms. Towtongie: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The authorities in the small communities are
often the RCMP, the social worker, the
nurses, and the teachers. At times it becomes
very autocratic and almost legalistically
they’re the ones who have the legal right for
social control. It becomes visible that this
eliminates the authority that a young person
or a child recognizes in terms of escalating
violence, for example, a standoff.

We have observed across Nunavut that when
there’s a standoff with a young person, only
the people that are involved in de-escalating
that violence are these authorities. I have
often thought that if an authority that a young
person recognizes is involved, it could de-
escalate the violence.

I’'m talking about small communities and I
was talking about the prevailing authority
that exists in the Inuit mind, conflict
resolution, not institutionalized authority.
Years ago [ watched during residential
school times, children were taken away. Inuit
society changed. There were no more
running or breathing steps of children;
parents changed.

With terms of child protection, I have often
thought that there’s a better need to deal with
family separation. There’s a need to ensure
that because Inuit rely heavily on elders, the
grandparents’ rights are recognized along
with youth advocacy. In saying that, I believe
that due to the protocol within the
departments and the coordination within
departments, there’s a need for these same
departments to have a protocol at the
grassroots level, either with the hamlet
councils or somebody that’s recognized as an
authority within the small communities, and
they still exist; informal leaders still exist.
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In saying that, at the federal level, the Child
Welfare Act is being discussed because
indigenous parents have the highest [rates of]
children taken away from them in Canada.
My question to the youth representative is:
right at the beginning stages or any of the
departments, have you been involved in
discussing how the Child Welfare Act across
Canada for indigenous children is being dealt
with? That’s my final question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) In terms of that draft or
that piece of legislation that’s currently being
worked on, Ms. McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. To answer your question, yes, we
have been involved. We have been involved,
I guess, in two ways.

As part of the Canadian Council of Child and
Youth Advocates, the council, which
includes our office, has been strong
advocates to the federal government that
change needs to happen with respect to the
overrepresentation of indigenous children
and youth in the child welfare system. That
type of advocacy has been happening at the
Canadian council level even before my
existence and this office’s existence. It is an
issue that the council has been moving
forward for quite some time.

In addition to the development and the
consultation that took place most recently
leading into the development for Bill C-92,
our office was invited to a meeting that was
hosted by Pauktuutit in Ottawa for Inuit child
and youth-serving organizations and leaders.
We absolutely took part in those discussions
as part of the federal government’s
consultation process.

We’re pleased that that bill has been put
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forward. We’re very pleased that it has been
co-developed with indigenous leaders. We
think it holds great promise. It shows
commitment to the drawing down of
jurisdiction, a commitment to kinship
placement, a commitment to investment in
prevention-based supports, early
identification to help better support families
in keeping them together. That’s all very
positive.

Along, I think, with ITK’s observations, we
share similar observations and concerns in
that the indigenous communities across this
country need to be given adequate time to
review the bill. They need to be given
adequate time to put forward amendments
and to digest what is being put forward
before anything advances further.

Equally importantly of concern to us and I
think many stakeholders with the
development of this bill and potential
legislation is that the resources need to be
given to indigenous communities to execute
what’s contained in the legislation and not
just a one-time influx of cash but ongoing
financial support so that the spirit of the
legislation, so that indigenous communities
are successful in managing the concerns of
the child protection sectors within their own
communities. Legislation is one thing, but
the resources need to be provided to
indigenous communities across this country
in order for it to be successful and for it to
ultimately lead to better outcomes for
indigenous young people across this entire
country, Nunavut included.

I’ll end there. We’re watching this very
closely. We have been part of it and we
remain cautiously optimistic, I think it’s fair
to say. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you.
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(interpretation) Are you done? (interpretation
ends) Okay. Mr. Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.My question is short but
required for my clarification and hence my
question on it. Firstly, as a premabular
foreground to place it in the proper context
for our witnesses, we are discussing children
along with our youth and the cultural
perspectives. In thinking of that, we are
providing our comments. Today this subject
of children and youth includes the debate
about immaturity and improper behaviours or
anti-social behaviour. It always has a starting
point from whence it came and much of it
has to to with lack of discipline from a
parent, from being overly spoiled, as it
depends on how they are treated. In thinking
of this matter, I want to ask about this matter
to try to get solutions as we can add
improvements.

I want clarification on this matter. We’re
asking questions to the departments
presenting here and they’re trying to answer
questions related to that area requiring
improvments in the realm of youth and
children in our schools. This could include
the departments of Education, Health,
Justice, or Family Services on possible
enhancements. As Members in the House, we
start with the question or statement of
improving the situation for Nunavummiut.
This is why I wish to clearly understand this,
so we as MLAs can provide tangible
solutions within this House to assist our
fellow Inuit, along with our children and our
youth, as well as advice on living a healthier
lifestyle in their future.

Can the Representative for Children and
Youth provide further information we have
not heard from these departments and
whether they can add further information on
the youth and children’s best chances on
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pursuing a healthy lifestyle? I hope that was
clear, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
McNeil-Mulak.

Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. A couple of things. If I'm
understanding the question correctly, it is
how Members can support the work that
we’re doing, support the advancement of
child rights, as Members of the Legislative
Assembly. I hope I have that correctly.

One thing is when we come into
communities, as many of you know, I’ll
often send a notice to the Member that our
staff is coming into the community. [ know
sometimes it is challenging. Folks aren’t
often in the community and whatnot, but one
thing we find very helpful when we’re in the
community is if we have an opportunity
during our visit to sit with you as a
representative of your community and have a
conversation about what life is like for young
people in your community because we know
that there are several common issues across
the territory affecting young people. We also
know there are very specific community
issues that are affecting young people. I
would encourage our office and Members of
the Legislative Assembly to continue with
the practice of meeting with each other when
we’re doing our community visits.

The other thing that I could suggest is just to
continue to have conversations with your
constituents in your communities about our
office, about the role of our office and what
types of supports that we can provide, and
playing an active role in connecting
constituents who are in need of assistance to
our office. That is something I think that we
can work on and continue to do.

With respect to the government as a whole, a
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couple of ideas with respect to how the
government can better support child rights;
one is to reflect the United Nations
Convention of the Rights in legal statutes in
the territory, especially those that impact
young people. Currently the only two pieces
of legislation that give mention to the United
Nations Convention on the Rights of the
Child is our piece of legislation and the Child
and Family Services Act, so there is
definitely room for growth in there. Actually
that was one of the recommendations that we
put forward to the Department of Education
as they’re reviewing and consulting on
amendments to their Education Act.

The other thing that we suggest to
government is to get in the habit of applying
a child rights lens to your work, especially
any new programs or services that are being
developed. You will notice in our business
plan that there are some upcoming priorities
for our office to do work on the development
of a tool called a child rights impact
assessment. We’re looking forward in the
future years to developing a tool specific to
Nunavut and working with government
departments to teach and train on the use of
that tool and to serve as a resource to support
government departments in applying that
lens to their work.

Also, lastly what I want to mention, and I
can’t stress this enough, is including and
seeking out the opinions of young people in
your work and remembering that there’s no
magic age attached to when that needs to
happen. Like Ms. Matte mentioned in one of
her responses before, that doesn’t necessarily
mean that what the child wants is going to
happen, but the child does have the right to
be heard and has the right to be considered in
all areas of work, whether it’s in the delivery
of health care, social work, community
justice, education, to seek out those views
and not only because it’s a right that young
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people have; because we can learn a lot from
young people. They can learn from us.

Older adults have experience and wisdom.
Young people have a way of thinking outside
the box and a freedom with their ideas that
sometimes we lose in adulthood. The
combination of those two pieces combined is
a very powerful thing. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I have no further names
on my list at this time.

I just have a closing comment with regard to
your most recent annual report. Where you
have all these examples of things that are
being done and the applause, I notice that a
lot of them are focused on this particular
community. I understand that’s where your
office is based, but as much as possible, |
would encourage your office to continue
your outreach and reaching out to
communities like my home community of
Arviat. We have close to 1,000 children in
school age and that doesn’t include the ones
that are up to that 19 or 22 age threshold, so
there’s a huge need out there. That’s just a
closing comment in terms of future annual
reports.

At this point, on behalf of the Committee, |
would like to thank everyone who was in
attendance today. I thank you all for your
patience and your answers. This is the first
time we have used this particular format for a
meeting like this. Normally it’s for the
Auditor General’s reports that we have
departmental representatives here, and I think
it worked quite well.

In terms of your appearance and any closing
comments you may have, Ms. McNeil-
Mulak.
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Ms. McNeil-Mulak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I would like to thank the
Committee today for your time. I appreciate
your questions and your interest in our
office’s work. The feedback provided by the
Committee following our 2016 appearance
proved very valuable to our office and
resulted in elements of all five
recommendations being adopted by our
office. As before, I look forward to receiving
your formal feedback following today’s
appearance.

As Members of the Legislative Assembly of
Nunavut, I also value the role that each of
you play in connecting your constituents with
our office. We encourage you to continue to
share information about our office with the
children, youth, and families in your
communities, especially those who may be
experiencing challenges in their lives or
experiencing difficulties with government
services.

I would also like to thank my officials, Lynn
Matte and David Korgak, for joining me
today. I would also like to acknowledge and
thank the full RCYO team. It is this small but
mighty team that carries out the work we
discussed today.

I have been very fortunate over the last five
years to be surrounded by a group of
advocacy professionals who bring passion
and dedication to their work on a daily basis,
who want to see a better and brighter future
for young Nunavummiut and believe it is
possible. I have been very fortunate to be
surrounded by such good humans.

It has been a privilege professionally and
personally to work shoulder to shoulder with
Lynn, David, Lori Kannak, Kim Foster,
Christa Kunuk, Sharon Reashore, Jeff
Kheraj, Nancy Pellerin, and Katie Didham
over the last five years and I will miss each
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of them dearly when I depart in June.

Lastly, the well-being of children and youth
is an important responsibility. It is a
responsibility that does not belong to just one
group; rather it is a responsibility that we all
share as parents, communities, and
government.

A wise man once said, “There can be no
keener revelation of a society’s soul than the
way in which it treats its children.” In parting
today, I encourage everyone to reflect on Mr.
Mandela’s words and carefully consider how
each one of us can do better to contribute to a
society that places the highest of value on
young people and their well-being.

It is imperative that we rise to this challenge
because the future of young Nunavummiut
depends on us and before we know it, our
future and the future of this beautiful territory
will depend on them. Thank you.

>>Applause

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you, Ms.
McNeil-Mulak. On behalf of the Committee,
in light that we know that you will be
moving on from your role, thank you for all
your hard work. You are leaving behind an
office that is now set up and is now
functioning. I think that’s something that
bodes well for future activities of the office.

To all the departmental representatives, thank
you very much. (interpretation) Thank you
very much for being here today and
answering our questions.

The Standing Committee will be meeting
again tomorrow at nine o’clock in the
morning. (interpretation ends) We will
continue our televised hearings tomorrow
with the Information and Privacy
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Commissioner of Nunavut at 9:00 a.m. blMPa. 9-1%<E D¢ bd<,

(interpretation) Thank you. The meeting is . .
adjourned. (ONANJPEEeI®) 'a. DPdd>% bNLo e,

>>Committee adjourned at 17:52 2> 0®b®IC 17:52
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